## Journal of Educational Planning and Administration

Volume XVII

Number 4

October 2003



National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration 17-B, Sri Aurobindo Marg New Delhi 110016

#### ISSN 0971-3859

#### © NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATIONAL PLANNING AND ADMINISTRATION, 2003

	Within India	Outside India
Individuals	Rs. 120	US \$ 50
Institutions	Rs. 250	US\$ 75
		(Airmailextra
		US\$ 10)
	Single Issue	
Individuals	Rs. 40	US\$ 15
Institutions	Rs. 75	U S \$ 2 0
Annual Subscrip	tion commences with Janu	ary and ends with October
every year.		
Α	dvertisement Tariff (For	r one issue)
Full Page	Rs. 2000	US\$ 100
Half Page	Rs. 1100	US \$ 55
Bank draft may	be sent to the Director, I	NIEPA in the name of the
National Institute	of Educational Planning	and Administration payable
at New Delhi		

Annual Subscription (w.e.f. January 2004)								
	Within India	Outside India						
Individuals	Rs. 150	US \$ 60 (By Airmail)						
Institutions	Rs. 350	US \$ 85 (By Airmail)						

Published by the Registrar, National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration, 17-B, Sri Aurobindo Marg, New Delhi - 110016 and printed by the Publication Unit, NIEPA at M/s. Prabhat Offset Press, 2622, Kucha Chellan, Darya Ganj.New Delhi - 110002.

#### JOURNAL OF EDUCATIONAL PLANNING AND ADMINISTRATION Vol. XVII No. 4 (October 2003)

#### CONTENTS

CONTENTS	
ARTICLES	Page No
Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education in Tamil Nadu P. Duraisamy and Malathy Duraisamy	449
Decentralisation Reforms and Public Schools: A Human Development Perspective Manabi Majumdar	481
Universalisation of Secondary Education: Can it be achieved in the Near Future? Arun C. Mehta	507
Reflections on the Multiplicity of Functional Goals for Chinese Universities and the Challenges for University Management	529
David Y. Chen	
BOOK REVIEWS (See Overleaf)	541
BOOKS RECEIVED	
CONTENTS OF VOLUME XVII	

#### BOOK REVIEWS

Adult Literacy Programmes in Uganda (The World Bank) B.K. Panda

Hidden Challenges to Education Systems in Transition Economies (Sue E. Berryman) Indu Khetrapal

Constructing School Knowledge: An Ethnography of Learning an Indian Village (Padma M. Sarangapani) *Ratheesh Kumar* 

Childhood Socialisation: Comparative Studies of Parenting, Learning and Education Change (Robert A. LeVine) *R.P. Singh* 

Teaching Learning: The Culture of Pedagogy (Prema Clarke) Suman Karandikar

Panchayat Raj in India: Emerging Trends Across the States (R.P. Joshi and G.S. Narwani) S.M.I.A. Zaidi

Seeking Quality Education for All - Experiences from District Primary Education Programmes (Rohit Dhankar and Brigid Smith) Mohd. Muzammil

Education Studies: Essential Issues (Steve Bartlett and Diana Burton, eds.) *N. Jayaram* 

A Whole-school Approach - Behaviour Management (Bill Rogres) N. Panchanatham

Visions of Development: A Study of Human Values (David Alexander Clark) Jandhyala B. G. Tilak Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4, October 2003, pp. 449-480

## Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education in Tamil Nadu<sup>#</sup>

P. Duraisamy\* Malathy Duraisamy

#### Abstract

An assessment of the financing of education calls for a study of the resources flowing into the sector from a multiplicity of sources, national or internal, government (centre, state and local), non-governmental bodies, households, community and international or external sources. Such a study, while desirable, is fraught with difficulties due to constraints of exhaustive, consistent and comparable data. This study is restricted to an analysis of government's revenue expenditure and grants-in-aid for education in the State of Tamil Nadu, a state with an impressive track record of progress in education. Such an exercise would provide us an understanding of how the pattern of financing, particularly revenue expenditure and grants-in-aid, have changed over a period of time, to be useful for framing suitable financing policies for education in the state.

#### Introduction

It is now well recognized that education is a form of investment in human capital that yields several benefits to the individual as well as to the society. The returns to education may take the form of enhanced productivity and earnings as well as non-monetary benefits such as reduction in family size, improvement in health status etc. The benefits of education accrue both in the present as well as in the future. There is a large body of empirical literature from several countries including India that provide evidence on the many market and non-market benefits of education (see Psacharapoulos 1994, Duraisamy 1988, Schultz 1988). Thus, educational investment either by individual or government is considered to be productive and it is for these reasons that education has been accorded high priority everywhere.

<sup>&</sup>quot; This study has been commissioned by the National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration, New Delhi. The authors wish to thank Professor Jandhyala B.G. Tilak for his encouragement and suggestions. We also acknowledge the assistance of Dr. T P Subramanian and Mr K Radhakrishnan in compiling the data for this study.

<sup>\*</sup> Department of Econometrics, University of Madras, Chennai 600 005, E-mail: <u>pduraisamy@hotmail.com</u> " Department of Humanities and Social Sciences, Indian Institute of Technology, Madras. Chennai 600 036, E-mail: <u>mdurai@vsnl.com</u>

#### 450 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education

In the past few decades, there has been a tremendous expansion in education in India. The rise in enrolment rates, number of schools, teachers etc. is a testimony to this growth. Government expenditure on education has also increased to cope with the demands of this large educational system. Though education is considered to be the responsibility of government, the educational sector does claim a sizeable share of the public budget. Recently, there has been a growing fear that the economic reforms and the measures for stabilization and structural adjustments undertaken by India would lead to reduction in public spending and change the pattern of educational financing. The emergence and growth of private sector education is also seen as a means to reducing the financial burden on the government by shifting the spending from the government to the households. The present scenario in education is one in which the demand for education is growing at a time when the government is faced with severe budgetary crunch and intense competition for its scare resources from several sectors. There is also a pressure on the system to improve the quality of education provided. In this context, it is appropriate and pertinent to examine some aspects of educational financing. This would tell us how much is being spent on education and would be useful to set priorities and devise suitable financing strategies. For future developments and policies for this sector, there is a need to understand the past and the current trend in educational financing.

Education is in the concurrent list in accordance with the 42<sup>nd</sup> amendment to the Constitution of India in 1976 with the respective state governments being largely responsible for it. A study of grants-in-aid to education would be more useful when considered from the perspective of a state not only since it is mainly a state's responsibility but also because each state has its own distinctive pattern of school education and the grant-in-aid system can vary considerably across the states. Further, the state's expenditure and budgetary allocations reflect and affirm its commitment and policies towards achieving greater heights in education.

Grant-in-aid refers to a scheme of resource transfer from the government (centre to states and states to local bodies or private agencies) for financing educational development and maintenance of institutions. Grant-in-aid takes several forms such as general or specific grants, proportional or matching or full grant deficit, salary or capitation grants The rules regarding grant-in-aid may be framed to generate contributions from private persons and to decide on the quantum of grants on the basis of a school's student strength (enrolment)/efficiency. The list of items for which grants are given include salaries and allowances of teachers, contingency and establishment expenses, scholarships, PF contributions of staff, fee compensation, and other such expenditures as are required for normal and effective functioning of the school. The grant-in-aid can be increased or decreased by the State by altering the list of approved items against which grants are provided

The educational sector in Tamil Nadu comprises several layers of education - primary, secondary, diploma, and higher education consisting of general and professional education (See Figure 1).

#### Figure 1: Structure of Secondary Education in Tamil Nadu

Kindergarten (2 years) Elementary Education: Primary (5 years) Middle (3 years)

Secondary Education (2 years)

Apprenticeship -ITI (1-3 years) Higher Secondary (2 years) General Vocational

There is now near unanimity that the state should provide full and free elementary (lower primary and upper primary classes 1-8) education considering that it is a constitutional obligation and also the social returns to this level of education far outweigh the private returns. There is, however, considerable debate over public financing of the other levels of education. This study focuses on public financing and grants-in-aid to secondary education in Tamil Nadu. This includes secondary and higher secondary stages. The following highlight the significance of secondary education. It is frequently held that the failure to attain universal primary education is partly due to the deficiencies in secondary education. Moreover, according to the Planning Commission, "Secondary schools supply teachers for elementary schools and students for higher institutions. The quality of secondary education is, therefore, decisive in determining standards at other

#### 452 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aidfor Secondary Education

stages of education. A good system of secondary education, which prepares the way for opening in many different directions, is essential to sound economic development" (Muzzammil, 1989). Secondary education is a terminal point to several students and it also constitutes a critical stage for those aspiring to enter into higher education. Secondary education also provides the teaching inputs to the educational sector as students who complete secondary schooling can undergo teacher's training and become eligible to be elementary school teachers. Further, it is feared that the government's mounting budget deficits and spending cuts imposed by austerity measures would have a disproportionately large effect on upper primary and secondary education (Tilak 1995). For these reasons, a study of the pattern of expenditure and grants-in-aid to secondary education merits attention.

The information on secondary education expenditure in Tamil Nadu is used to obtain estimates of per student public expenditure at this level. The average expenditure (more appropriately unit cost) indicates the costliness of education and differences over a period of time within a state in its educational achievements could be in part due to differences in the way education is provided and due to policies that specifically affect cost of education. The costliness of education particularly at the levels beyond free and compulsory elementary education is indeed an issue of concern for many governments because of the difficulties experienced by them in financing of educational development.

The issues related to financing and cost of education in the country are rather well documented (see Misra 1967; Panchamukhi 1989; Tilak 1987, 1993, 1995). These studies consider the national and state share of budgetary allocations to various levels of education. The Ministry of Human Resource Development, Government of India (GOI) initiated studies on State Finances on Education which were taken up by seven DPEP-I states and the findings are synthesized (see GOI, 1997). The report focuses on trends in state education expenditure with emphasis on elementary education. Duraisamy (2000) and Duraisamy and Duraisamy (2000) address financing of technical education in Tamil Nadu and financing of higher education in India respectively. Most of the studies cited ahead do not emphasise much the grants-in-aid to education, especially secondary education. Moreover, it is important to study educational financing from the perspective of particular states. An examination of state government's budgetary expenditure on education will provide insights into the detailed fund flows and grants-in-aid. Muzzammil (1989) analysed the financing of education in Uttar Pradesh.

In this study, the financing and grants-in-aid for secondary education in Tamil Nadu are analysed. An earlier work by Duraisamy *et.* a/.(1998) examined the quality-quantity trade off in secondary education in Tamil Nadu. Another study by Duraisamy and Subramanian (2000) examined financing, cost and student achievement in secondary education in Chennai using primary data from secondary schools. However, these studies do not consider the grants-in-aid to secondary education.

The specific objectives of this study ?re:

- 1. To document the structure and growth of secondary education in Tamil Nadu;
- 2. To analyse the trends and growth in educational expenditure, the intra-sectoral allocation of revenue expenditure on education and to examine the relationship between educational expenditure, State Domestic Product and total revenue expenditure;
- 3. To examine the changes in plan and non-plan expenditure on secondary education at current and constant prices;
- 4. To assess the levels and trends in nominal and real revenue expenditures on secondary education focusing on grants-in-aid;
- 5. To estimate expenditure and grants-in-aid per secondary school student at current ad constant prices; and
- 6. To investigate how these have changed over the period of time.

The analysis is confined to the period 1980/1 to 2001/2. A landmark year in secondary education scenario in the state is 1978/9 when the state introduced the 10+2 (10 years + a 2 year higher secondary course in schools) pattern in line with the suggestions of the Kothari Education Commission. We consider the period from 1980/1, which coincides with the commencement of the sixth plan period. Further, the real fund flows are estimated using 1980/1 as the base year. The period under review covers the sixth through the ninth plan periods.

The report is organized as follows. The structure of education varies from state to state. Section II presents the structure and growth of secondary education in Tamil Nadu highlighting the distinctive aspects that have a bearing on the funding pattern. Section III gives an overview of the pattern and government policies relating to financing of secondary education in the state highlighting the nature and form of funding to different types of secondary schools in the state. Section IV discusses the trends in educational expenditure and its relationship to SDP, the plan and non-plan components of expenditure, the grant-in-aid to secondary education and the per student expenditure and grants-in-aid. Section V presents the summary and conclusions. The lessons arising out of the prevailing state outlays and allocations to secondary education and the implications for sustainability and future financing policies of the state are also discussed.

#### Structure and Growth of Secondary Education in Tamil Nadu

At the time of independence, the educational pattern varied markedly across the country and in order to have a uniform system of school education in India the Government of India constituted the Secondary Education Commission (1952-53) headed by Dr. A.L. Lakshmanaswami Mudaliar. The Commission's mandate was to suggest measures to revamp the school education system in India. It suggested 11 years of school education consisting of primary stage (I-V grades), middle level (VI-VIII grades) and secondary level (IX-XI grades) followed by one year of Pre-University Course (PUC) before entry

#### 454 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education

into undergraduate courses in professional, arts and science subjects. Accordingly, the educational system was changed to 11+1+3 (i.e. 11 years school education followed by one-year PUC and 3 years in undergraduate programmes in arts and science). However, the duration of undergraduate professional courses such as engineering and medicine varied between 5 to 5-1/2 years respectively.

The Government of India appointed the Kothari Commission (1964-66), to offer ways and means to improve the educational system in India, suggested the 10+2+3 pattern, that is, 10 years upto secondary stage followed by 2 years of higher secondary education and 3 years of undergraduate courses in arts and science. Accordingly, the Tamil Nadu Government introduced the new pattern of education from the academic year 1978-79 and this has been followed in the state over the years to date.

The structure of school education at the secondary and higher secondary levels in Tamil Nadu is shown in Figures 2 and 3 respectively. Schools in the state are broadly classified into two grounds, that is, schools under the State Government control and schools under Central Government control. There are three streams or curricula in. secondary education in the state controlled/regulated schools (Figure 2) namely, State Board, Anglo-Indian and Matriculation schools. The schools run by the government, local bodies (Municipal, Corporation and Panchayat) and the schools aided by the government but under private management and some private unaided schools follow the state board curriculum. In these schools, the instruction is in Tamil; and English may be offered as a subject. In some schools, there are separate sections that deliver instruction in English.

The category of schools known as Anglo-Indian schools follows a separate curriculum. The third category namely, matriculation schools were under the University of Madras till 1976 and have since been controlled by the state education directorate. The Anglo-Indian and Matriculation schools provide English medium education and generally attract the elite students. These schools are complete schools in the sense that they provide education from the kindergarten to the secondary/higher secondary levels.

The schools run by the Central Government known as Kendriya Vidyalayas (KV) and some private self-financing schools adopt the CBSE curriculum. These schools also render education from primary to secondary/senior secondary levels (Grades I to 10/12).

At the higher secondary level, the three streams namely the State Board, Anglo-Indian and Matriculation, converge to a single state board system (Figure 2). The CBSE provides an alternative curriculum at the higher secondary level. The state-run and aided schools give instruction mainly in Tamil, while in all other schools instruction is in English.

The development and progress of secondary education is assessed using indicators such as number of secondary and higher secondary institutions and enrolment in them. The data for the purpose have been drawn from the published handbooks and unpublished records of the Directorate of School Education, Department of Education, Government of Tamil Nadu.





Figure 3: Higher Secondary Education in Tamil Nadu By Curricula



#### 456 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education

Tables 1 and 2 show the trend and growth of secondary and higher secondary schools in the state from 1980/1 to 2001/2. The interesting finding that emerges from the Tables is that in the beginning a large number of schools were state government and government aided schools and these together still outnumber the unaided and matriculation schools taken together. The number of government schools increased from 1486 in 1980/1 to 1981 in 2001/2, which represents an increase of 33 percentage points. A large part of this increase occurred in the period from 1980/1 to 1989/90 (24%). The share of government schools to all schools in the state declined from about 72 % in 1980/1 to 40% in 2001/2. The number of municipal and corporation schools has gone up by 50% over the period. The number of aided institutions recorded an overall increase of 62% over the period.'

There is a phenomenal increase in the demand for English medium high quality education in the state as revealed by rise in the number of matriculation schools by about 20 times during the 1980s and 3 times in the 1990s. The number of matriculation schools increased from 29 in 1980/81 to 606 in 1989/90 and to 1910 in 2001/2. The share of matriculation schools has jumped from a mere 3% in 1980/1 to 39% in the recent years. There are very few Anglo-Indian schools in the state in the current year; and the number of these schools declined from 17 in 1980/1 to 12 in 2001/2. The share of schools under the CBSE system too declined from 3 % to 1 % of all schools in the state in the current year. A more or less similar pattern and trend is observed for the higher secondary schools in the state (Table 2).

Tables 3 and 4 document the trend in enrolment in high and higher secondary schools. The state government schools which account for 40% of all schools in the state absorb about 62 % of enrolment in high schools. The enrolment in corporation and private aided schools shot up by 28% and 75% respectively during the period under review. The dramatic increase in enrolment rate occurred in the unaided state board and matriculation schools. The enrolment in the Anglo-Indian schools marginally declined.

As our study focuses on the financing of government schools in the state and grantsin-aid to secondary schools, growth rates are computed for enrolment in these categories of schools. The growth rates are computed from the parameter estimates of the time trend variable, obtained by regressing enrolment on time (year). The estimated rates indicate that enrolment in government, municipal/corporation and aided high schools recorded a growth rate of 3.8, 2.4 and 2.3 per cent respectively during 1980/1 to 2001/2.

In the case of enrolment in higher secondary schools, the percentage enrolled in government schools increased from 38% of all enrolment in the starting year to 44 % in the terminal year (Table 4) and there has been a 4.7% growth in government school enrolment over the period. During the same period, the enrolment in the municipal/ corporation schools recorded a growth rate of 2.1%. The share of enrolment in the private aided state board higher secondary schools was of the order of 38% in 2001/2 and the growth rate of enrolment in the aided schools was 2.8%. The private unaided schools

<sup>1</sup> A surprising feature is the marked increase in the number of aided institutions particularly in the recent years. Discussions with the officials at the State Directorate of School Education reveals that the schools enumerated here are not new schools but old ones that have been up-graded as secondary schools.

TABLE 1Growth of Secondary Schools in Tamil Nadu By Management and Curriculum, 1980/1-2001/2

Year	Govt	State	Board Sci	hools	Total	Matriculation	Anglo Indian	Central	Total	Grand Total
		Mpl/Corp	Aided	Unaided						
1980-81	1486	12	399	1	1958	29	17	65	111	2069
1981-82	1547	69	398	7	2021	50	18	79	147	2168
1982-83	1590	71	397	13	2071	78	18	93	189	2260
1983-84	1621	72	441	7	2141	93	18	99	210	2351
1984-85	1686	73	465	5	2229	144	14	89	247	2476
1985-86	1723	80	450	5	2258	212	13	86	311	2569
1986-87	1765	80	445	2	2292	289	11	96	396	2688
1987-88	1762	80	450	2	2294	406	13	106	525	2819
1988-89	1795	80	416	2	2293	515	13	101	629	2922
1989-90	1839	78	387	23	2327	606	12	89	707	3034
1990-91	1864	83	370	44	2361	684	13	93	790	3151
1991-92	1872	83	352	66	2373	684	13	93	790	3163
1992-93	1883	83	346	84	2396	709	13	85	807	3203
1993-94	1889	83	346	94	2412	759	13	86	858	3270
1994-95	1902	83	332	121	2438	806	13	83	902	3340
1995-96	1915	87	304	139	2445	885	12	75	972	3417
1996-97	1932	88	304	140	2464	1032	12	66	1110	3574
1997-98	1917	94	294	144	2449	1245	12	59	1316	3765
1998-99	1986	94	626	96	2802	1335	12	59	1406	4208
1999-2000	2006	103	626	104	2839	1641	12	59	1712	4551
2000-2001	2002	112	610	135	2859	1564	12	65	1641	4500
2001-2002	1981	108	646	179	2914	1910	12	67	1989	4903

Source: Directorate of School Education.

Year Govt		State Board Schools		Total	otal Matriculation	Anglo Indian	Centra/	Centra/ Total	Grand Total	
		Mpl/Corp	Aided	Unaided	_					
1980-81	572	57	542	0	1171	31	26	57	114	1285
1981-82	653	60	574	0	1287	36	26	57	119	1406
1982-83	654	60	576	0	1290	41	26	57	124	1414
1983-84	654	60	576	2	1292	52	26	57	135	1427
1984-85	686	60	584	1	1331	59	27	57	143	1474
1985-86	690	62	627	1	1380	79	28	67	174	1554
1986-87	755	62	651	1	1469	100	30	79	209	1678
1987-88	765	62	653	1	1481	121	29	79	229	1710
1988-89	769	62	676	19	1526	155	29	77	261	1787
1989-90	809	68	677	53	1607	192	28	87	307	1914
1990-91	848	68	674	70	1660	276	28	81	385	2045
1991-92	869	68	674	88	1699	276	28	81	385	2084
1992-93	879	68	674	94	1715	338	28	84	450	2165
1993-94	891	68	674	98	1731	373	28	89	490	2221
1994-95	903	68	674	112	1757	440	28	93	561	2318
1995-96	932	69	674	140	1815	540	29	106	675	2490
1996-97	1012	70	674	155	1911	668	29	126	823	2734
1997-98	1087	75	674	183	2019	792	29	135	956	2975
1998-99	1157	78	869	29	2133	852	29	B 5	1016	3149
1999-2000	1206	80	884	46	2216	912	29	135	1076	3292
2000-2001	1258	81	909	68	2316	959	29	135	1123	3439
2001-2002	1374	90	909	74	2447	997	29	135	1161	3608

TABLE 2Growth of Higher Secondary Schools in Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2

Source: Directorate of School Education.

TABLE 3Enrolment in High Schools By School Management in Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2

Year			State Board	Matriculation	Anglo-India	CBSE	Grand Total		
	Govt.	Mpl /Corp.	Private Aided	Private Unaided	Total	-			
1980-81	473379	36436	193897	407	704119	12831	11615	30337	758902
1981-82	484375	38363	199520	830	723088	23040	11124	37317	794569
1982-83	522971	39099	197092	3321	762483	24357	12293	38875	838008
1983-84	602738	42303	250522	963	896526	39772	12712	49649	998659
1984-85	655829	41904	253763	1121	952617	65858	10819	50460	1079754
1985-86	682802	45192	280440	1506	1009940	75105	11324	40967	1137336
1986-87	746704	46354	278866	1651	1073575	76141	9966	38491	1198173
1987-88	767666	52772	318993	1794	1141225	90799	9548	49908	1291480
1988-89	811250	54472	361839	1841	1229402	104944	10611	48580	1393537
1989-90	854833	54109	387953	11143	1308038	127913	10892	48331	1495174
1990-91	911348	62701	351715	16248	1342012	168920	11048	53242	1575222
1991-92	973280	64844	326122	43193	1407439	179240	11907	49981	1648567
1992-93	1040346	68492	320942	52697	1482477	196001	12948	46061	1737487
1993-94	991113	72654	350297	57168	1471232	257796	13464	45664	1788156
1994-95	1074851	77106	345784	78964	1576705	271205	14033	46163	1908106
1995-96	1113752	78993	331828	89367	1613940	337050	13309	48138	2012437
1996-97	1141026	80972	340934	91555	1654487	351841	13374	48136	2067838
1997-98	1128451	80097	337279	90559	1636386	226108	13910	49015	1925419
1998-99	879479	64204	314213	234441	1492337	478527	11189	49804	2031857
1999-2000	923868	42813	319797	71063	1357541	436869	10235	51020	1855665
2000-2001	963629	49583	336548	30632	1380392	455849	10271	39975	1886487
2001-2002	978461	46605	339244	32059	1396369	149894	10414	30759	1587436

Source: Directorate of Secondary Education.

TABLE 4Enrolment in Higher Secondary Schools By School Management in Tamil Nadn, 1980/1-2001/2

Year			State Board	d		Matriculation	Anglo-Indian	CBSE	Grand Total
	Govt.	Mpl/Corp.	Private Aided	Private Unaided	Total	-			
1980-81	553833	86067	698435	399	1338734	27542	25768	65273	1457317
1981-82	625368	89543	729139	601	1444651	31219	26300	65517	1567687
1982-83	652820	90465	731097	1135	1475517	36739	28264	65670	1606190
1983-84	659048	91602	745229	997	1496876	50356	30218	66070	1643520
1984-85	709855	94772	764675	1204	1570506	68517	32430	73614	1745067
1985-86	745924	114442	793057	795	1654218	53506	34994	76941	1819659
1986-87	815603	121774	833933	1115	1772425	90807	36450	86100	1995782
1987-88	857081	124437	870732	739	1852989	104871	36766	92278	2086884
1988-89	953043	134207	896667	11005	1994922	107153	36960	87897	2226932
1989-90	986630	152856	914376	27121	2080983	117254	37097	92915	2328249
1990-91	1013211	167642	932389	36870	2150112	131886	37519	94796	2414313
1991-92	1069193	170013	956608	48200	2244014	145411	38634	88231	2516290
1992-93	1144217	171422	967155	60531	2343325	169619	43429	91128	2647501
1993-94	1106472	185283	1000736	66155	2358646	137686	43539	96678	2636549
1994-95	1191341	193536	1028350	82780	2496007	247277	43849	97768	2884901
1995-96	1233872	193932	1037863	101575	2567242	330685	44212	110164	3052303
1996-97	1276876	200686	1074010	105113	2656685	345836	46040	115192	3163753
1997-98	1324146	208259	1114704	109083	2756192	397936	46970	118712	3319810
1998-99	1272105	83035	1197539	91965	2644644	528778	46719	143356	3363500
1999-2000	1416047	130522	1110242	24658	2681469	423308	45005	171847	3321629
2000-2001	1422532	88264	1212171	40311	2763278	466477	42432	106480	3378667
2001-2002	1509743	119407	1298688	45186	2973024	330562	43562	101846	3448994

Source: Directorate of Secondary Education.

accounted for about 11% of all enrolments. Overall, in the high and higher secondary schools put together the growth rate of enrolment recorded 4.2, 2.3 and 2.9 per cent respectively in the government, municipal/corporation and aided schools.

The above discussion points to the remarkable progress in secondary education in Tamil Nadu as reflected in the growth of schools and enrolments therein. This has implications for the state government financing and grant-in-aid to schools.

#### Government Policies and Pattern of Financing of Secondary Education in Tamil Nadu

The structure and pattern of budgetary resource allocation to secondary education is discussed below. We have relied almost exclusively on macro data obtained from government budget documents. The budget expenditures on education come from the Detailed Demand for Grant (Demand No. 17) of the Tamil Nadu state budget. These data refer to expenditures and not costs and only revenue expenditures have been considered. A close scrutiny of the data shows that the budgetary classification of expenditures has been changing over the years. In the recent years, the state budget for education includes expenditure on general education, technical education and others such as sports and youth services, art and culture, welfare of SC/ST and Backward classes, social security and welfare, public works etc. Expenditure on technical education formed part of the general education till 1986/7 but became a distinct category thereafter. The expenditure on general education, language development and a general category. The secondary education budget consists of spending on secondary and higher secondary schools.<sup>2</sup>

The expenditure and grant-in-aid for secondary/higher secondary education show that in respect of state government schools, all the expenditure such as salaries and benefits (pensions, provident fund) of teaching and non-teaching staff, maintenance, provision of buildings and infrastructure are entirely borne by the government. The teachers are recruited for these schools by the government through the Teacher Recruitment Board (TRB). These schools do not levy tuition fee. However, the schools are permitted to collect amenity fees from the students to meet some recurring expenditures on stationery, consumables, etc. They also collect contributions to Parent Teacher Association which are used for hiring temporary teachers and improving infrastructure facilities in the schools. Recently, the government has permitted the schools to receive donations in cash/kind from the general public. "School Improvement Conferences" are held once in a year to mobilize local funds for public schools. The government also encourages the local community to be "School Patron" by donating Rs. 1000 or more. The donations thus raised provide for hiring substitute teachers for replacing long term absence of a permanent teacher and also for improving infrastructure facilities.

<sup>-</sup> Although the budget documents refer to secondary education, the expenditure is on the secondary and higher secondary schools, which are likely to include middle level schooling (classes VI-VIII). In one of the districts, namely Kanyakumari, most of the high schools and higher secondary schools are complete schools with classes from I-XII.

#### 462 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education

The other category of secondary schools run by local bodies like municipality and corporations used to receive 'residuary' grant from the state government. Due to the financial difficulties faced by the local bodies, the State government has also taken over the responsibility of meeting the expenditure towards salaries of the teachers in these schools since 1990/1. The local bodies provide financial assistance for maintenance, besides being solely responsible for construction of buildings and other infrastructure development.

In order to encourage participation of the private sector in education, the government since independence facilitated the entry of the private schools by allocating resources in the form of grant-in-aid. This group of schools is known as private aided schools. The rules and regulations regarding grants vary between minority and non-minority private schools. The type of grant given includes salary grant to defray the salaries of teaching and non-teaching staff maintenance grant and matching building grant. The salary grant depends upon student enrolment and the number of teaching positions is determined by the teacher-pupil ratio of 1:40.3 The schools were also given salary grant to meet a minimum number (four) of non-teaching positions such as junior assistant, record clerk, office assistant and a watchman. These schools also received maintenance grant, which was 15% of the salary grant before mid-seventies and is currently reduced to about 5 %. Earlier, 50% matching building grant was also given to these schools. The grant-in-aid is provided for schools that are upgraded or were established prior to 1990/1. The rules relating to teacher recruitment in the minority and non-minority schools are different. The minority institutions can recruit any candidate for the teaching posts whereas the non-minority institutions have to go through the employment exchanges and also strictly adhere to reservation policies of the state government. The teaching posts are transferable between the private aided schools as and when there is a drop in the student enrolment. The private aided schools are not permitted to charge tuition fees.

Another category of schools that receives grant-in-aid from the government is the Anglo-Indian schools. These schools charge tuition fees from non-Anglo-Jndian students and give tuition fee concession to Anglo-Indian students. They are given deficit grant by the state government to meet the gap between their expenditure and revenue. However, this grant is a very meagre amount.<sup>4</sup>

#### Revenue Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid to Secondary Education

Before we take up the analysis on the revenue expenditure to secondary education, a brief discussion on the budget allocations to the education sector and within the education sector is present.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For the new high schools, one teacher each for social science, science and mathematics and a Tamil Pandit are granted. For subsequent teaching positions the ratio of 1:40 is applied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As the grants-in-aid to Anglo-Indian schools are meagre, these are not taken for this study.

#### A. Expenditure on Education, Total Revenue Expenditure and Gross State Domestic Product

The state government's response to the growing demand for education is first examined by considering growth in the general educational expenditure (which includes secondary education) and its share in total revenue expenditure of the state and the gross State Domestic Product (SDP). Table 5 provides the details. It also reports the growth rate and average percentage share of revenue expenditure and to SDP. The budgetary allocation to general education has gone up from Rs. 219 crores in 1980/1 to Rs. 4686 crores in 2001/2, which is about 21 times increase in a little over two decades. It would be important to examine the decadal trends. While expenditure for the whole period shows a 16% growth rate, there is decline in general education expenditure growth from 17.6% in the decade 1980/90 to 14.1% during 1991/2002. The share of expenditure on general education to total revenue expenditure remained more or less stable with a mean value of 19.3% during the period. The percentage shares for the 80's and the 90's show a small decline from 19.7% (1980/90) to 18.9 % (1991/2002).

It is important to see how the expenditure on education is related to SDP. The share of educational expenditure in SDP is usually taken to be an indicator of the State's priority to education. The average percentage share of educational expenditure to SDP remained constant at about 3.5 % of SDP. During this period, the SDP registered a growth rate of 16% and this matches with-the growth rate of expenditure on general education.

It would be interesting to estimate the effect of the state's total revenue expenditure and gross SDP on the expenditure on general education. According to Wagner's Law, public expenditure is functionally related to economic growth captured by SDP. Table 6 contains the estimates of the regression of the logarithm of general education expenditure on the logarithm of total revenue expenditure (Model I) and Logarithm of SDP (Model II). The coefficients of total revenue expenditure and SDP have a positive and statistically significant effect (at 1% level) on expenditure on education. They measure the total expenditure and income (SDP) elasticity and are very close to but less than one and may be interpreted as relatively inelastic, implying that expenditure on education is not very responsive to changes in the total revenue expenditure and the SDP.

It is important to examine the resource allocation to secondary education from an intra-sectoral perspective that is allocation to different levels of education.

464 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-A id for Secondary Education

#### TABLE 5 Expenditure on General Education and its Share in Total Revenue Expenditure and Gross State Domestic Product, Tamil Nadu, 1980-2002

Year	Education Expenditure	% to Total Revenue	% to SDP
	(Rs. in Crores)	Expenditure	
1980-81	219	19.05	3.04
1981-82	247	18.14	2.84
1982-83	312	19.77	3.53
1983-84	358	18.76	3.51
1984-85	420	18.98	3.49
1985-86	530	21.63	3.87
1986-87	575	20.72	3.76
1987-88	651	19.29	3.58
1988-89	742	19.72	3.63
1989-90	1003	21.20	4.19
1990-91	1219	21.60	4.41
1991-92	1387	15.99	4.26
1992-93	1482	17.35	3.91
1993-94	1647	18.81	3.19
1994-95	1800	18.68	2.93.
1995-96	2049	18.78	<b>2.9</b> f
1996-97	2387	18.27	2.98
1997-98	2732	18.28	2.94
1998-99	3656	20.66	3.42
1999-00	4120	19.88	3.50
2000-01	4372	19.59	3.32
<b>2001-02</b> R	4686	19.11	NA
	Growth Rate (%)	Average	Average
1980-90	17.6	19.73	3.50
1991-2002	14.1	18.92	3.40
1980-2002	16.0	19.28	3.50

Source: Budget Documents (Various years), Government of Tamil Nadu

Note: NA - Not available.

#### TABLE 6

Regression Estimates of the Relationship between Expenditure on Education, Total Revenue Expenditure and Gross State Domestic Product, Tamil Nadu, 1980-2002

<u>Dependant Variable: Log</u>	g(Expenditure on	General Education)
Explanatory Variables	Model 1	Model 2
Constant	-10.685	-12.015
Log(Revenue Expenditure)	0.990*	-
	(60.94)	
Log(SDP)	-	0.971*
		(31.24)
Adj. R-square	0.994	0.980
F-ratio	3717	975
<b>Durbin-Watson Statistics</b>	1.555	0.512
Ν	22	22
Note: V values in parentheses		

Note: V values in parentnese

#### \* Significant at 1 % level.

#### B. Intra-Sectoral Resource Allocation to Education

Table 7 lays out the share of different levels of education to total expenditure on general education. A striking observation that emerges is that the proportion of expenditure incurred on various levels of education remained almost constant over the years. The Table clearly establishes that primary education has been accorded the highest priority. This sector claimed around 49.5% of the budget on general education during the period under consideration. The decadal trends show a small reduction in the share of expenditure on primary education from 50.2% in the 1980s to about 49% during **1991**/2002. The decline by 4.8 percentage points in the years 1989/90 to 2001/2 could be due to fall in fertility rates in the state and consequent decline in the population of primary age group of children.

On an average secondary education has been receiving over a third of the revenue expenditure on general education. The percentage share of expenditure on secondary education increased from 27.9% in 1980/1 to 37.7% in the terminal year of the study, which constitutes an increase of 10% over the period. The average percentage share amounts to 34.6% for the whole period. Interestingly the share of secondary education increased from 30.9% in the 1980s to 37.6% since 1991. The share of expenditure on higher education increased by about 11% during the period. The average share of others' category is 5% during 1980/2002 but the disaggregated time trend shows a decline in the mean percentage share from 7.8% in the 1980s to 2.9% in the last decade.

Thus, the intra-sectoral analysis of educational budget of the state reveals that while there has been a decline in the percentage share of expenditure on primary, higher and other levels of education in the last decade compared to the 1980s, the share of secondary education witnessed an increase of 8% during 1991/2002 over the previous decade (1980/90).

466 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aidfor Secondary Education

Year	Primary	Secondary	Higher	Others	Total
1980-81	50.49	27.92	10.63	10.96	100.00
1981-82	47.63	30.76	10.58	11.03	100.00
1982-83	50.67	28.56	10.97	9.81	100.00
1983-84	49.86	28.30	10.29	11.55	100.00
1984-85	51.02	28.59	10.53	9.86	100.00
1985-86	52.62	27.40	9.91	10.06	100.00
1986-87	51.46	28.12	10.20	10.22	100.00
1987-88	51.59	37.00	9.85	1.57	100.00
1988-89	50.37	37.34	10.39	1.90	100.00
1989-90	46.42	35.31	16.93	1.35	100.00
1990-91	51.20	36.74	10.76	1.31	100.00
1991-92	52.99	35.39	9.49	2.12	100.00
1992-93	49.37	37.36	10.17	3.09	100.00
1993-94	49.10	37.24	10.41	3.24	100.00
1994-95	49.28	37.78	10.26	2.68	100.00
1995-96	48.66	38.27	10.01	3.06	100.00
1996-97	48.54	38.03	9.76	3.67	100.00
1997-98	49.45	38.08	10.16	2.31	100.00
1998-99	50.08	38.89	7.68	3.35	100.00
1999-00	47.75	38.58	11.63	2.05	100.00
2000-01	45.68	37.19	13.02	4.11	100.00
2001-02R	45.30	37.70	13.00	4.00	100.00
	Average				
1980-90	50.21	30.93	11.03	7.83	100.00
1991-02	48.95	37.60	10.53	2.92	100.00
1980-02	49.52	34.57	10.76	5.15	100.00

TABLE 7Distribution of Revenue Expenditure by Educational Level in<br/>Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2

Note: 1. Others include Adult Education, Language Development and General Category. Source: Computed, using the data compiled from State educational budget data for various years.

#### C. Plan and Non-Plan Expenditures on Secondary Education

The financial support extended to secondary education can be examined in terms of changes in plan and non-plan components of expenditure. The plan and non-plan break-up of expenditure reveals the scope for setting new directions of development

Table 8 provides the plan and non-plan and total revenue expenditures on secondary education in Tamil Nadu at current prices. The total revenue expenditure on secondary education presents an impressive increase from Rs.61.4 crores to Rs. 1609.7 crores during the sixth through the ninth Plan periods representing an increase of over 26 times the initial level. The compounded growth rate is 17.8% for the period. This rising trend is

also clear from the accompanying graph (Figure 4) depicting the trend in revenue expenditure (plan and non-plan). The decadal trend points to an important finding that the growth rate of expenditure declined from 20.6% in the 1980s to 14.2% in the 1990s.

	TABLE 8	
Plan	and Non-Plan Revenue Expenditure on Secondary Educ	ation at Current
	Prices in Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2	

Year	Plan		Non-Pl	Non-Plan		
	Amount (Rs. in Crores)	% to Total	Amount (Rs. in Crores)	% to Total	(Rs. in Crores)	
1980-81	1.14	1.9	60.22	98.1	61.37	
1981-82	2.00	2.6	73.95	97.4	75.96	
1982-83	3.83	4.3	85.50	95.7	89.33	
1983-84	5.16	5.1	96.24	94.9	101.40	
1984-85	7.16	6.0	112.75	94.0	119.91	
1985-86	1.09	.8	135.76	99.2	136.85	
1986-87	1.64	1.2	137.39	98.8	139.03	
1987-88	11.02	4.6	229.83	95.4	240.85	
1988-89	15.72	5.7	261.32	94.3	277.04	
1989-90	30.89	8.8	321.87	91.2	352.76	
1990-91	8.80	2.0	438.94	98.0	447.74	
1991-92	8.69	1.8	482.38	98.2	491.07	
1992-93	19.30	3.8	494.39	96.2	513.69	
1993-94	15.36	2.6	582.70	97.4	598.06	
1994-95	17.86	2.6	662.02	97.4	679.88	
1995-96	29.45	3.9	723.98	96.1	753.42	
1996-97	39.28	4.3	868.45	95.7	907.73	
1997-98	40.97	3.9	999.51	96.1	1040.48	
1998-99	58.36	4.1	1363.74	95.9	1422.09	
1999-00	71.23	4.5	1518.11	95.5	1589.34	
2000-01	79.82	5.1	1474.42	94.9	1554.24	
2001-02R	101.49	6.3	1508.17	93.7	1609.66	
	Growth Rate (%)	Average	Growth Rate(%)	Average	Growth Rate (%)	
1980-90	30.6	4.1	20.1	95.9	20.6	
1991-02	25.7	3.7	13.9	96.3	14.2	
1980-02	21.2	3.9	17.8	96.1	17.8	

Source: Budgetary Resources for Education (1995) and Detailed Demand for Grants, Education, (various years) Budget Publications, Government of Tamil Nadu.

The plan expenditure component increased from Rs. 1.15 crores in 1980/1 to Rs 101.5 crores in 2001/2, implying a growth rate of 21.2% over the period. Considering the growth rates for the two decades separately, there is a 4.9% decrease in the growth of plan expenditure in the eighth and ninth plans compared to the sixth and seventh plans. The share of plan expenditure to total remained at around 4% since 1981 till the recent

#### 468 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education

year. The non-plan expenditure which makes up for about 96% of total expenditure, recorded an overall growth rate of 17.8%, from Rs.60.2 crores in 1980s to Rs. 1508.2 crores in 1991-2002. However, the growth rate has gone down in the recent plans (13.9%) over the earlier (sixth and seventh) plan periods (20.1%).

The large share of non-plan expenditure indicates that much of the expenditure is incurred on salaries and maintenance and any constructive plans for improving secondary education is yet to receive support.



TABLE 9Plan and Non-Plan Revenue Expenditure on Secondary Education at Constant(1980/1) Prices in Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2

Year	Plan Expenditure		Non-Plan Expenditure		Total (Rs. in	
	Amount (Rs. in Crores)	% to Total	Amount (Rs. in Crores)	% to Total	Crores)	
1980-81	1.15	1.9	60.22	98.1	61.37	
1981-82	1.82	2.6	67.07	97.4	68.89	
1982-83	3.22	4.3	71.83	95.7	75.05	
1983-84	4.01	5.1	74.66	94.9	78.67	
1984-85	5.17	6.0	81.34	94.0	86.50	
1985-86	.73	.8	90.92	99.2	91.64	
1986-87	1.03	1.2	86.27	98.8	87.30	
1987-88	6.37	4.6	132.76	95.4	139.13	
1988-89	8.40	5.7	139.63	94.3	148.03	
1989-90	15.23	8.8	158.67	91.2	173.90	
1990-91	3.91	2.0	194.99	98.0	198.89	
1991-92	3.36	1.8	186.74	98.2	190.10	
1992-93	6.89	3.8	176.54	96.2	183.43	
1993-94	4.70	2.6	178.35	97.4	183.05	
1994-95	5.04	2.6	186.61	97.4	191.65	
1995-96	7.62	3.9	187.32	96.1	194.94	
1996-97	9.38	4.3	207.31	95.7	216.68	
1997-98	9.77	3.9	238.46	96.1	248.23	
1998-99	12.90	4.1	301.42	95.9	314.32	
1999-00	15.20	4.5	324.06	95.5	339.26	
2000-01	16.40	5.1	302.99	94.9	319.39	
2001-02R	20.04	6.3	297.80	93.7	317.84	
	Growth Rate (%)	Average	Growth Rate (%)	Average	Growth Rate (%)	
1980-90	20.9	4.1	11.2	95.9	11.6	
1991-02	17.0	3.7	6.0	96.3	6.4	
1980-02	11.5	3.9	8.4	96.1	8.5	

Source: Computed using data given in Table 7.

The above analysis of the trends in public expenditure is carried out in terms of current prices and any increase in spending could merely arise from price increase rather than an increase in real quantum of resources. In order to provide true picture it is necessary to adjust the nominal resource flows for inflation. Using 1980/1 as the base

#### 470 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education

year, the GDP deflator has been computed and the expenditures in current prices are deflated to arrive at expenditures at constant prices or real expenditures<sup>4</sup>. The resulting plan, non-plan and total revenue expenditures as given in Table 9 show that total expenditure in constant prices increased from Rs. 61.4 crores in 1980/1 to Rs.317.8 crores in 2001/2 denoting an increase ofjust five times over the initial expenditure level compared to a 26 times increase in current prices (Table 7). The growth rate of total expenditure in real terms is only 8.5% about 9% lower than that in current prices. The decadal trends show that the growth rate of expenditures is higher in the earlier decade than in the current decade. A similar impact of inflation on the growth of expenditure is seen in the plan and non-plan components as well.

The effect of total revenue expenditure and SDP on the expenditure on secondary education is analysed, using regression method. The results given in Table 10 indicate that the total revenue expenditure elasticity and income (SDP) elasticity are marginally greater than one (moderately elastic). This implies that secondary education expenditure is responsive to changes in SDP and the state's revenue expenditure and it increases nearly proportionately with changes in the two explanatory variables.

#### TABLE 10

#### Regression Estimates of the Relationship between Expenditure on Secondary Education, Total Revenue Expenditure and Gross State Domestic Product, Tamil Nadu, 1980-2002

Dependant Variable: Log (Expenditure on General Education)							
Explanatory Variables	Model 1	Model 2					
Constant	-9.141	-10.828					
Log (Revenue Expenditure)	1.100*	-					
	(43.64)						
Log (SDP)	-	1.090*					
		(27.729)					
Adj. R-square	0.989	0.975					
F-ratio	1904	769					
<b>Durbin-Watson Statistics</b>	1.349	0.540					
Ν	22	22					

Note: V values in parentheses.

\* Significant at 1 % level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The available statistics on SDP at constant prices for the recent years are based on 1993/4 as the base year. These figures have been adjusted for base change and 1980/1 has been used as the base period for all the years to render uniformity and comparability of the series.

#### D. Revenue Expenditure on Government Schools and Grants-in-Aid to Local Bodies and Private Aided Schools

The revenue expenditure on Government secondary schools and grants-in-aid to schools run by the local bodies and private organizations as given in Tables 11 and 12 in current and constant prices respectively and also Figures 5 and 6 reveal that government schools receive cent percent financial support from the state budget though in the recent years they are permitted to raise some amount through PTAs, amenity fees from students and other endowments. Over the study period, the amount of expenditure on government schools increased from Rs. 32 crores to Rs.846 crores, about 26 times compared to an increase of **5** times in constant prices. The implied compound growth rates at current and constant prices are 18% and 9% respectively for the whole period. The growth rates at current (constant) prices in the disaggregated time periods show that the expenditure in current prices grew at 17% (8.5%) in the sixth and seventh plans and 14.6% (6.7%) in the eighth and ninth plans. Government schools absorb a major chunk (50.3%) of total expenditure and its share has gone up from 48.8% (1980s) to 51.6% (1991/2002) in nominal and real terms.

The state provides financial support through grant-in-aid to the local government schools (municipal/corporation) and private schools that come under aided category. For the entire period, the grant-in-aid to local government schools registered a growth rate of 23.4% (an increase by about 42 times from Rs.1.8 crores to Rs.74.7 crores). A close scrutiny of grant-in-aid flow to the local government schools reveals that a big quantum jump in grants has taken place since 1990/1, the year from which the state government took over the responsibility for all salaries in these schools. Before that, these schools received only residuary grant to cover the excess of expenditure over revenue. There is no difference in the decadal trends in the growth rate of grant-in-aid. The share of grant-in-aid to local body schools is about 3% for the complete period with an (4.4%) increase in the recent period compared to (2.1%) in the earlier period.

Another category of schools that are provided grants from the state revenue budget is the private aided schools. These schools received about Rs. 605 crores in the year 2001/2 compared to Rs. 21 crores in the starting year (1980/1), which amounts to a 29-fold increase. The compound growth rate works out to 18.5% for the whole period and 21% and 15% respectively for 1980/90 and 1991/2002. The grant to private aided schools constitutes 34% of the total expenditure for the full period, and the share is marginally (2.2%) higher in the latter period. The corresponding expenditures and grants-in-aid and their growth rates in 1980/1 prices show evidence of more modest increases. Thus, throughout the period, expenditure on government, local body and private aided schools recorded growth rate of 8.6%, 13.5% and 9.1% respectively, which are nearly one-halfto three-fifths of those in current prices as given in Table 11.

472	Public	Expenditure	and	Grants-in-Aid for	Secondary	Education
-----	--------	-------------	-----	-------------------	-----------	-----------

# TABLE 11 Revenue Expenditure on Government, Municipal/Corporation and Private Aided Schools at Current Price in Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2

Year	Revenue Expense	diture on	Grants-in-A id to	Municipal	Grants-in-A id	to Private
Government		and Corporation	<u>n Schools</u>	Aided Schools		
	Amount (Rs. in	%to	Amount	%to	Amount	%to
	Crores)	Total	(Rs. in Crores)	Total	(Rs. in Crores)	Total
1980-81	31.965	52 <b>.2</b>	1.843	3.0	21.229	34.6
1981-82	38.979	51 <b>.4</b>	1.821	2.4	25.020	33.0
1982-83	45.382	51 <b>.0</b>	<b>2</b> .018	2.3	28.749	32.3
1983-84	52.369	51 <b>.6</b>	1.926	1.9	32.772	32.3
r984-85	62.344	52.0	<b>2</b> .608	2.2	38.133	31.8
1985-86	75.437	52.0	<b>3</b> .377	2.3	46.590	32.1
1986-87	77.852	48 <b>.1</b>	<b>3</b> .141	1.9	49.299	30.5
1987-88	119.457	49 <b>.6</b>	4.080	1.7	82.842	34 <b>.4</b>
1988-89	138.235	49 <b>.9</b>	<b>3</b> .387	1.2	94.496	34 <b>.1</b>
1989-90	108.271	30.6	6.207	1.8	116.897	33.0
1990-91	239.816	53.6	19.626	4.4	144.982	32.4
1991-92	246.297	50.2	23.815	4.8	170.352	34.7
1992-93	278.198	50 <b>.2</b>	27.306	4.9	184.705	33.4
1993-94	309.168	50.4	27.746	4.5	210.275	34.3
1994-95	339.045	49 <b>.9</b>	30.724	4.5	235.077	34.6
1995-96	388.539	49.5	36.031	<b>4</b> .6	269.942	34 <b>.4</b>
1996-97	445.908	49 <b>.1</b>	38.081	4.2	312.556	34.4
1997-98	541.414	52 <b>.0</b>	41.648	4.0	367.530	35.3
1998 <b>-99</b>	752.872	52 <b>.9</b>	58.109	4.1	510.877	35.9
1999-00	853.451	53.7	66.285	4.2	579.600	36.5
2000-01	854.295	55.0	69.575	4.5	574.856	37.0
2001-02R	846.065	52.6	74.707	4.6	605.331	37.6
	Growth Rate (%)	Average	Growth Rate (%)	Average	Growth Rate (%)	Average
1980-90	17 <b>.1</b>	48.8	13.2	2.1	20.9	32.8
1990-02	14.6	51.6	13.1	<b>4</b> .4	15.3	35.0
1980-02	18 <b>.1</b>	50.3	13.1	3.4	18.5	34.0

Source: Detailed Demand For Grants, Education (various years), Budget Publications, Government of Tamil Nadu.

#### TABLE 12

#### Revenue Expenditure on Government, Municipal/Corporation and Private Aided Schools at Constant (1980/1) Price in Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2

Year	Revenue Expenditure on Government		Grants-in-A id to Municipal and		Grants-in-A id to Private A ided Schools	
			Corporation Schools			
	Amount (Rs.	%to	Amount (Rs.	%to	Amount (Rs.	%to
	in Crores)	Total	in Crores)	Total	in Crores)	Total
1980-81	31.965	52.16	1.843	3.01	21.229	34.64
1981-82	35.352	51.37	1.652	2.40	22.692	32.97
1982-83	38.128	51.00	1.696	2.27	24.153	32.30
1983-84	40.629	51.64	1.494	1.90	25.425	32.32
1984-85	44.974	51.98	1.881	2.17	27.509	31.79
1985-86	50.517	51.95	2.262	2.33	31.199	32.08
1986-87	48.882	48.14	1.972	1.94	30.954	30.48
1987-88	69.005	49.60	2.357	1.69	47.854	34.40
1988-89	73.863	49.90	1.810	1.22	50.492	34.11
1989-90	53.373	30.58	3.060	1.75	57.625	33.01
1990-91	106.530	53.56	8.718	4.38	64.403	32.38
1991-92	95.344	50.16	9.219	4.85	65.945	34.69
1992-93	99.341	50.24	9.751	4.93	65.956	33.36
1993-94	94.626	50.40	8.492	4.52	64.359	34.28
1994-95	95.573	49.87	8.661	4.52	66.265	34.58
1995-96	100.530	49.54	9.323	4.59	69.845	34.42
1996-97	106.442	49.12	9.090	4.20	74.610	34.43
1997-98	129.169	52.04	9.936	4.00	87.684	35.32
1998-99	166.405	52.94	12.844	4.09	112.917	35.92
1999-00	182.180	53.70	14.149	4.17	123.723	36.47
2000-01	175.553	54.97	14.297	4.48	118.130	36.99
2001-02R	167.060	52.56	14.751	4.64	119.526	37.61
	Growth Rate (%)	Average	Growth Rate(%)	Average	Growth Rate (%)	Averaj
1980-90	8.5	48.83	4.9	2.07	12.0	32.81
1991-02	6.7	51.59	5.3	4.45	7.3	35.04
1980-02	8.6	50.34	13.5	3.37	9.1	34.03

Source: Computed using the data given in Table 9.

#### 474 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education



#### Figure 5: Expenditure and Grant-in-aid At Current Price

#### E. Per-Student Expenditure and Grant-in-Aid

The growth of expenditure and grants-in-aid shown above appear striking but the aggregate picture masks the underlying reality in the face of dramatic increases in enrolments. It makes more sense to estimate the expenditure and grant-in-aid per student year. The trend and growth in per student expenditure in current and constant prices are presented in Tables 13 and 14 (also Figures 7 and 8).

### Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid Per Student in Current Prices for Secondary and Higher Secondary Education in Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2

TABLE 13

Year	Govt. Schools	Local Bodies	Private Aided Schools
1980-81	311.19	150.48	237.90
1981-82	351.24	142.38	269.42
1982-83	385.97	155.79	309.73
1983-84	415.04	143.80	329.12
1984-85	456.50	190.81	374.43
1985-86	528.00	211.56	434.00
1986-87	498.31	186.84	443.01
1987-88	735.23	230.25	696.31
1988-89	783.51	179.51	750.86
1989-90	587.96	299.90	897.60
1990-91	1246.08	852.04	1129.05
1991-92	1205.88	1014.00	1328.04
1992-93	1273.47	1138.16	1433.93
1993-94	1473.92	1075.69	1556.40
1994-95	1496.10	1135.23	1710.73
1995-96	1655.03	1320.18	1970.82
1996-97	1844.19	1352.04	2208.96
1997-98	2207.51	1444.34	2531.22
1998-99	3499.15	3946.57	3379.37
1999-00	3647.36	3824.11	4053.04
2000-01	3580.21	5047.23	3711.82
2001-02R	3400.30	4500.07	3695.70
		Growth Rates (%	%)
1980-90	9.7	6.7	15.8
1991-02	12.5	18.5	12.9
1980-02	13.2	20.6	15.3

Source: Computed using data given Tables 3,4 and 9.

Note: Figures are in Rupees per student year.

The expenditure per-student in the government schools increased sharply at current prices from Rs. 311 in 1980/1 to Rs. 3400 in the terminal year, signifying an almost 11 times hike over the years. Even steeper increases have occurred in the per-student grant-in-aid to local body schools (an increase of 30 times from Rs. 150 to Rs. 4500 over the period). The grant-in-aid to private aided schools registered more moderate increase from Rs. 238 to Rs 3696 per student, pointing to a 15 times escalation in the period. The average expenditure and grant per pupil were Rs. 1436, Rs. 1297 and Rs. 1521 for government, municipal/corporation and private aided schools respectively. Looking closely at changes in per-student expenditure over the two decades, it is observed that the expenditure and grant-in-aid are of much higher magnitude in the second phase (eighth and ninth plans). The computed growth rates in per-student year government expenditure are 13.2%, 20.6% and 15.3% respectively from 1980/2002 for the three categories of

#### 476 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-A id for Secondary Education

schools. Whereas the growth of expenditure on government and local body school students is higher in the recent period, the converse is true for the private aided schools. The possible explanation is that the state assumed a greater role and financial responsibility towards local body schools in the 1990s to tide over their revenue deficits whereas they are more stringent in approving aid for private schools. Much of the spectacular rise in per-student expenditure and grant-in-aid disappears when adjusted for rising prices (Table 12). The average expenditures/grants-in-aid at constant prices for the twenty-two years are respectively Rs. 459, Rs. 352 and Rs. 469 for the three types of schools considered here, about a third or lower than the amount expressed in current prices. The compounded growth rates of real expenditures are 4.2%, 11% and 6.2 % for the three types of schools for the whole period.

TABLE 14

Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid Per Student for Secondary and Higher Secondary Education at Constant Price (1980/8)) in Tamil Nadu, 1980/1-2001/2

Year	Per-Student Expenditure (Rs.) in					
	Government Schools	Local Bodies Schools	Private Aided Schools			
1980-81	311.19	150.48	237.90			
1981-82	318.56	129.13	244.35			
1982-83	324.27	130.89	260.22			
1983-84	322.00	111.56	255.34			
1984-85	329.31	137.65	270.11			
1985-86	353.58	141.67	290.63			
1986-87	312.89	117.32	278.17			
1987-88	424.71	133.00	402.23			
1988-89	418.65	95.92	401.20			
1989-90	289.84	147.84	442.48			
1990-91	553.53	378.49	501.54			
1991-92	466.81	392.53	514.10			
1992-93	454.74	406.42	512.04			
1993-94	451.12	329.23	476.37			
1994-95	421.73	320.01	482.23			
1995-96	428.22	341.58	509.93			
1996-97	440.22	322.74	527.30			
1997-98	526.66	344.59	603.89			
1998-99	773.41	872.30	746.93			
1999-00	778.58	816.31	865.17			
2000-01	735.71	1037.18	762.76			
200I-02R	671.41	888.56	729.74			
		Growth Rates (%)				
1980-90	1.6	NG	7.3			
1991-02	4.8	10.3	5.1			
1980-02	4.2	11.0	6,2			

Source: Computed using data given in Tables 3, 4 and 10. Note: Figures are in Rupees per student year; NG - Negative growth rate.



#### Figure 7: Per-Student Expenditure At Current Price

#### Conclusion

The state of Tamil Nadu has been a forerunner in education in several respects and has made impressive progress in education. However, in the light of the growing budgetary problems faced by the state, as is also the case with other states in the country, there is need to examine educational financing particularly the governmental contributions to

#### 478 Public Expenditure and Granls-in-A id for Secondary Education

schools in the form of grants-in-aid. This study examined the financing of secondary education in Tamil Nadu (1980-2002) focusing on public expenditure on the government schools and grants-in-aid to the local body and private aided schools. The important conclusions that can be drawn from the analysis are:

- > The secondary and higher secondary education in the state witnessed a tremendous expansion judged in terms of growth of institutions and their enrolments. The number of government, local body and aided schools increased remarkably. Interestingly, the share of government schools to all schools in the state declined. Over the two decades, enrolment in the high and higher secondary schools put together has grown at the rate of 4.2%, 2.3% and 2.9% respectively in these schools.
- The budgetary allocation to general education has gone up by 21 times in a little over two decades. Even though the expenditure for the whole period shows a 16% growth rate, the decadal trends indicate that the growth declined from 17.6% in the first decade to 14.1% in the second decade. The share of expenditure on general education to total revenue expenditure and SDP are 19.3% and 3.5% respectively during the period. The SDP growth and educational expenditure growth remained about the same (16%). The general education expenditure is inelastic with respect to total revenue expenditure and income (SDP) of the state.
- > The inter-sectoral allocation of educational expenditure indicates that the share of secondary education in the general education expenditure is 35% and there is an increase in the share in the period 1991 to 2002 (38%); to be noted in the face of a small decline in primary education expenditure in the current decade.
- > The analysis shows that expenditure on secondary education increased by 21 % in current prices. However, this impressive increase is due largely to inflation and when adjusted for price increase, the growth rate is of the order of 8.5%. The average plan expenditure constitutes about 4% while the non-plan expenditure makes up for about 96% of the total expenditure. The large share of non-plan expenditure indicates that much of the expenditure is incurred on salaries and maintenance and any constructive plan for improving secondary education is yet to receive support. The expenditure and income (SDP) elasticity values are marginally greater than one, implying that expenditure on secondary education is moderate and income elastic. There is some evidence of Wagner's law that-public expenditure on secondary education increases with economic growth.
- > The revenue expenditure on government schools in constant prices shows a growth rate of 8.6% for the entire period and it constitutes about 50% of total secondary education expenditure. The grants-in-aid to local body and private aided schools registered larger growth rates of 13.5% and 9.1% respectively. Whereas the share of grant to local body schools is only about 3%, the

government's allocation, to the private aided schools it is about 34% of the secondary education budget.

> The per-student expenditure and grant-in-aid at constant prices are Rs. 671, Rs 889 and Rs. 730 respectively in 2001/2 for students in government, municipal/corporation and private aided schools. This indicates larger per-capita spending in the last two categories of schools. The compound growth rates of per-student expenditure are 4.2%, 11% and 6.2% respectively in respect of these schools.

In sum, the study points to an ever-growing secondary education sector which interestingly claims over a third of the state's revenue expenditure on general education. Further, the secondary education sector's share of state revenue resources is higher in the 1990s and beginning of the year 2000 than in the 1980s. There has been a decline in both the plan and non-plan outlays in the recent phase. Grants-in-aid have increased more than the growth of expenditure on government schools. The private aided schools claim a large share of state spending next to government schools in the form of grant-in-aid. The per-student expenditure is Rs.217 and Rs.58 more in the local body and private aided schools over the government schools. Apparently, the government is able to realize a better value for its money spent on the government-run schools. The data and analysis presented here do not explain why the per-student public expenditure in the aid receiving schools is higher. These differences notwithstanding, the per student year expenditure appears low and viewed against the criticism of declining quality of education in these schools, there is a need to increase per-student spending. School education certainly deserves priority over other levels and the educational spending is still way below the recommended level of 6% of national/sate income. These arguments provide a defence for injecting more funds into the system.

The question remains whether the state can sustain the growing demands of education on the state budget. The schools should strive to utilize existing resources more efficiently to achieve cost reduction, on the one hand, whereas, on the other, there is an urgent need to revisit the criteria that serve as the basis for providing grants such as student strength, early application for grants etc. A performance-based criterion might be thought of where the decision to provide grants and the quantum of grants to existing grant receiving institutions would depend on their performance such as student achievement etc. There is also a need to tap other sources of educational finance such as educational cess, community support, endowments etc.

#### References

Duraisamy, M (2000), "Financing Technical Education in India," *Journal of Educational Planning and Administration*, Vol. XIV (1), pp.23-43.

Duraisamy, M and Duraisamy, P. (2000), "Cost Wastage and Effectiveness of Primary Schooling in Tamil Nadu," in G. Ananda *Educational Wastage*, Comonwealth Publishers, New Delhi.

480 Public Expenditure and Grants-in-A id for Secondary Education

- Duraisamy P. (1988), "The Effects of Education on Market and Non-Market Activities: A Survey," Journal of the Madras University, VoI.LX.(2), pp.51-65
- Duraisamy, P., James, E., Lane, J. and Tan, J.P. (1998), "Is There a Quantity-Quality Trade-off as Pupil-Teacher Ratios Increase? Evidence from Tamil Nadu, India," International Journal of Educational Development, Vol.18 (5), pp.367-83.
- Duraisamy, P. and Duraisamy, M. (2000), "Investment and Financing Higher Education in India," Journal of the Madras University, Vol.LXIV, pp. 17-27.
- Duraisamy, P. and Subramanian, T.P. (2000), "Costs, Financing and Efficiency of Public and Private Schools in Tamil Nadu, India," *Journal of Educational Planning and Administration*, Vol. XIV (3), pp.249-267.
- Government of India (1997), Studies in State Financing for Education: A Synthesis, Report of the Department of Education, MHRD, New Delhi.
- Misra, A. (1967), The Financing of Indian Education, New Delhi: Asia Publishing House

Muzzammil, M (1989), Financing of Education, New Delhi: Ashish Publishing House.

- Panchamukhi P.R. (1989), Economics of Educational Finance, Bombay: Himalayan Publishing House.
- Psacharapoulos, G (1994) "Returns to Investment in Education: A Global Update," World Development, Vol.22, No.9, pp. 1325-1345.
- Schultz, TP (1988) "Educational Investments and Returns," In Chenery and T.N. Srinivasan, Handbook of Development Economics, Vol.1, pp.543-630.
- Tilak J.B. G, (1983), "On Allocating Planned Resources For Education in India," *Margin,* Vol.. 16 (1) .pp.93-102.
- ---, (1987), "Educational Finances in India," Journal of Educational Planning and Administration, Vol.1 (3&4) .pp.132-99.
- --, (1993), "Financing Higher Education," in S. Chitnis and PG Altbach (eds.) Higher Education Reforms in India^ew Delhi: Sage Publications, pp.42-83.
- --, (1995), "Costs' and Financing of Education in India: A Review of Issues, Problems and Prospects, " *Discussion Paper Series (5)*, UNDP Project, Centre For Development Studies, Thiruvananthapuram.
Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4. October 2003, pp. 481-506

# Decentralisation Reforms and Public Schools A Human Development Perspective

# Manabi Majumdar'

## Abstract

Departing somewhat from the standard approaches to decentralisation and adopting an explicitly human development perspective, the paper tries to make and defend the following claims. Decentralisation reforms in education are aimed not to remove public institutions from involvement in educational matters but to improve public performance. The 'vision' that currently enervates our school system is that 'education is not for their (read subaltern) children'. This narrow conception of schooling needs to be re-defined. It is here that the contemporary effort tojoster participatory democracy presents before us some genuine possibilities for school transformation, by galvanising a larger process of social and political transformation. The local democratic institutions and the participatory spaces they open up will likely impose on the policy agenda a generous conception of public schooling that makes a democratic claim of basic education being the right of every child.

## 1. Introduction

Recently, the notion of decentralisation has gained quite a standing among development theorists as well as practitioners.' The promises and perils which decentralisation entails have been the subject of several debates and discussions. The literature on this is quite vast now and fast proliferating. However, although many show awareness of the issues relating to decentralised governance, it is not yet a well-understood phenomenon; the term lumps together too many different ideas under an excessively broad label. There is clearly room here for conceptual refinement as well as further empirical investigation.

Interestingly, support for decentralisation has come from diverse quarters - from statists, protagonists of the rnarket, and communitarians, and for varied reasons - of

<sup>&#</sup>x27; Centre for Studies in Social Sciences, R-1, Baishnabghata Patuli Township, Kolkata,West Bengal - 700094, E-mail: <u>manabim@yahoo.com</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In India the prominent decentralisation reforms include the recent strengthening of Panchayati Raj Institutions (PRIs) and Urban Local Bodies (ULBs) under the aegis of the 73rd and 74th Constitutional Amendment Acts. These Acts require all the State governments to introduce certain legislative measures tuned to the revitalisation of local representative institutions. The measures in question include mandatory elections at regular intervals, reservation of seats for women and members of scheduled castes and tribes and some devolution of State government responsibilities to local authorities (Dreze and Sen, 1999).

market failure, government failure or of the bankruptcy of both. More specifically, the current enthusiasm for decentralised development has moved in two distinct and rather opposite directions: on the one hand, the decentralising arrangements are proposed by some as a route to roll back of government functions and to generally reducing the role of the 'over-developed' yet 'inefficient' state ('government failure') and transferring fiscal responsibilities to sub-national/State levels and at times back to the community or even households via user fees and so on (Klugman,1997).<sup>5</sup> On the other hand, those who acknowledge both the tendency of the market to under-supply collective goods at the local level ('market failure') as well as the shortcomings of a centralised governance structure suggest decentralisation as a way of improving public performance, of better public service delivery; they delineate the *information* and *incentive* advantages which local level organisations enjoy over central suppliers.

In essence, both approaches, however, make an economic case for decentralisation, that is to say, an argument for improved cost-efficiency as an offshoot of decentralised development. Given the current climate of 'cost-consciousness', preoccupations with efficiency effects of decentralisation are understandable. By any reckoning, fiscal adjustments and allocative efficiency are worthy causes for our concern. However, there is more at issue than these; there is more to decentralisation than mere internal organisation of government, deconcentration of administrative power from central to local agencies and community financing or user fees. These are the aspects which seem to receive most attention in academic and policy discussions to the relative neglect of what we argue later to be the basic spirit of decentralisation, namely people's participation in the decision-making and implementational processes. Simply put, decentralisation is to be viewed, first and foremost, as one of the routes to expanding people's opportunities - an instrument of governance activated and energised by the actions and choices of people themselves. Thus, it appears that the analysis of decentralisation is as much about people's participatory freedom as about administrative and fiscal efficiency.

Surely, decentralisation does not automatically enhance people's participation; the mode, intensity and quality of participation will vary depending on people's political organisation, mobilisation etc. The interest here lies in the impact of local participation in decision-making on the nature of decisions made and more generally in the linkage between people's freedom of decisions and actions, on the one hand, and human development, on the other. The analysis of decentralisation may, therefore, set out with the premise that participatory human development is the goal for which decentralised governance is a potent tool. Where a departure might be due in the current decentralisation discourse is to insist on such a starting point. 'Democratic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Decentralization has been advocated by the IMF, for example, as a route to 'smaller government', motivated largely by the desire to reduce central government expenditures; as a corollary, the transfer of functions has taken place without the transfer of commensurate revenue sources or increased central grants" (Klugman 1997, p.2).

decentralisation for human development' as a definitional radar will likely take us along right directions.

Specifically, the following questions lie at the heart of the present enquiry: do the recently introduced decentralisation reforms in education (under the aegis of the PRIs) provide answers to the ills of public education and hold the key to school improvement? What exactly do decentralisation reforms in education mean - greater parental/ community control over schooling decisions or greater school-site autonomy vis-a-vis higher levels of education bureaucracy or both? What effect will these changes have on school functioning in terms of teaching-learning activities, classroom practices and student performance? Above all, will governance reforms, when viewed as a complex social and political process, lead to an agreement among most citizens about the broad purpose of public schooling? In many parts of our country poor performance of government schools and their unresponsiveness to the educational needs of socially disadvantaged children reflect the general denial of a norm that education is the essential part of every child's upbringing. Can the constitutionally initiated decentralisation reforms address this 'first-order' problem of our school system and correlatively generate a broad and democratic conception of educational purpose - a social aspiration that leads to extending public support for quality education for every citizen?

# 2. Educational Decentralisation: Institutions, Finances, Functions and Outcomes

In establishing whether and to what extent an education system is decentralised, there exists no simple or single criteria, but rather a combination of institutional, fiscal and political indicators.' Educational decentralisation may mean widely divergent things in countries with distinctly different organisational arrangements. In many countries, decentralisation measures are implemented through executive orders, as opposed to legal or constitutional mandates, which leave ample scope for easy abrogation of powers delegated to local bodies or their transfer back to the hands of the central agencies. In some other cases, decentralisation refers to constitutional transfer of authority from the central and State to local governments.

In India, the recently enacted 73<sup>rd</sup> Amendment Act provides for control and governance of elementary education (up to high school level, in fact) by elected panchayat bodies; it devolves education responsibilities - hitherto the domain of education bureaucracy - onto the democratically elected panchayat members. However,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Weiler (1993) sheds light on the political dynamics of the debate over decentralisation in education governance by placing it within the theoretical context of the state's exercise of power. The key conceptual categories in Weiler's analysis are control, conflict and legitimacy. His principal thesis is that the state, in exercising its power, has a dual interest: maintaining control, on the one hand, and enhancing its legitimacy, on the other. Conditions of conflict, endemic in pluralistic societies, highlight the fundamental contradictions between these two interests. Without going into the details of the subject, one wonders whether the controversy around the recent centrally-sponsored drive for curriculum revision under the aegis of the NCERT reflects a similar contradiction.

the legislation leaves much to the wishes of the State governments and since the willingness of the State-level leadership to share power with the local leadership is highly uneven across the country, wide inter-State variations prevail in reform initiatives in the education sector. Another important consideration is with respect to the size of sub-central units. In a situation where provincial governments are themselves very large, the State government itself assumes the role of 'central' party in the relation between local and supra-local units and the municipal/rural counterparts the 'local' party. In other words, the notions of the 'central' and the 'local' are very country-specific.'

Also, decentralising programmes in the education sector are never an all-or-nothing phenomenon. Some functions, such as decisions on the nature of classroom teaching by their nature, need to be left to the persons performing those functions. On the other hand, it is generally agreed that some uniformity of school structure, teacher training, syllabuses in schools, and mode of evaluation is necessary in order to ensure some equivalence of academic degrees and mobility among institutions as well as across different parts of a country. In some countries, it is the national government that reserves the authority to require equivalence; in others, it is the prerogative of provincial governments. The latter is true of the practice prevalent in the States of India too. However, decentralising the function of curriculum development and textbook preparation in the country involves several complex issues. As Rampal (2002, p. 161) thoughtfully observes:

"How far 'down' can we take the process of decentralization? Does it mean further polarization, in terms of having separate curricula for the urban and the rural, the tribal and the non-tribal? How can we ensure 'equivalence', and what does equivalence really imply? What will happen to examinations, and would school boards need to be reconstituted? All these may be valid questions to discuss ... A convenient unit would ultimately be the district, and ideally materials and textbooks must be developed by each DIET, in conformity with a skeletal 'core curriculum', and in close collaboration with a resource group of school teachers and other academics.

At present DIETs are academically inadequate, but a hands-on programme to upgrade their capacities and train their personnel can be taken up gradually. Such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the United States, for example, States are responsible for education, but most States further devolve most decision-making to special education districts. There are about 25 schools under each school district (Winkler, 1993). The local special districts are often coterminous with local government boundaries. Here decentralising programmes in education, therefore, usually entail transferring powers and functions away from district level actors (e.g., the school district board) to the individual schools themselves, to school level actors. By international standard, the US school system is already quite decentralised, with school districts functioning with considerable freedom from State and federal governments. In many States, curriculum decisions are made at the district level. Interestingly, district level curriculum decision-making is thought to be highly centralised, even though it is highly participatory, because school principals and teachers are the prime decision makers (Hannaway, 1993). Thus, decentralisation has different connotations in different country settings, especially in countries like India where at times even State-level operations assume continental proportions.

capacity building and facilitation of decentralization should be the major task of state- or national-level institutions. This should imply radically restructuring the NCERT, the SCERTs, the Textbook Corporations, the State Institutes of Education, etc., not only academically, but functionally, managerially and financially as well. The new role of national bodies such as the NCERT would be to provide forums for experience sharing and facilitate exposure to the experiences of various voluntary groups and state projects, through a close analysis of the materials developed.

It has often been pointed that, in keeping with the spirit of academic decentralization, the NCERT must desist from producing textbooks of its own. At present the NCERT brings out textbooks for the network of *Kendriya Vidyalayas* (italics supplied), which exist all over the country. By doing so it only legitimizes the notion that for the dominant class of students studying in these national schools, 'culture free' textbooks are desirable, whereas it is for the ordinary child that 'relevant' books are prescribed. If text materials in conformity with local language, culture, and environment are indeed pedagogically important, then the NCERT must pursue this philosophy in its work too."

As an example of participatory curriculum setting, Rampal (op cit, p. 165) looks at the *Nali Kali* programme, "..being run in over 4000 government schools, as part of the DPEP in Karnataka. Primary teachers are the protagonists, and have been instrumental in working out the entire scheme of transacting the curriculum, with the help of block officials and some resource persons.

One significant issue emerging from the Nali Kali programme (first initiated in the H.D. Kote block of Mysore district)... is that upscaling this effort cannot imply simple replication in other geographical areas."

Coming back to the diversities of decentralisation, in one prominent version, governance reform in education is taken to be a move to accord more autonomy to school-based decision making (King and Ozler, 2000); another model entails greater autonomy for local civil servants vis-a-vis central bureaucrats, and yet another focuses on the need to increase the role of the local community in schooling matters.<sup>5</sup> Thus, to capture the diverse dimensions of decentralisation, it would be helpful to fix our analytical gaze on the following issues and questions:

- i) decentralisation as organisational reform;
- ii) decentralisation as bringing schools closer to people; and
- iii) in what terms are the alleged benefits of education reforms to be reckoned?

Transition from centralized to decentralised governance would mean changes in the organisational size and complexity of schools. Apart from teachers directly responsible for teaching, there are a host of people - principals, supervisors, directors, clerks and so

<sup>\*</sup> The District Primary Education Programme (DPEP), operational in selected districts of India, has created a district based administrative structure which is somewhat different from the mainstream organisational structure; it accords relative flexibility to the local institutions.

on - who are concerned with keeping the whole system going. Would decentralisation mean additional layers of governance (with its own bureaucratic apparatus) or making the organisational structure simpler with more directly accountable institutions in place?

Again, we need to examine how reforms facilitate active local/parental participation in the governance of public education. By local community, do we mean the parents, patrons and participants in a given school, a geographically defined neighbourhood or a broader civic body? Does the community enjoy real control over core elements of school administration such as budgeting, staffing, curriculum and so on? There is a growing view that in the name of involving lay people in what seem to be administrative and professional matters, decentralised governance of public education may lead to a school administration that is corrupt and chaotic, uneven in quality and student performance. For reasons of standardization, economies of scale, coordination etc., the argument continues, we need to blend different forms of governance - centralised and decentralised. The challenge is to figure out - what kind of school decisions are best managed at what levels of government?

One way to assess the success or otherwise of decentralisation is to talk about accountability. Accountability may mean internal bureaucratic accountability. More pertinently, however, accountability has to be assessed with reference to what lies at the heart of the school system, namely teaching-learning activities. For example, do teachers regularly come to school, do they actively teach when present, what are the results of their instruction as measured by student performance on standardized tests? This brings us back to the first-order problem mentioned before - the broad question of the purpose of public education. We need to ask - what value the society attaches to the education of all children, whether it considers education to be the right of every child and correspondingly whether it nurtures a vision of decent future for all its citizens? Under a decentralised regime, do we work to improve the public school system, or abandon it in favour of privatisation (Carnoy, 1993)? Is the main impact of decentralisation felt by the rich, with little, if any, educational opportunities 'trickling down' to the lower income groups? The answer has important implications for school reform policies. If decentralisation typically leaves the poor behind, what does it do to the vision of public schooling? In what follows, let us examine some of these issues in turn.

# 2.1. Organisational Arrangement in the Education Sector Under the PR Regime

Since educational decentralisation-can take a variety of forms, it is necessary to describe in some detail the arrangements that are evolving in our country under the new setting and the range of institutional actors involved therein. It bears noting, however, that in a federal system like ours, reforms take place within a multi-level planning framework and that each cycle of reform (decentralising or recentralising) leaves behind its own institutional vestiges. Consequently, parallel structures proliferate. Also, with the expansion of the school system in the last one decade, the education bureaucracy has

also grown in size; sub-central administrative units have sprung up at several levels - starting from the State government to the village school.

The implementation of decentralisation measure itself has brought in its wake new organisational arrangements at all levels of educational management. For example, school management committees, parent-teacher associations, school cluster committees, village education committees and various other bodies are being created at the district, block and village levels - mostly as State-promoted efforts from above to institutionalise 'grass-root' processes of management. All these generate new organisational exigencies in terms of interfusing multiple layers of governance and bringing together diverse institutional actors, namely, PRIs, line departments, school level actors, user groups, communities and so on.

Also, as things stand now in several, if not all, States, there is no clear demarcation of functions between the three tiers of panchayats, generating a confusing situation and threatening accountability. The Central Advisory Board of Education (CABE) set up a Committee on Decentralised Management in 1993 to formulate guidelines on decentralisation reforms in education in the context of the 73rd Amendment Act.<sup>6</sup> It offered detailed plans of entrusting educational functions to local institutions (Table 1). The Committee proposed creation of Standing Committees on education at different levels of the PR structure - gram panchayat, panchayat samiti and zilla panchayat levels, assigning comprehensive powers, functions and responsibility to these bodies (ISS, 1996).7 However, generally these committees either have not been provided for in the State Acts or are mostly not there in practice (excepting the VEC); also most States have not delineated functions and powers of these committees. Simply put, the scope and the nature of their activities remain completely undefined. What needs to be done in the education sector at each level of the three-tier PR system has not been specified under the State law. Several States have simply' repeated the education-related subjects and functions at different levels.

In respect of financial and personnel matters, the State governments have to take a series of specific steps including framing of rules, byelaws, guidelines etc. Because, in most cases hardly any provisions have been made so far in the State Acts for transfer of the real powers related to personnel and financial matters to LBs. "Such powers are either denied or left undefined, leading to a potentially contentious dual control at best or to complete dependence on the State government at worst (Gupta, p.76).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As far as the letter of the law goes, overall supervision of all education programmes in the district up to secondary' level is brought under the purview of PRIs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Committee realized that the standard practice used to monitor school functioning, namely, the school inspection system of the State education department, had remained highly ineffective as a supervisory mechanism in most States; hence, its recommendation for constituting Village Education Committees (VECs) at the gram panchayat level, to take up the task of monitoring day-to-day functions of schools.

Level	Functions	Powers	Funds	Administrative Support
Zilla Parishad Standing Committee on Education	Overall Supervision of all Education Programmes in the District upto Secondary level	Establishment and Maintenance of Schools upto Secondary level including recruitment and transfer of staff, Payment of Salaries; Disbursement of grants; Preparation and sanction of education Budget; Mobilisation of Resources	Mainly through Government Grants	Service of Staff of Education Department at the District level
Panchayat Samiti Standing Committee on Education	Supervision of A E, NFE, ECCE, Primary and Upper Primary Schools	Recruitment of Staff for AE, NFE and ECCE; Preparation of Budget and Sanctioning of Plan Expenditure from PS Education Budget	Grant from ZP, State and Central Grants; Funds through Taxation	Service of the Staff of Education Dept. at the Block Level
Village Education Committee	Promotion of Enrolment Drive; Supervision of Schools; Mobilization of Resources	Visit to education Institutions and check attendance and other registers; undertake construction	ZP, PS and State funds; local mobilization	Support from HeadTeacher and other School Teachers

 TABLE 1

 Proposed Decentralisation Reforms in Education: CABE Committee

Source: Institute of Social Sciences, Commission Reports, 1996

The current decentralisation reforms in the education sector, their gingerly pace notwithstanding, signify the presence of and interaction between a host of institutional actors at the district, block and village levels, ranging from elected representatives to education bureaucracy to teachers to parents as well as district, block and cluster level functionaries created under the DPEP (Chart 1). On paper, the District Education Officer (DEO) is supposed to deal with all issues pertaining to school education within the district. In practice, however, DEOs are often found busy preparing proposals regarding the opening of new schools, upgrading existing schools, provision of additional staff, rationalization of existing staff etc. But major decisions in these respects are taken at the State level and the responsibility of the district-level authorities is mainly confined to

# Chart 1: School Education: The Range of Institutional Actors at District and Sub-District Levels

DPEP Project Manag In selected districts **Education Administration** Panchayat Bodies District Panchayat District Education District Project Standing Committee Officer Coordinator On Education Block Panchayat Standing Committee On Education Block Block Education Officer Resource Centre Assistant Cluster Education Officer Coordinator Village Panchayat Village Education Committee/ Village Education Committee\* Mother-Teacher Council

•Strictly speaking, the Village Education Committee is not a part of the **PR** system and is constituted under a government order; nevertheless, it is assigned an important role.

Source: Adapted from Govinda (1994)

preparing proposals and/or implementing decisions taken at the higher levels (Govinda, 1997; Sheel, 1997). DEOs seldom find time to visit schools and give academic leadership to teachers. There are several inspecting officers such as AEOs, under each DEO; they, too, do not have adequate time to pay one visit to all the schools allotted to one particular inspecting officer every year.

Similar observations hold, even more appropriately, for functionaries working below the district level such as the Block Education Officers (BEOs). They play largely an advisory role. As a more recent drive toward administrative decentralisation, establishing one institute, in each district, known as the District Institute of Education and Training (DIET) in order to meet professional training needs at the district level seemed to be a healthy move. But the functioning of DIETs has been hampered severely, mostly because they are poorly staffed (mostly through deputation and temporary staff) in many districts (Rampal, 2002).

Apart from hierarchy within the education bureaucracy itself, what compounds the task of organisational decentralisation even more is the lack of clear demarcation between the jurisdiction and powers of the education administration and PRI institutions vis-a-vis schooling matters. As per the Constitutional Amendment Act, powers of decision-making in the school sector are vested with the elected representatives of panchayat bodies. In the conformity legislations enacted at the State level, however, their powers have been left undefined in majority of States, creating the possibility of parallel lines of control ensuing from PRIs and education bureaucracy respectively. Very often, the dual control creates an element of tension.

For example, the DPEP, as a centrally sponsored scheme of the Government of India in some selected districts of the country, has put in place a new framework for management of primary education at the district level. This programme functions with considerable autonomy and has the objective of involving the community in an active manner. The relative flexibility of the programme, some scholars hold, has produced satisfactory results. However, since the DPEP (it is also a time-bound project) operates under an independent set of rules that are quite distinct from those of the regular administrative set-up in the non-DPEP districts, this programme not only creates parallel structures, but also more critically, accentuates the much-mentioned problem of integrating democratic control (of elected leaders) with bureaucratic supervision (by the administrative staff) at the district level.

Clearly, decentralisation through the PR system is distinct from delegation of administrative powers from higher to lower levels of bureaucracy. But the two strands of reform must blend together under the overall leadership of elected bodies in order for genuine transformation of schools and schooling to take place. Just as no rigid dichotomies are perceived in the relationship between democracy and bureaucracy at the Central and State-levels, at the local level of governance too, there is a clear possibility for collaboration and partnership between PR members and reform-minded fractions within the bureaucracy.

# 2.2. Inter-Governmental Assignment of Educational Responsibilities

To what extent are the education-related functions decentralized under the current reforms regime and how are they assigned to a host of institutional actors across various levels of government? While addressing these issues, we must recall that the degree of centralisation/decentralisation of decision-making may differ widely by specific function or component, even within a given inter-governmental'system of education. For example, curriculum decisions may be relatively more centralised, at the same time school construction may be almost entirely decentralised. As indicated before, the idea is to find out what kinds of functions are best handed at what level of government, keeping in mind considerations such as efficiency, economies of scale, equity goals of education etc.

TABLE 2
Assignment of Educational Responsibilities Among Various Levels of Government:
School Education in Tamil Nadu

Responsibilities	State Level	District Level	Sub-district level
Creation of New Teaching Posts	Х		
Establishing New Schools	Х		
Certifying Teachers	X		
Training Teachers	X	Х	Х
Setting Curriculum	X		
Selecting Text Books	Х		
Setting Equivalencies	Х		
Designing and Administering Incentive Schemes	Designing	Administering	
School Timing: Schedules. Days, Hours of Operation	Х		
Determining Class Size	Х		
Hiring and Firing Teachers	Х	Х	
Hiring and Firing Administrative Personnel	Х		
Transfer of Teachers	Х	Х	
Transfer of Administrative Personnel	Х		
Teacher Remuneration: Fixation and Disbursement	Fixation		Disbursement at the school level
Setting. Administering and Financing School Budget	Financing	Administering	Х
School Construction and Maintenance	Х	Х	

Source: Adapted from Govinda (1999), King and Ozler (2000) and Klugman (1997).

As an illustrative example, Table 2 summarises the details of functional allocation that currently prevails in the school education sector in Tamil Nadu. It is apparent that not only is curriculum preparation done by State-level boards, decisions regarding virtually all school related activities - pedagogic, administrative as well as financial - are centralised at the State level. Strictly speaking, teacher recruitment is a State level activity, but teachers are recruited to a district cadre and are transferable within the district. In this respect too, therefore, sub-State level actors exercise only limited power. School construction and maintenance is one among a handful of functions that is vested with the sub-district level authorities. In States like Tamil Nadu, the elected LBs as well as the local administration (especially at the sub-district level) are still treated mainly as the implementing agencies for plans and decisions taken at higher levels. However, there exist considerable inter-State variations in this respect.

### 2.3. PRIs and Teacher Management

We now move on to what lies at the heart of the school education system, namely teaching. Can institutions of local governance provide an incentive-compatible system that encourages teachers' professionalism, performance and accountability? For parents, the ideal is to have teachers who actively engage themselves in teaching activities and provide high-quality education to their children. For that purpose, it is important to decide at which level of governance, the management and supervision of teachers should rest. This involves, for example, the setting of teaching standards, the establishment of teachers' training, recruitment, pay, promotion etc. Attempts are under way to decentralise many of these managerial responsibilities of the education sector and some have indeed produced encouraging results.

However, some areas of concern still endure and need to be resolved. For example, local bodies in more disadvantaged areas may find it hard to attract qualified teachers (this will certainly have implications for inter-regional disparity). Again, setting salaries at the local level may have detrimental effects on teacher quality; similarly, employment of cheap teachers on a part-time basis (a likely fallout of localised needs and capacities) may cause 'creeping casualisation' in the teaching service.

Also at issue is the unstated assumption of dual allegiance of teachers to PRIs as well as to the education department. If teachers are deputed/transferred from the department to LBs, whom will they report to? - PRIs or the education department. Particularly contentious is the issue of delegating to PRIs the authority for promotion and transfer of teachers and disciplinary actions against them. In general, teachers do not like to be brought under the control of LBs; they are not in favour of shifting power in this regard

from distant central authorities to local agencies (Govinda, 1997). The situation gets even more complicated because of increased politicisation of teachers' unions.<sup>\*</sup>

Apart from these managerial issues, there remains the endemic problem of teacher absenteeism and shirking in rural India. As the PROBE survey of schools in some selected States of North India reveals, at the time of the investigators' visit, one-third of the headmasters were absent, one-third of the schools had a single teacher present, and about half of the schools had no teaching activity going on (Dreze and Kingdon, 1999). Talking about this persistent problem Dreze and Sen (1999, p.389) perceptively observe, "...it is difficult to see how [this problem] can be successfully tackled without involving the proximate agency of village communities. Shirking cannot be easily detected by distant outsiders, and the system of centralized school inspection has proved quite ineffective in much of rural India. It is much easier for the concerned parents and other local residents to monitor the behaviour of school teachers." It is in this context that the PRIs can play an important role in providing an institutional mechanism to ensure the accountability of village teachers to the local community.<sup>o</sup>

But how exactly is the specific knowledge of the local community and PRIs vis-a-vis school functioning and teacher activities to be translated into remedial action? This is a 'challenging problem of local governance'. Put more elaborately, in order to improve teacher attendance and accountability via local monitoring, it would be counter-productive to adopt a thoroughly anti-teacher stance. After all, there exists no foolproof method of monitoring teachers, because teacher effort belongs to a class of 'complex contracts' that are unavoidably incomplete; it is ultimately a product of teachers' initiatives, motivation and professionalism. As Kirkman (2001, **p**.3) rightly points out, "we do need to recognize...that we shall not enhance the quality of education in our schools..., if we always think the worst of our teachers." Therefore, local vigilance and monitoring could work to weaken the endemic dereliction of duties on the part of teachers by involving them in schooling matters and making greater professional demand on them, and certainly not by alienating them from their work.

There is indeed a skeptical view about the current enthusiasm for reforms in the education sector which warns us against the possibility of de-institutionalising and deprofessionalising the system, in the name of localising educational decisions (Sharma, 2000; Kumar, Priyam and Saxena, 2001). There is a tendency, it is argued, to undervalue the critical role of a good teacher and her professional skills in a decentralised school

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> There appears to be a conflict of interest between politicians (let alone between administrators and elected leaders) at two levels of government, that is to say, between State-level politicians and PRI leaders. Because, for the State-level politicians, teachers' unions provide a source of manpower which can be used for promoting politicians' own interests (For an interesting discussion of this point, see Kingdon and Muzammail, 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> This of course implies a related challenge of how to integrate the respective roles, in education management, of PRIs, local communities and school level actors in a manner which facilitates the expansion of educational opportunities. We discuss this point later.

system, in the process of reposing our confidence in community control. An effective reformist project, therefore, will have to ensure the collective engagement of all the critical groups - teachers, PRI leaders, parents and the larger community - in a common endeavour to transform the school system. As Hannaway (1993) astutely observes in her discussion of American public schools, the bad work of teachers in public schools is often not criticised or corrected; teachers' efforts often are not well directed not because they are over-regulated but because 'they are ignored'. Hence, shifting from a regulated centralised model of schools to a more decentralised set up would produce desired results only when our attention is turned to this major lacuna of the existing school system, namely, the alienation of teachers from their work and the absence of professional challenges before them. Just as local pressure and vigilance is critical for making it socially compelling for teachers to pay attention to their central functions, namely, coming to school regularly and engaging in active teaching when present, structural reforms that give teachers a sense of importance of their role in school transformation, and facilitate their professional exchanges around common teachinglearning objectives are quite certain to result in more effective schools than what the existing hierarchical structures do.

In a masterly analysis of two successfully decentralised school districts in the U.S., Hannaway (ibid) draws our attention to one of the key elements that has accompanied decentralisation in these two experiments, namely, the considerable extent to which the new arrangements have generated interactions among teachers and other school-level actors around technical and professional issues. This aspect, she convincingly argues, is central to the effectiveness of these projects. In her revealing words (p. 154), "In both districts, teachers are stimulated, prodded and supported [at times by national and Statelevel education reform groups] to reflect with each other about their work and to act together on ways to make it better.... Technical interactions., 'control' the behaviour of school level actors through peer pressure and peer monitoring of quality. In both districts, professional interactions make teachers more aware of the professional views of other teachers. The public nature of much of teachers' professional lives in these two districts undoubtedly affects the behaviour and the seriousness of purpose with which teachers attend to their work. For this reason it might be argued that high levels of technical interaction among teachers reduce the agency problems that are commonly assumed to accompany decentralization [that is to say, any divergence of interests between the school district and individual teachers]."10

Simply put, decentralisation reforms in education, to be effective, should at once facilitate 'sdcial control' of school level actors by parents, local residents and local communities as well as promote 'mutual control' of teachers through greater professional exchanges and interactions among them.

" The original proposal for establishing the District Institute of Educational Training (DIET) in each district of India was also inspired by similar expectations. Comments along these lines were made by A. Rampal in a national seminar on primary schooling held recently in New Delhi.

# 2.4. PRIs, Education Professionals and the Public: A Possible Synergy of Action

Education decentralisation through PRIs is something more than just school-site autonomy and management;" in addition to school level actors (teachers and principals), it involves a host of other bodies created at the district and block levels such as VECs, school cluster committees, PTAs, academic and expert groups and departments. Achieving synergy in aims and actions of such a motley group of institutions and actors starting from elected bodies to user groups, school specific actors, village-level agencies to supra-local educational functionaries and so on - is a major challenge of local governance. The areas of their respective jurisdiction are often not clear, creating an overlap of functions and infusing an element of tension into their interactions and power equations, especially in situations where different political parties are in power at different layers of governance.

One central issue which underlies these complexities relates to the respective roles in education governance of professionals, on the one hand, and parents and local patrons on the other. Pro-community reformers want a more direct link between schools and the 'people'. This itself is a good thing. However, an increasing enthusiasm for 'local' support and control in schooling matters often comes at the expense of a parallel doubt about any useful role for education professionals. As Tendler (1997) observes, in the decentralisation discourse, professionals are usually portrayed as obstructing reforms and greater local power is portrayed as a way of getting *around* professionals (p.14). In this view, public schools are to be treated as grass-root affairs, and, therefore, new governance structures must be designed that "hold schools accountable to their clients, rather than to their bureaucratic and technocratic superiors. Put simply, the overbureaucratised institution (along with its professionals) is the problem and the community is the solution.

When schools are decentralised, parents and patrons can call the shots. Elmore (1993, p.90) summarises this argument in the North American context thus, "If the community and the parents of school age children had more voice in the schooling enterprise, then there would be more parental satisfaction with the schools and more commitment to the educational process. The result would be improved education attainment. The democratization of the governance process and the representation of parental and community interests would lead to improved schooling."

Focussing on the rural setting in India, Sen (2001) comments about a much lower involvement of parents from 'lowly' background in parent teacher meetings, and their severe under-representation in the VECs. "Those who most need that their 'voices' be heard lack that power fairly comprehensively" (p4), "One way of adding to the incentive system in schooling", Sen continues, "would be to give more legal power to the parents-

<sup>&</sup>quot; The major frameworks for studying educational decentralisation that have evolved in the U.S. focus on school site management (King and Ozler, 2000).

teachers committee, even perhaps making the renewal of school appropriations conditional on their approval. Since the parents-teachers committees are more specific to particular schools, in contrast with Village Education Committees (which have a specialized domain), the case for a fresh beginning by substantially broadening the parents-teachers committees in the operation of specific schools may be more plausible. For effectiveness, there would also be a need to establish firm guidelines on the representation of parents from different class backgrounds, and also some insistence on approvals being made in actual meetings rather than fictitious ones" (p.5).

Therefore, several qualifications are in order before we can gather a rounded view of the nature of partnership between the people and the professionals. First, it is naive to presume a strictly benign role for the community in school governance, without paying heed to the nature of community groups, the degree of cohesion among them, and, more generally, the oppressive class system of the Indian society. Second, no one can dispute the fact that professionals in the public sector have made governance difficult on various occasions, been reluctant to grant legitimacy to community inputs over and above their technocratic qualifications and have often imparted, rather arrogantly, a sense of powerlessness to users of public services. Yet one would have to also realise that technical knowledge and skill and institutional mechanisms around it are required for tasks such as formulation of curriculum, appointment of teachers, conducting examinations, training teachers etc.

Hence, it is entirely consistent with the view that education reforms should accommodate and be sensitive to local public interests to acknowledge that we need to draw upon the expertise and discretion of professional educators, especially those with a reformist bent. Parents and professionals need not be arch adversaries; it is indeed counter-productive to push for a false dichotomy between them. Stated differently, there is no 'one' best way to govern schools. It seems either of the following two statements -'people know the best' or 'experts know the best' - is myopic and extreme. Uttered too rigidly, both the views can be easily caricatured and turned into an absurd claim that either is redundant and dispensable.12 The real imperative is to combine parental and community concerns with educational expertise for effective school reforms. The challenge of local governance is to translate local participation and pressure into governance inputs, without necessarily de-professionalising school organisation and activities. The idea is not to displace professionalism but to activate public interest and involvement. There indeed remain instances of interaction (and overlap of concerns) of parents and local residents with reform-minded experts (such as the KSSP in Kerala) as well as with public education professionals with a reformist bent, leading to promising vistas in educational governance (Tharkan, 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Somewhat relatedly, even for voluntary organisations, a code of conduct is necessary. In this connection, see Bunker Roy. "NGOs too need a Code". The Indian Express, 29 December (8-9), 1993.

# 2.5. Distributive Outcomes of Decentralisation Reforms in Education

What effects structural changes (school restructuring) have on school functioning in terms of teaching-learning activities, classroom practices and student performance? As Weiler (1993, p.72) pointedly asks, "..under decentralized conditions do teachers teach what they are supposed to teach, students learn what they are supposed to learn and are the schools clean and the accounts properly kept?"

Our ultimate interest lies in the impact of decentralisation on the expansion of educational opportunities to *all* children. To put it simply, our distributional concerns prompt us to raise two basic questions. The first relates to the good old politico-economic question of who benefits. Is the main impact of decentralisation felt by the rich, with little opportunities 'trickling down' to the lower income groups? Alternatively, can decentralisation bring about substantial benefits to the poor? Second, in what terms are these alleged benefits to be reckoned?

Obviously, there is no easy way to measure educational outcomes following from decentralisation. This acknowledged, in somewhat more concrete terms, we may consider the relevant outcomes as those which: (a) increase access and utilisation on the part of poorer sections of the society (the equity effect); (b) improve student achievement (school effectiveness criteria); (c) reduce the unit cost of production and provision of educational services (the efficiency effect); and (d) put the educational needs of disadvantaged children at the centre stage of the political agenda (the broad political effect). Narrowing the focus even further, one may look into the impact of decentralisation of fiscal responsibilities and examine whether the revenue and expenditure decisions of local governments are more oriented towards education (and other human development goals) as compared to what would have resulted under a centralised system.

To be certain, evaluation is not a strictly technical and neutral activity; rather it is driven by our socio-political considerations. Expectedly, opinions diverge widely about the relative importance of the diverse fall-outs of decentralisation reforms. To quote Weiler (1993, pp.73.74) again, "Those whose children grow up in more privileged and stimulus-rich circumstances will judge an education system more by how well it cultivates outstanding talent and ability (excellence), while the parents of less privileged children will attach greater importance to the system's ability to foster more equitable learning opportunities for a larger number of people...[especially] larger groups of less privileged children."

Disagreements also persist on whether performance on standardised tests is the only legitimate measure of educational outcomes. Based upon an illuminating review of 'the school effectiveness research', Bashir (1995, pp.10-11) cautions us, ".. achievement tests were developed by educationists to monitor academic performance or diagnose educational problems. In the hands of economists and macro-policy makers in education, they have come to be interpreted as 'output' measures and are being used to influence resource allocation decisions. If questions of validity and bias were important

when the uses were purely educational, they are even more so when momentous decisions are being taken which may affect the life-chances of millions of young people."

To the extent the choice and interpretations of outcomes are determined by our social and political priorities (for example, a selective focus on either of the two competing goals of equity and achievement), an evaluation of governance reforms is bound to be limited. These inherent difficulties notwithstanding, we put forth a framework of evaluation, adapted from Klugman (1997), which is consistent with our ultimate interest in distributive outcomes, that is to say, outcomes that are positive in terms of human development concerns.

Ideally, we need to compare the above-mentioned diverse outcomes under two regimes, i.e., before or after decentralisation or alternatively between similar programmes run by central and local authorities. However, data limitations will hardly permit such strict comparability (op.cit). Also, it is notoriously difficult to disentangle the effect of decentralisation *per se* from other exogenous factors which would also influence educational outcomes. There is also the factor of time lag with which 'outcomes' are shaped by reforms.

Thus, while clear and unambiguous indicators of the impact of decentralisation will be hard to achieve, it is important to identify some relevant factors and 'possible causal links' that need to be traced in order to measure the effect of decentralisation on educational progress (Chart 2). The impact of reforms in the education sector may be seen to flow from three major sets of variables, namely, (a) budgetary allocations to LBs and fiscal arrangements; (b) organisation and utilisation of budgetary resources; and (c) participatory inputs and incentives." The first variable mainly affects the volume of resources available under decentralised conditions; the second provides the route through which funds will be actually utilised and technical effectiveness might be gained." The third variable aims to capture the dimension of participation of parents, teachers, PRI members and local residents in schooling matters and its effects on both fiscal decisions as well as other aspects of school functioning." The respective roles that various participatory institutions such as VECs, PTAs and teacher unions play in village school affairs strongly influence outcomes. Also, sometimes the unobservable or 'intangible inputs' like teacher motivation, parent-teacher co-operation etc. are more than tangible

<sup>&</sup>quot; There are of course wider exogenous macro-economic variables which are also likely to affect educational outcomes independently of decentralisation reforms, as also some household-related factors such as the rate of unemployment, parental education, income etc. These factors somehow need to be controlled for. in measuring the impact of decentralisation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Note, however, that there may well be central control on local decisions; as Klugman (1997) points out. wages, for example, may be centrally fixed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Indeed, what actually happens inside the school, what teaching-learning activity goes on inside the classroom, how much interaction takes place between parents and teachers - in short, the activities that lie at the heart of the school system - depend not only on budgetary allocations and their use but equally crucially on the so-called participatory inputs and incentives.

# Chart 2: Distributive Impact of Educational Decentralisation

Extent & Impact of Decentralization

External Effects

Budget Allocations

Cent. Govt Revenues Local Govt. Revenues User Fees Earmarked Funds Use & Organization of Budgetary Resources

Wage-setting Employment Policies

Input Choices:

Equipment

Buildings

Organization:

Management Responsibilities

Staffing

Books

Inputs &Incentives

Participatory

VEC PTA Teacher Unions Unobservables: P-T Cooperation Other Govt. Policies: General Tax & Transfer

Macro Factors: Unemployment HH Income Parent Education Demographic Factors

Process Indicators

Teacher-Student Ratios, Enrolment Rates, Retention Rates, Teacher Attendance Rates, Teacher Effort, Teaching-Learning Activities

Outcomes

Educational Attainment -Overall Literacy Rates -Learning Outcomes e.g., Exam results Distribution of Education Levels by Income, rural/urban, Family Size, Gender, Etc.

Efficiency of Productioni.e., Unit costs per degree of educational attainment

Ultimate interest in a Democratic Social Norm: education on the political agenda

Quality Education for All

Source: Adapted from Klugman (1977)

resources which make a big difference to achievement performance of students (Dreze and Kingdon, 1999).

All the three sets of variables are thought to affect outcomes through various process indicators such as school enrolment, attendance and retention rates of students, teacher attendance, involvement etc. It is not surprising that researchers have focused a great deal on these intermediate variables. But we need to progress beyond them and pay attention to outcome variables as well. Incorporating criteria of both equity and efficiency, we may consider both overall education attainment as well as its distribution, disaggregated by the level of income, rural/urban residence, gender, family size, social groups etc. Finally, the efficiency of provision and production of knowledge may be measured through an analysis of the unit cost of production in a decentralised setting as compared to the same in a more centralised set up.

In brief, subsuming all of the above outcome measures, there remains a larger political question (and correspondingly, the possibility of a wider political development): whether and how institutions of local democracy help shape the broad purpose of public education; whether PRI politics induces local participation and creates pressure in favour of expansion of educational opportunities and thereby works to combat the chronic neglect of basic education in rural India; and finally, whether the local political agenda is infused with an element of radicalism which in turn generates a democratic claim of basic education as a right of every child. In operational terms, we may investigate whether under a decentralised regime such concerns exercise a strong influence on the making of local public policy.

In this paper, we have not dealt with one important aspect of decentralisation in education, namely, fiscal decentralisation (i.e., reassignment of revenue-raising and expenditure responsibilities form the central and regional to local governments). We only make a very brief mention of the following points. In our country, regional governments are primarily responsible for financing elementary and secondary education, although strictly speaking there exists a mixed system, including central government financing/revenue-sharing programmes/categorical grants etc. To shift part of the burden of support for elementary and secondary education to local governments and even to local communities is viewed by many as reasonable. However, as Klugman (1997, p.6) responsibly qualifies this view, "While some view local authority to raise revenue as a necessary element of devolution..., it is not a sufficient condition for effective decentralization...central financial transfers play a critical role in determining the impact of decentralization...[on school participation]." Also, arguments for fiscal self-sufficiency have to be weighed against parallel concerns for regional disparities in fiscal capacity, tax base etc. and their effect on quality and quantity of education.

### 2.6. PRIs, the Local Elite and Public Schools

A note of caution is apposite here. Locally elected bodies may be run in the interests of the dominant classes in land and wealth; they may indeed fail to throw up any new

political leadership and instead work to strengthen the grip of the extant rural elite. They may fail to unleash a process of radical politics in favour of quality schooling for all (Narain, 1972). Given the entrenched and highly unequal nature of power in large parts of the country, the *capture* of PRIs by the local elite is sadly plausible. As several empirical studies have noted, effective representation in local bodies is mostly by landed people and the economically ascendant class having better education, and not by groups such as agricultural labourers or illiterate people. This stands as reminder that there is no guarantee of linear progression to democracy as we proceed progressively downwards from the centre to the State to sub-State levels.

Similar points have been made by several scholars. While it is often assumed that decentralisation will enhance representative democracy, Binswanger notes that "[g]iving greater voice to lower-level political institutions...[also] run[s] the risk of entrenching further local, often highly unequal, power structures and worsening income inequalities." (as quoted in Tendler, 1997). In a similar vein, James Madison in *Federalist Papers* underlined the significance of the federal system which allows, through checks and balances in the allocation of power, citizens who feel that they have been poorly treated at one level of government to have redress at other levels, (op.cit.).

Indeed, PRI politics can be thought to be a microcosm of supra-local politics; "..there are as many opportunities for local government as for central government to engage in rent-seeking and other undesirable behavior." (Tendler, p.7) "The [current] enthusiasm for decentralization", she continues, "...assumes that giving more power and responsibility to local government goes along with all other good things, including greater representation for the poor and servicing of their needs." (p.1 1) But *in reality, all good things do not move together*. However, the possibility that elite domination can impede participatory democracy need not make us overly anxious about the limits of decentralisation, because all the three tiers of government are prone to similar problems (Majumdar, 2000).. And it cannot be established *a priori* that the vulnerability of local government is 'fitter for democracy' than the other. The central and State governments, Tendler (1997. p.7) rightly points out, themselves are rife "...with the clientelism...that [they] fear in local government."

<sup>&</sup>quot; While assessing the relative capture of local and central governments, Bardhan and Mukherjee (1999), however, claim that comparatively speaking LBs suffer from greater vulnerability to capture by local elites, due to greater cohesion and overlap of interests among local elite groups, lesser degree of electoral competition in local politics etc. However, a process of social churning has started taking place in different parts of rural India and consequently cracks have started developing among the local elite too; their interests do not neatly converge any more, nor does their dominance, in terms of land ownership and other economic wherewithal, remain intact. The exercise of power by the dominant class/caste is being challenged in different corners of the country by sub-altern classes and stands somewhat weakened. The scholarly works brought together in two edited Volumes by Frankel and Rao (1989, 1990) focus on this phenomenon of the decline of dominance'. I am grateful to A. Vaidyanathan for very helpful discussions on this point.

institutions need not detract us from stressing that there is an analogue at the higher levels also. On a more positive note, we recall what Rabindranath Tagore said, in the context of India's demand for independence from the colonial rule, "It is the opportunity for self-determination which gives training for self-determination." (as quoted in Dutt and Robinson, 2000). Thus, as the PR initiatives create the potential for accommodating wider local interests, ordinary citizens will eventually be able 'to articulate their own interests and develop their own leadership'.

## 3. Concluding Remarks

The exercise undertaken here has only scratched the surface of the implications of educational decentralisation. While there is nothing dramatically new about the observations made here, the paper attempts to develop a perspective to improved local government in general and improvement in public schools, in particular, that differs somewhat from the current thinking about decentralisation. It suggests an explicit human development approach to thinking about decentralisation reforms, by placing at the heart of the enquiry, the nature and extent of democratic involvement of the poor in the reform process.

Without attempting to summarise the arguments made above, we are now in a position to draw the important points together.

First, decentralisation initiatives are to be seen as a programme within a multilayered political system which functions at local, provincial and national levels, and not as a closed narrowly parochial stand-alone governance regime, as some advocates of decentralisation seem to claim.

Second, the participation of the historically subordinate social classes/castes in the newly reformed structure of governance is a key parameter, over and above the legal reforms. That is to say, the broad social and political process, taking place both inside and outside of the constitutional framework, is quite central to the question of improvement of local democracy. The Constitutional Amendment is to be seen as only a necessary condition to bring into existence vibrant local governments. While discussing the promises that the recent legislative reforms hold, Dreze and Sen (1999, p.392) insightfully comment, "...if they [legal reforms] go hand in hand with an expansion of gublic initiatives and social movements..., a stronger political organisation of disadvantaged groups and a more vigorous challenge to social inequalities, they would represent a real opportunity to transform local politics in rural India."

Third, deriving from the second, the purpose of democratic decentralisation is to improve the complementarity between the state and society and not to advocate a zerosum opposition between the two; neither is it 'to remove the state from involvement in development' (Webster 1995, p.32). While discussing the livelihood concerns of marginalised people in selected Third World cities, Evans (2000) makes a similar point about the need to highlight, in discussions of local governments, the possibility of complementary contributions from different organisations and groups inside and outside

of the state. In his revealing words (p.21), "state-society synergy' is not just an abstract concept. It is shorthand for the myriad concrete relationships of mutual support that connect communities, NGOs and social movements with individuals and organizations inside the state who put a priority on livelihood and sustainability." However, he also admits, "...innumerable opportunities for building ties, making connections and exploiting potential synergies are being overlooked...Technocrats underestimate the extent to which they need communities; community leaders dismiss those working in the state as bureaucrats and NGOs dismiss ordinary citizens and technocrats as pedestrian and shortsighted" (p.23). Evaluating the urban poverty alleviation programmes in an Indian city, de Wit (1997, p. 35) underlines in a similar vein the importance of cooperation and interaction among multiple actors, "Ultimately policy implementation takes place at the local grass-root level, in local arena where local agencies, bureaucrats, local elites, politicians, land owners, speculators, contractors, NGOs and social workers operate." It is the challenge of local governance to harness such joint initiatives and activities for human development purposes.

Finally, in the specific sector of education, the task seems to be to align decentralisation reforms with the broad purpose of public schooling, which embodies a strong commitment to social justice and a generous vision of a decent future for all citizens." In other words, the purpose of educational decentralisation is not to remove public institutions from involvement in educational matters but to improve public performance. And democratic decentralisation is one important means by which this can be hopefully achieved.

The 'vision' that currently enervates our school system is that 'education is not for *their* (read subaltern) children'. This narrow conception of schooling rears a callous attitude towards the current ills of the public school system (upon which children from the disadvantaged background mostly depend) which develops into a readiness to even allow the entire system to collapse. To energise the public school system, we need a generous vision of 'the common school', we need to redefine the purpose of public schooling. And it is here that the contemporary effort to promote participatory democracy under the aegis of PRIs presents before us some reformatory possibilities.

Reforming public schools through the channel of decentralisation will require at least two things: (a) re-examination of the harsh criticism of public schools currently in vogue; and (b) involvement of the public in schooling matters. Often a strong case is made for dismantling public schools. It is as if the present system is 'structurally incapable' of correcting its deficiencies, leaving us with the unique option of private schools. However, there does not exist a private solution for every public deficiency. Hence, even without any prejudices against private initiatives, our aim should be to improve and not to abandon the public school system. Also, to extend the 'public' character of public

<sup>17</sup> For an illuminating discussion of a generous conception of educational purpose (i.e., public schools - public in support and control - should be open to all children), see Barber (1997), Tyack (1993), Carnoy (1993) and Kumar (1998).

schools, decentralisation reforms may act as a means of putting education in the hands of the people - the people as parents and community members who have a direct interest in specific schools as well as the people meaning the broader community of citizens with general interest in the entire school system.

Simply put, we envision a possibility of the 'transformation of the school system' under decentralised conditions. Of course, in this paper we have covered only a few of the many subjects that need to be addressed for a meaningful discussion on school transformation. For example, we have to deal with the nuts and bolts of the school system under a decentralised regime and examine the effects, under the changed organisational arrangements, of school inputs, pedagogic practices and teacher attributes on student achievement and contrast these with the agenda pursued by central educational agencies and the corresponding outcomes. Our analysis is certainly limited in these respects.

However, we have touched upon one important issue. We have tried to argue that the analysis of school transformation will hold limited utility unless we consider it as a part of a more general project of social and political transformation, likely to be galvanised through the process of decentralisation. Simply put, if decentralization fosters democracy, it may have, what Sen (1999) calls, a 'constructive' role in the very conceptualization of what is to count as a democratic social norm of education. Hopefully, local democratic institutions and the participatory spaces they open up will influence partisan competition and electoral battles in particular and the public discourse in general in such a way that a progressive education agenda is imposed on state policy both at the local as well as supra-local levels.

### References

- Barber, Benjamin R., (1997) "Education for Democracy", *The Good Society*, Vol.7, No.2, Spring, pp. 1\*7.
- Bardhan, Pranab and Dilip Mookherjee, (1999) "Relative Capture of Local and Central Governments: An Essay in the Political Economy of Decentralization", mimeo.
- Bashir, Sajitha, (1995) "Analysis of the Determinants of Learning Achievement: How Useful for Policy and Planning?" paper presented at a *Seminar on School Quality in India*, NIEPA, 147 16 November, New Delhi.
- Carnoy, Martin, (1993) "School Improvement: Is Privatization the AnswerT, in Hannaway and Carnoy (eds.).
- De Wit, Joop W., (1997) "Decentralization, Empowerment and Poverty Alleviation in Urban India: Roles and Responses of Government, NGOs and Slum Communities", Institute of Social Studies, The Hague, *Working Paper Series*, No. 267.
- Dreze, Jean and Geeta Gandhi Kingdon, (1999) "School Participation in Rural India", *Working Paper no.* 69, Centre for Development Economics, Delhi School of Economics, Delhi.
- Dreze, Jean and Amartya Sen, (1999) "Public Action and Inequality", Chapter 13, in *Illfare in India: Essays on India's Social Sector in Honour of S. Guhan*, edited by Barbara Harriss-White and S. Subramanian, Sage Publications, New Delhi.

- Elmore, Richard F., (1993) "School Decentralization: Who Gains? Who Loses?", in Hannaway and Carnoy (eds.).
- Evans, Peter, (2000) "Ecologies of Local Political Actors and the Struggle for Livability in Third World Cities", Paper presented at an international conference on Democratic Decentralisation, State Planning Board, Thiruvananthapuram, Kerala, May 23-27.
- Govinda, R. (ed.), (1997) Decentralization of Educational Management: Experience from South Asia, International Institute for Educational Planning, Paris.
- —, (1997) "Decentralized Management of Primary Education in South Asia: Policy and Practice".
- --, (1999) "Dynamics of Decentralized Management and Community Empowerment in Primary Education: A Comparative Analysis of Policy and Practice in Rajasthan and Madhya Pradesh", Paper presented at the NASEDEC Conference on Basic Education for All: A Global Concernfor Quality, Abo Akademi University, Vasa, May.
- Gupta, Deepak, (1996) "State Panchayati Raj Legislations and Decentralisation of Management of Education", *Background Paper*, in ISS.
- Hannaway, Jane, (1993) "Decentralization in Two School Districts: Challenging the Standard Paradigm", in Hannaway and Carnoy (eds.).
- Hannaway, Jane and Martin Carnoy (eds.). (1993) Decentralization and School Improvement: Can We Fulfil the Promise?, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco.
- Institute of Social Sciences (ISS), (2000) Status of Panchayati Raj in the States and Union Territories of India, Concept Publishing House, New Delhi,.
- --, (1996) "Restructuring of Elementary, Primary and Non-Formal Education in the Context of the New Panchayati Raf Commission Reports, Manuscript Report 8.
- King, Elizabeth M. and Berk Ozler, (2000) "What's Decentralization Got to Do with Learning? Endogenous School Quality and Student Performance in Nicaragua", World Bank, mimeo, October.
- Kingdon, Geeta Gandhi and Mohd Muzammil, (2001) "A Political Economy of Education in India 1: The Case of UP I and II", *Economic and Political Weekly*, Vol. 36, Nos. 32 & 33, August 11 & 18, pp. 3052-3063.
- Kirkman, Bill, (2001) "Teaching Teachers to Teach", *The Hindu*, Sunday Magazine, December 2, ,p.3.
- Klugman, Jeni, (1994) "Decentralization: A Survey of Literature from a Human Development Perspective", Human Development Report Office, Occasional Papers, No. 13, New York,.
- -, (1997) "Decentralization: A Survey from a Child Welfare Perspective", Innocenti Occasional Paper, Economic and Social Policy Series, EPS 61, UNICEF, International Child Development Centre, Florence, Italy,.
- Kumar, Krishna, Manisha Priyam and Sadhna Saxena, (2001) "Looking beyond the Smokescreen: DPEP and Primary Education in India", *Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 36, No. 7, February 17, pp. 560-568.
- Lewis, Dan A., (1993) "Deinstitutionalisation and School Decentralization: Making the Same Mistake Twice", in Hannaway and Carnoy (eds.).
- Majumdar, Manabi, (2000) "Contours of Decentralisation", The Hindu, 27 December.
- Narain, Iqbal, (1972) "Rural Politics and Primary School Management", in Education and Politics in India: Organization, Society and Politics, S.H. Rudolph and L.I. Rudolph (eds.), Oxford University Press, Delhi.

- Nuna, Sheel C, (1997) "Decentralized Management in Primary Education in Maharashtra", in Govinda (ed.).
- PROBE Team, (1999) Public Report on Basic Education in India, Oxford University Press, New Delhi.
- Rajasekhar, D., M.K. Bhat and Neil Webster (eds.), (1995) People-Centred Rural Development: NGDOs and Decentralised Government, ISEC, Bangalore, Centre for Development Research, Copenhagen, Denmark, Bangalore Consultancy Office, Bangalore, NOVIB, The Hague, The Netherlands.
- Rampal, Anita, (2002) "Texts in Context: Development of Curricula, Textbooks, and Teaching Learning Materials", in *India Education Report: A Profile of Basic Education*, edited by R. Govinda, NIEPA and Oxford University Press, New Delhi.
- Sen, Amartya, (1999) "Democracy as a Universal Value", *Journal of Democracy*, Vol. 10, No.3, pp.3-17.
- --, (2001) "The Delivery of Primary Education: Preliminary Findings of Pratichi Bhavan", Santiniketan Website.
- Sharma, Rashmi, (2000) "Decentralisation, Professionalism and the School system in India", Economic and Political Weekly, Vol. 35, No. 42, pp. 3765-3774.

Tendler, Judith, (1997) "Decentralization, Participation and Other things Local", mimeo.

- Tharakan, P.K. Michael, (2000) "Community Participation in Education: Experiments and Experiences under People's Planning Campaign in Kerala", International Conference on Democratic Decentralisation, May 23-27, State Planning Board, Thiruvananthapuram.
- Tyack, David, (1993) "School Governance in the United States: Historical Puzzles and Anomalies", in Hannway and Carnoy (eds.).
- Webster, Neil, (1995) "A Conceptual Approach to NGDOs and Panchayat Raj in Rural Development" in Rajasekhar et al (eds.).
- Weiler, Hans N., (1993) "Control versus Legitimation: The Politics of Ambivalence", in Hannaway and Carnoy (eds.).
- Winkler, Donald R., (1993) "Fiscal Decentralization and Accountability in Education: Experiences in Four Countries", in Hannaway and Carnoy (eds.).

Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4. October 2003, pp. 507-528

# Universalisation of Secondary Education Can it be achieved in the Near Future?

# Arun C. Mehta\*

## Abstract

Ever since the Constitution was adopted in 1950, the focus of educational has remained on elementary education. The constitutional programmes commitment being free and compulsory education to all children up to the age fourteen, all efforts aimed at achieving the goal of universal elementary However, despite significant progress in every sphere of elementary education. education, the goal to achieve universal elementary enrolment is still a far distant dream. Within elementary education, primary education remained in the focus all through. The coverage of District Primary Education Programme (DPEP) also remained limited to the primary level only. Of late, upper primary education now has started getting attention of the planners and policy makers. The DPEP is being extended to the upper primary level initially in the phase one 52 districts. Sporadic attempts have been made in the past to consider both primary and upper primary education as one component. The Bihar Education Project and the World Bank Uttar Pradesh Basic Education Project considered the entire elementary education as one unit. The new initiative, namely the Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan (SSA) also envisages the entire- elementary education as one The Government recently constituted a task force on secondary component. education. Otherwise, secondary education had never been in the focus as all the activities remained concentrated on elementary education. There is now at least some mention of Universalisation of Secondary Education also.

# Introduction

Like other levels of school education, a significant progress has also been made in various spheres of secondary education. More than 84 per cent habitations in 1993-94 had a secondary school/section within a distance of 8 km as compared to 70 per cent within 5 km. The number of unserved habitations declined from 21 per cent in 1986-87 to 15 per cent in 1993-94. During 1950-51 to 1999-2000, the number of secondary and higher secondary schools increased from 7 thousand to 117 thousand. The increase (over 16 times) is much more rapid than the corresponding increase in primary (3 times) and upper primary (14 times) schools. In the latest decade (1990 to 99), more than 37 thousand

<sup>\*</sup> National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration, New Delhi - 110016 E-mail: <u>arunmehta@niepa.org</u>

### 508 Universalislion of Secondary Education

secondary and higher secondary schools were opened. The ratio of upper primary to secondary schools also improved from 1.83 in 1950-51 to 1.69 in 1999-2000.

The number of secondary and higher secondary teachers increased from 127 thousand in 1950-51 to 1,720 thousand in 1999-2000. Despite increase in the number of teachers, pupil-teacher ratio increased from 21:1 in 1950-51 to 32:1 in 1999-2000 indicating significant increase in enrolment at this level. From a low 1.5 million in 1950–51, it has now increased by more than 19 times to 28.2 million in 1999-2000. The girls' enrolment during the same period increased from 13 per cent to about 38 per cent. Enrolment in secondary and higher secondary level increased by almost double the rate than the increase in primary enrolment. The Gross Enrolment Ratio, though low, improved from 19.3 per cent in 1990-91 to 30.0 per cent in 1993-94 and further to 41.2 per cent in 1998-99. Almost 50 per cent children of age group 14-17 years were attending schools in 1995-96. Retention rate (I to IX) also improved but it is still low at 27 per cent. Transition rate from upper primary to secondary level is as high as 83 per cent.

Like enrolment and teachers, facilities in secondary schools over a period of time also improved impressively. The majority of secondary schools have now got school buildings (69 per cent). The average number of instructional rooms in a secondary school is as high as 8. More schools have got drinking water (41 per cent), urinal (77 per cent) and lavatory (57 per cent) facilities. More than 63 per cent schools have got furniture for teachers and almost the same percentage science laboratories. Plan allocation on secondary education increased from Rs. 20 crore during the First Plan to more than Rs. 2,600 crore in the Ninth Plan. However, expenditure on secondary education always remained below one per cent of the GDP.

Like secondary level, impressive progress has also been made both at the primary and upper primary levels of education. But despite all these significant achievements, the goal of universal elementary education (UEE) still remains out of sight without which the goal of universal secondary education also cannot be achieved.

## **Study Alternatives**

An attempt has been made in this article to project enrolment in secondary classes. By using five alternatives, enrolment in Grade IX and total secondary enrolment (Grades IX-X) has been projected up to the year 2015. The existing set of enrolment projections (Mehta, 1998; Varghese and Mehta, 1999) have been extensively used in projecting secondary enrolment. Attempt has also been made to analyze implications of UEE on secondary education in terms of enrolment. Needless to mention that secondary education cannot be expanded unless upper primary education system sends adequate number of elementary graduates to the secondary level. Once the students complete elementary education, they are expected to transit to secondary level. An attempt has also been made here to see how students transact between secondary classes. For this purpose, transition rate from upper primary to secondary level and between secondary grades have been computed and analyzed. Trends in enrolment from primary to secondary level are also

Arun C. Mehta 509

analyzed for which a long time series is constructed. The following five alternatives have been used to project enrolment in secondary classes:

- Alternative I: in Proportion of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment;
- Alternative II: UEE, if achieved by 2010;
- Alternative III: Based on past growth rates;
- Alternative IV: Grade IX enrolment in relation to enrolment in Grade I; and
- Alternative V: Universal Secondary Enrolment, if achieved, by 2015.

# Data Used

Though the focus here is on secondary level, wherever necessary, information pertaining to lower levels, such as upper primary and primary levels have also been presented and analyzed. However, analysis is confined only to the all-India level. The analysis presented and projections made are based on the publications of the NCERT and MHRD. *Education in India* and *Selected Educational Statistics* of the MHRD have been extensively utilized. In addition, population projections provided by the *Standing Committee of Experts on Population Projections* have also been used in carrying out enrolment projections. Since the Standing Committee estimates are based on the population data up to the 1991 Census, the same needs revision. However, a cursory look at the projected and actual population noticed between the two estimates is not significant.

# Age-Specific Child Population

The total population of India of 846 million in 1991 increased at an annual rate of 1.95 per cent to 1,027 million in 2001 (against projected 1,012 million). A perusal of Table 1 reveals that irrespective of the age group, population is likely to increase during the period 1991-2001. However, the same trend may not continue during the following decade i.e. 2001-2011 as the population in age groups 6-11,11-14 and 14-16 years would start declining. However, population of age group 16-18 years is expected to increase marginally. The decline in population (6-11 years) indicates comparatively a lower clientele in 2011 than it was in 1991. However, this may not minimize the unfinished task of universal enrolment, as upper primary enrolment depends on primary graduates and not on population of age group 11-14 years. This is also true for secondary enrolment, which depends on upper primary graduates and not on population of age group 14-16 years.

During 1991-2001, child population (age group 6-11 years) might have increased at the rate of 0.13 per cent per annum (2001 Census figures are not yet available). The lower rate is due to decline in birth rate during the same period. During 2001 to 2011, population of age group 6-11 years is expected to decline at an annual rate of 0.80 per cent, all that supports a decline in the clientele population. It is not only that population of age group 6-11 years (during 2001-2011) would decline but its share to total

### 510 Universalistion of Secondary Education

population is also expected to decline by more than 4.50 percentage points. Individually, age groups 6-11 and 11-14 years had 116.71 and 53.01 million population in 1991, which is 13.79 and 6.26 per cent of the total population now is likely to decline to 9.25 and 5.30 percent in 2011.

			(Fig	ures in Millio
Age-group	1991	2001	2011	2016
6-11				
Boys	60.31	60.42	56.04	59.47
Girls	56.40	57.84	53.09	56.33
Total	116.71	118.26	109.13	115.80
11-14				
Boys	27.88	38.50	32.10	34.08
Girls	25.13	35.97	30.42	32.32
Total	53.01	74.47	62.52	66.40
14-16				
Boys	19.52	24.74	22.27	21.87 '
Girls	16.68	22.53	21.34	20.68
Total	36.20	47.27	43.61	42.51
16-18				
Boys	14.71	23.50	23.20	21.26
Girls	12.99	20.95	22.40	20.12
Total	27.70	44.45	45.60	41.38
<b>Total Population</b>	846	1012	1179	1264

TABLE 1Age-specific Child Population: 1991-2016

Source: Expert Committee on Population Projections as reported in the Selected Educational Statistics: 1999-2000, MHRD, Government of India, New Delhi, 2001.

In 1991, there were about 1,670 million children of age group 6-14 years compared to 36.20 and 27.70 million respectively of the age groups 14-16 and 16-18 years. It is estimated that there would be about 193 and 172 million children of age group 6-14 years respectively in the years 2001 and 2011. Age groups 14-16 and 16-18 years had 63.90 million children in 1991, which might have increased to 91.77 million in 2001 are likely to decline to 89.21 million in 2011. Individually, age groups 14-16 and 16-18 years would have an estimated population of 47.27 and 44.45 million in 2001 and 43.61 and 45.60 million in 2011. The percentage share of 14-16 and 16-18 years to total population, which was 4.28 and 3.27 per cent in 1991, projected to increase to 4.67 and 4.39 per cent in 2001 would decline to 3.70 and 3.86 per cent the following decade. This indicates a growth of 2.70 and 4.84 per cent per annum during 1991-2001 respectively in the age groups of 14-16 and 16-18 years. The projected single age '6' population is presented in Table 2.

Ann C. Mehta 51 1

# TABLE 2Projected Population, Age '6': 1991-2016

			(Figures in Million)		
Year	Boys	Girls	Total		
1991	11.99	11.36	23.36		
2001	12.13	11.76	23.89		
2011	11.25	10.80	22.05		
2016	11.94	11.46	23.39		
2016	11.94	11.46	23.39		

Note: Projected on the basis of share of age '6' to total population (6-11 years) in 1991 and projected 6-11 population in different years.

### **Growth in Enrolment**

Enrolment during 1950-51 to 1999-2000 at different levels of school education is presented in Table **3.** A perusal of the Table reveals that irrespective of the level of education, enrolment has shown consistent and significant increase throughout this period. This is also true for girls' enrolment, which has increased at much faster rate than increase in boys' enrolment. Enrolment at the primary level increased from 19.2 million in 1950-51 to 97.4 million in 1990-91 and further to 113.6 million in 1999-2000. This shows that the same is increased by more than six times in a period of about fifty years. The girls' enrolment during the same period increased from 5.4 million in 1950-51 to 49.5 million in 1999-2000. In percentage terms, share of girls' enrolment increased from 28.13 percent in 1950-51 to 41.48 per cent in 1991 and further to 43.58 per cent in 1999–2000. The share of girls' enrolment at upper primary and high/higher secondary level increased from 16.13 to 40.38 per cent and 13.33 to 38.99 per cent during the same period. In the latest decade (1991 to 2000), enrolment at the primary level increased at the rate of  $\setminus$ .72 per cent compared to 2.40 and 4.43 per cent increase in upper primary and high and higher secondary enrolment.

Compared to primary and upper primary levels, enrolment at the secondary and higher secondary level initially had a low enrolment base. In 1950-51, total enrolment in secondary and higher secondary classes was only 1.5 million, of which girls constituted 13.33 per cent or 0.2 million in absolute terms. During 1991-2000, the same increased at the rate of 4.43 per cent per annum, which is more than double the increase in upper primary enrolment. During 1950-51 to 1999-2000, girls and overall secondary and higher secondary enrolment increased by more than 55 and 19 times This shows average growth of 8.52 and 6.17 per cent per annum which is higher than the corresponding growth in enrolment at other levels of school education.

# 512 Universalistion of Secondary Education

# TABLE 3 Growth in Enrolment: 1950-51 to 1999-2000

							(.	Figures in	n Million)
Year		Primar	v	L	Ipper Pri	mary	High/Hr. Secondary		
-	Girls	Total	% Girls	Girls	Total	% Girls	Girls	Total	% Girls
1951	5.4	19.2	28.13	0.5	3.1	16.13	0.2	1.5	13.33
1961	l'i .4	35.0	32.57	1.6	6.7	23.88	0.7	3.4	20.59
1971	21.3	57.0	37.37	3.9	13.3	29.32	1.9	7.6	25.00
1981	28.5	73.8	38.62	6.8	20.7	32.85	3.4	11.0	30.91
1991	40.4	97.4	41.48	12.5	34.0	36.76	6.3	19.1	32.98
1998	48.2	110.9	43.46	16.3	40.3	40.45	10.5	27.8	37.77
1999	49.5	113.6	43.58	17.0	42.1	40.38	11.0	28.2	38.99
Rate of									
Growth									
1951-1999	4.63	3.72	-	7.46	5.57	-	8.52	6.17	-
1991-2000	2.29	1.72	-	3.48	2.40	-	6.39	4.43	-

Source: Selected Educational Statistics: 1999-2000, MHRD, 2001. Growth rates calculated by the author.

TABLE 4 Gross Enrolment Ratio: 1950-51 to 1999-2000

Year		Primarv		Up	per Prim	arv	High/Hr. Secondary
	(Grades	I-V, 6-11	Years)	(Gra	des VI-V	111,	(Grades IX-XII,
				11	-14 Year	rs)	14-17 Years)
	Boys	Girls	Total	Boys	Girls	Total	Total
1950-51	60.6	24.8	42.6	20.6	4.6	12.7	NA
1960-61	82.6	41.4	62.4	33.2	11.3	22.5	10.6
1970-71	95.5	60.5	78.6	46.5	20.8	33.4	19.0
1980-81	95.8	64.1	80.5	54.3	28.6	41.9	17.3
1990-91	114.0	85.5	100.4	76.6	47.0	62.1	19.3
1998-99*	100.9	82.9	92.1	65.3	49.1	57.6	30.8**
1999-2000	104.1	85.2	94.9	67.2	49.7	58.8	30.0***

•Provisional thereafter, \*\* 1992-93, \*\*\* 1993-94

Source: Selected Educational Statistics: 1999-2000, MHRD, 2001; & Education in India: 1992-93 & 1993¬ 94, MHRD, New Delhi.

A perusal of Table 4 reveals that Gross Enrolment Ratio between the period 1950-51 to 1999-2000 improved significantly but the same is not adequate to attain the status of universal enrolment. As against GER of 100.4 and 62.1 per cent in 1990 at the primary and upper primary level, the corresponding ratio in 1999-2000 was 94.90 and 58.80 per cent. Compared to primary and upper primary levels, GER at high and higher secondary

Arun C. Mehta 513

level is quite low. In 1990-91, it was only 19.3 per cent but improved to 30.0 per cent in 1993-94. For the latest year, the same is estimated to be around 41 per cent. The NSSO data indicates a Gross Attendance Ratio of 51 and 32 per cent respectively in the classes 1X-X and XI-XII. Within these classes, a significant differential is noticed between boys/girls and rural/urban areas. The Net Attendance Ratio was low at 26 and 15 per cent respectively in the classes IX-X and XI-XII. This suggests that the majority of children of age groups 14-17 and 18-24 years in 1995-96 were not attending schools. The Age-specific Attendance Ratio was only 50 per cent; suggesting that 50 per cent of the population of age group 14-17 years were not attending schools and those attending may not necessarily be in the secondary classes.

### **Re-defining Universalisation**

The analysis presented above reveals that at all levels of school education, a significant progress in enrolment is achieved but a large number of children still remain out of school, their estimated number in 1999-2000 being about 67 million/6-14 years, (Mehta, 2002). Unless these children are brought under the education system, the goal of universal elementary education cannot be achieved.

It may, however, be noted that without attaining the status of universal primary enrolment, the goal of universal elementary education too cannot be achieved. Primary enrolment depends on 6-11 year population but the same is not true in case of the upper primary enrolment. Upper primary enrolment is not only a function of 11-14 year population but it is also a function of primary graduates. Only primary graduates can be admitted in upper primary classes. It is quite possible that many children of 11-14 years age group are out of the system; there may also be drop-out children; and a few of them may still be in primary classes. Without bringing these children to schools, the goal of universal elementary education cannot be realized. The upper primary level of education cannot be expanded in isolation of the primary level. This is also true for secondary level, which cannot be enrolled in Classes IX-X unless the goal of universal elementary education is achieved. Many children of this age group may still be in primary or upper primary classes or may even be out of school.

Thus, availability of graduates' (primary and upper primary) along with transition from primary to upper primary and upper primary to secondary level would decide the future expansion of upper primary and secondary levels of education. Further expansion of primary education and high transition from primary to upper primary level will generate more intensive demand for upper primary education to expand. Once the goal of universal elementary enrolment is realised, secondary level may then expect to receive a quantum jump in enrolment. This may happen in year 2010, if the goal of newly launched *Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan* is realised by that year.

## 5 14 Umversalistion of Secondary Education

# **Transition Rates**

The inter-stage transition rates i.e. transition from Grade V, the terminal grade of primary to Grade VI, the initial grade of upper primary education and transition from terminal grade of upper primary level i.e. Grade VIII to Grade IX, the initial grade of secondary level are presented in Table 5. A close scrutiny of the Table reveals that transition rate from primary to upper primary level has been reasonably high to start with and improved consistently. In 1998-99, transition rate from primary to upper primary level also remained high throughout the period from 1970-71 to 1998-99. In the latest year 1998-99, it is as high as 82.95 per cent with negligible boy/girl differential. The relatively high transition from primary to upper primary level and low gender difference suggest that unless the efficiency of primary education system is improved, the goal of universal elementary education cannot be realized. The efficiency of primary education system to expand. An inefficient primary education system will continue to send fewer primary graduates to the upper primary level.

TABLE 5 Transition Rates: 1970-71 to 1998-99

Year		Grade V	/VI		Grade Vl	ll/lX
	Boys	Girls	Total	Boys	Girls	Total
1970-71	86.80	74.08	82.56	-	-	-
1980-81	92.11	81.77	88.35	88.58	83.16	86.89
1981-82	93.77	86.41	91.10	88.67	81.67	86.47
1982-83	95.11	87.18	92.22	85.95	79.72	83.92
1983-84	92.89	86.71	90.62	86.14	81.56	84.64
1984-85	91.90	86.84	90.02	88.24	83.55	86.69
1985-86	90.79	82.01	87.45	83.93	79.02	82.28
1986-87	93.61	85.49	90.50	87.63	81.47	85.55
1987-88	91.59	83.56	88.50	84.13	79.75	82.63
1988-89	94.48	84.15	90.45	85.67	82.67	84.65
1989-90	98.32	91.30	95.56	89.37	84.64	87.72
1990-91	95.20	93.22	94.42	84.93	79.56	83.01
1991-92	87.00	83.00	85.00	79.30	70.49	76.05
1997-98*	89.00	91.00	86.00	86.34	82.64	84.89
1998-99	95.59	90.33	93.37	83.15	82.66	82.95

\*: Provisional thereafter

Source: Varghese & Mehta (1999); 1997-98 onwards computed by the author.

The transition between secondary and higher secondary grades (Table 6) reveals that majority of children transit from Grade IX to Grade X but the same is not true in case of promotion from Grade X to XI and Grade XI to XII. It has also been noticed that more

Ann C Mehta 5 15

girls transit from Grade IX to X and also from Grade X to XI. The promotion rate from Grade IX to X in 1998-99 was as high as 86.68 percent (Boys 85.13 and Girls 89.19 per cent). However, only 44.29 per cent children transited from Grade X to XI; thus contributing a lot to wastage in the system. On the other hand, majority of children transited from Grade XI to XII (95.52 per cent). Here again, more girls transited from Grade XI to XI has serious implications for universalisation of senior secondary education.

### TABLE 6

Grade-to-Grade Transition Rates between Secondary and Higher Secondary Grades

Year	Sex	IXtoX	XtoXI	XI to XII
1990-91	Boys	87.13	-	-
	Girls	89.56	-	-
	Total	87.95	-	-
1991-92	Boys	84.32	-	-
	Girls	81.74	-	-
	Total	83.44	-	-
1997-98	Boys	87.39	43.28	94.10
	Girls	90.66	44.22	93.79
	Total	88.62	43.63	93.98
1998-99	Boys	85.13	43.19	93.82
	Girls	89.19	46.06	98.30
	Total	86.68	44.29	95.52

Source: Calculated by the author on the MHRD data.

# **Enrolment Projections**

The techniques of enrolment projections can broadly be divided into two groups, namely mathematical and analytical techniques. Mathematical methods assume that past trend in enrolment would continue in the future. On the other hand, analytical techniques (based on 'student cohort' analysis) takes into account the demographic pressures on education. In the absence of the latest grade-specific enrolment, it is not possible to undertake analytical methods. Recently, Mehta (1998) projected enrolment both at the primary and upper primary levels of education by using trend and cohort analysis. In addition, Varghese and Mehta (1999) also projected enrolment in upper primary classes by using a set of alternatives.

# 516 Universalistion of Secondary Education

# TABLE 7 **Projected Enrolment: Primary Classes I-V**

(Figures in Million) Alternative Scenarios

Year	ear Alternative Scenarios							
		1	II		1	111		!V
	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls
2000-01	63.21	49.28	62.34	51.67	60.28	49.73	51.58	47.18
2005-06	62.27	50.92	60.43	51.98	53.67	48.33	53.47	48.32
2007-08	61.87	51.63	59.96	52.10	54.48	48.82	54.15	48.81
2008-09	61.69	52.01	59.84	52.16	54.49	48.90	54.18	48.90

Source: EFA in India: Enrolment Projections by Arun C. Mehta. NIEPA and Vikas, 1998, New Delhi.

Note: The projections should be examined in the light of period of the data used.

## (a) Primary and Upper Primary Level

By using Grade Transition method, Mehta (1998) used four alternative scenarios to project enrolment in primary classes. The projected figures are presented in Table 7. Varghese and Mehta (1999) projected upper primary enrolment on the basis of projected primary enrolment and percentage of upper primary to total primary enrolment. In the second alternative, trend analysis was carried out to project upper primary enrolment. In the third alternative, enrolment was projected on the basis of growth rates. As an alternative to the first three, in the last alternative, upper primary enrolment was projected on the basis of percentage share of Grade V enrolment to the total primary enrolment. The projections based upon the third and the fourth alternatives were noticed to be close, both in 2002-03 and 2008-09 (Table 7). The projected enrolment in upper primary classes is presented in Table 8.

TABLE 8
Projected Enrolment: Upper Primary Classes, VI - VIII
(Different Alternatives)

				(Figures in Million)	
Alternatives	2	002-03	2008-09		
	Enrolment	Enrolment Rate	Enrolment	Enrolment Rate	
1	45.25	63.41	52.18	81.76	
П	54.96	77.02	68.4	107.18	
III	50.23	70.39	60.16	94.27	
IV	50.02	70.1	63.04	98.78	
Age-specific Population 11-14 Years	71.36			63.82	

Source: Varghese & Mehta (1999), Universalisation of Upper Primary: Education in India: An Analysis of Present Status and Future Requirements, NIEPA, New Delhi.
Arun C. Mehta 517

#### (b) Secondary Level

Since the grade-specific enrolment at the upper primary level is not projected, it is not an easy task to project enrolment in secondary classes. Nor the Grade Transition Method can be applied because of the data that is not available. Second, the method is best applicable to project enrolment in primary classes only. Lastly, because of the changes in the definition of universalisation, the same is not appropriate to apply both at the upper primary and secondary levels of education. Therefore, various alternatives are tried to project enrolment in secondary classes details.

## Alternative I: In Proportion of Grade VIII to Total Upper Primary Enrolment

In the first alternative, percentage of Grade VIII enrolment to total upper primary enrolment (Classes VI-VIII) in 1998-99 (provisional) is applied to projected enrolment at the upper primary level to obtain enrolment in Grade VIII. At present, the share of Grade VIII enrolment is 29.87 per cent. The transition rate from upper primary to secondary level (84.89 per cent, Table 5) is then applied to projected Grade VIII enrolment to obtain total enrolment in Grade IX, which is multiplied by two to obtain total enrolment in secondary classes (all the Grade IX children may not necessarily transit to Grade X, at present the rate is about 87 per cent but in case of universalisation, it will further improve and will fast approach hundred per cent). This was applied to all the four scenarios developed by Varghese and Mehta (Table 8) to obtain enrolment in secondary classes (Classes IX & X). The projected figures are presented in Table 9.

TABLE 9	
Projected Enrolment: Secondary Classes*	
(Different Alternatives)	
(H	Fig

			(1	Figures in Million)
Scenarios	Gra	ade IX	Grades	IX-X
	2004-05	2010-11	2004-05	2010-11
I	11.47	13.23	22.94	26.46
11	13.94	17.34	27.88	34.68
111	12.81	15.25	25.62	30.50
IV	12.68	15.98	25.36	31.96

Based on percentage of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment (29.87 per cent) and transition from upper primary to secondary level (84.89 per cent) by assuming that all children of age group 6-11 years will be enrolled in 2001/2007 as per projected upper primary enrolment presented in Table 8.

The projected figures presented in Table 9 reveal that enrolment in Grade IX in 2005 is expected between 11.47 million under Scenario I to 13.94 million under Scenario II. Varghese and Mehta (1999) retained Scenario IV for projecting financial requirements of universalizing upper primary education. According to this scenario, enrolment in Grade IX is likely to be 12.68 million in 2005. It may, however, be noted that at present (1998-

#### 518 Universalistion of Secondary Education

99) enrolment in Grade X is only 9.90 million (Boys 6.12 and Girls 3.78 million). Thus, if UPE is achieved by 2001 and children transit to upper primary level and then to Grade IX (the first grade of secondary level), the system is expected to receive a quantum jump in enrolment in the year 2005. But since the universalisation has not yet been achieved (in 2001), this alternative is not retained for further analysis.

Alternatively, if the UPE is achieved by 2007, enrolment in secondary classes can also be projected accordingly. In 2007, it is projected that there would be around 57.75 million boys and 54.94 million girls of age group 6-11 years. At present, transition rate from upper primary to secondary level is 84.89 per cent and promotion rate from Grade IX to X is 88.62 per cent. These rates are expected to further improve in case of universalisation in 2007. Therefore, by assuming that all children in Grade IX will transit to Grade X and transition rate from upper primary to secondary level improves to 90 per cent, enrolment in Grades IX-X is projected. The projected enrolment in 2011 comes out to be 33.90 million (GER, 77.73 per cent); the corresponding enrolment in Grade IX would be 16.95 million. At present, the total enrolment in secondary classes is 18.45 million. UPE, in 2007, thus would result into about two-fold increase in secondary enrolment in 2011 from its present level. In case no improvement takes place in the existing rates, enrolment in Grade IX in year 2011 (Table 9).

## Alternative II: UEE, if Achieved, by 2010

The SSA envisages achieving the goal of UEE by 2010 (MHRD, 2000). Therefore, under the Alternative II, enrolment is projected 'by assuming that the goal of universal elementary enrolment will be achieved by 2010. The projected population suggests that there would be around 63.62 million children of age group 11-14 years in 2010 (Table 10). The existing share of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment (29.87 per cent) may further improve if drop-out rates between upper primary classes decline. However, it may be noted that the existing drop-out rates are very low compared to drop-out rates between primary classes. It may also be noted that, repetition rates in upper primary classes is a bit higher than the drop-out rates. Therefore, no assumption is made on future share of Grade VIII enrolment. It is assumed that it will remain constant at its present value. In addition, universalisation of elementary education will further improve transition from upper primary to secondary level (say about 90 per cent).

Thus, if the goal of universal upper primary education is achieved by year 2010 and 90 per cent children transit to the secondary level, it is estimated that enrolment in Grade IX in the year 2012 would be around 17.10 million (Table 10). In case no improvement • takes place in transition rate, the same would be around 16.13 million. In case both the transition rate as well as the share of Grade VIII enrolment improves, Grade IX enrolment is projected to be 20.04 million. Alternatively, if transition rate remains constant but share of Grade IX improves to 35 per cent, projected Grade IX enrolment comes out to be 18.90 million. Altogether, enrolment at the secondary level under different assumptions is projected between 32.26 to 40.08 million in 2012. Thus,

Arun C. Mehta 519

universalisation in 2010 will result into a quantum jump in secondary enrolment from its present level if both the transition as well as share of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment improves slightly.

	TABLE 1	0		
Alternative II:	Goal of UEE,	if Achieved,	by	2010

		(In Million)
Assumptions	Projected	Enrolment
	Grade IX, 2010	Grades IX-X, 2012
(A) Improved Transition Rate from Upper	17.10	34.20
Primary to Secondary Level (90 per cent)	(A & C)	(A & C)
(B) Constant Transition Rate (84.89 per cent)	16.13	32.26
	(B & C)	(B&C)
(C) Constant Share of Grade VIII to Total	18.90	37.80
Upper Primary Enrolment (29.87 per cent)	(B& D)	(B & D)
(D) Improved Share of Grade VIII to Total	20.04	40.08
Upper Primary Enrolment (35 per cent)	(A & D)	(A & D)
Projected 11-14 Year Population in the year 20	10=63.62 Million	

## Alternative III: Based on Past Growth Rates

In addition to the above alternatives, using the recent growth rates, enrolment at the secondary level is projected. For this purpose, both the MHRD and the NCERT set of enrolment data have been used. Needless to mention that projections based on growth rates are crude in nature as neither the age-specific population nor the elementary graduates are considered in projections. Second, once the goal of universal elementary education is achieved, the growth rates will further improve to a significant effect up to a certain period after which they will settle down. However, they give reasonably enough indication about future size of enrolment.

# (a) Based on the MHRD Data

By using the growth rates between the periods 1988-89 to 1998-99, enrolment in secondary classes is projected. During 1988-89 to 1998-99, enrolment in secondary classes increased at the rate of 3.31, 5.54 and 4.10 per cent per annum respectively in case of boys, girls and overall enrolment (Table 11). By assuming that the growth rates will remain constant, it is projected that enrolment in secondary classes would be around 23.49, 28.72 and 35.11 million respectively in the years 2005, 2010 and 2015. This gives a GER of 51, 65 and 82 per cent in the years 2005, 2010 and 2015. Table 11 further reveals a significant boy/girl differential in the projected GER in 2005 and 2010. In 2015, the differential is estimated to be around 7 percentage points.

520 Universalistion of Secondary Education

			(Figures in Million)
Year	Boys	Girls	Total
1988-89	8.23	4.12	12.34
1998-99	11.34	7.05	18.45
			(41.17)
Rate of Growth (%)	3.31	5.54	4.10
2004-05	13.86	9.75	23.49
	(58.43)	(44.22)	(51.32)
2009-10	16.31	12.76	28.72
	(72.49)	(59.46)	(65.33)
2014-15	19.20	16.71	35.11
	(87.51)	(80.85)	(82.13)

# TABLE 11 Projected Enrolment (Grades IX-X): Based on MHRD Data

Note: Projected GER is presented in the parentheses.

In the present exercise, enrolment in Grade IX is also projected by assuming that the past growth rates in enrolment will continue. During 1988-89 to 1998-99, enrolment in Grade IX increased at the rate of 2.72, 5.01 and 3.54 per cent per annum in case of boys, girls and total enrolment. If the growth rates continue, it is projected that enrolment in Grade IX would be around 12.20, 14.51 and 17.27 million respectively in the years 2005, 2010 and 2015 (Table 12).

	TABLE 12
Projected	Enrolment (Grade IX): Based on MHRD Data

rojected Enforment (Graderix): Based on Mirik						
		(Fig	ures in Million)			
Year	Boys	Girls	<u>Total</u>			
1988-89	4.68	2.31	6.99			
1998-99	6.12	3.77	4.33			
Rate of Growth (%)	2.72	5.01	3.54			
2004-05	7.19	5.06	12.20			
2009-10	8.23	6.46	14.51			
2014-15	9.41	8.26	17.27			

# (b) Based on the NCERT Data

It may be noticed that the above projections are made by using the official set of enrolment data. In the past, a significant deviation in enrolment is noticed between the MHRD and the NCERT set of data (Mehta, 1996). It may also be noticed that the official estimates of enrolment irrespective of survey  $(2^{n}$  to  $6^{n}$ ) have been found overestimated

ArunC. Mehta 521

compared to the all-India survey estimates. Because of these reasons, an alternative is also tried to project enrolment in secondary classes by using the data between the Fifth (1986-87) and Sixth (1993-94) surveys.

TABLE 13					
Projected	Enrolment (Grades	IX-X):	Based o	n NCERT	Data

		(Figu	res in Million)
Year	Boys	Girls	Total
1986-87	7.87	3.65	11.52
1993-94	9.67	5.55	15.22
Rate of Growth (%)	2.99	6.17	4.06
2004-05	13.37	10.72	23.58
	(56.37)	(48.62)	(51.52)
2009-10	15.49	14.47	28.77
	(69.56)	(67.43)	(65.44)
2014-15	17.43	18.38	33.74
	(79.44)	(88.33)	(78.92)

Note: Projected GER is presented in the parentheses.

During 1986-87 to 1993-94, enrolment in secondary classes increased at an annual rate of 4.06 per cent. The corresponding increase in case of boys and girls enrolment was 2.99 and 6.17 per cent (Table 13). It may be noticed that despite the different sets and periods of data, the overall secondary enrolment increased almost at the same rate of 4 per cent per annum. Also, in both the sets of statistics, girls' enrolment increased at a much faster rate than the increase in boys' enrolment. This is because of the lower girls-enrolment in the base year. The projected enrolment presented in the Table 13 reveals that enrolment in secondary classes would be about 23.58, 28.77 and 33.74 million in 2005, 2010 and 2015. This gives a GER of 51.52, 65.49 and 78.92 per cent respectively in the years 2005, 2010 and 2015.

TABLE 14 Projected Enrolment (Grade IX): Based on NCERT Data

			(Figures in Million)
Year	Boys	Girls	Total
1986-87	4.35	2.06	6.41
1993-94	5.33	3.10	8.43
Rate of Growth (%)	2.95	6.01	3.99
2004-05	7.33	5.89	12.97
2009-10	8.48	7.89	15.77
2014-15	9.52	9.97	18.44

#### 522 Universalistion of Secondary Education

By using the same set of data, enrolment in Grade IX is also projected for years 2005, 2010 and 2015. During 1986-87 to 1993-94, Grade IX enrolment increased at the rate of 3.99 per cent per annum. Again, girls' enrolment in Grade IX increased at a much faster rate (6.01 per cent) than the increase in boys' enrolment (2.95 per cent). The projected enrolment (Table 14) reveals that total enrolment in Grade IX in 2005 would be around 12.97 million against the present 9.90 million. This is likely to increase further to 15.77 million in 2010 and to 18.44 million in the year 2015.

A glance at Tables 11 to 14 reveals that not much deviation is noticed between the projected secondary enrolment based on the Official and NCERT set of data. As against the projected enrolment of 23.49 million in 2005 based on the MHRD set of data, the corresponding estimate based on the NCERT data comes out to be 23.58 million. Similarly, enrolment in 2010 is projected to be 28.72 million (MHRD) and 28.77 million (NCERT). However, a gap of about 1.37 million is noticed between the two estimates in year 2015. Quite a similar trend is also noticed in case of the projected Grade IX enrolment. As against, 12.20 million enrolment based on the MHRD data, the corresponding enrolment in 2005 based on the NCERT data is 12.97 million. The projected Grade IX enrolment in 2010 comes out to be 14.51 and 15.77 million respectively in case of MHRD and NCERT data sets. It may be noticed that the projected enrolment in Grade IX under present alternative is close to earlier estimates presented above.

# Alternative IV: Enrolment in Grade IX in Relation to Enrolment in Grade I

In the next alternative, enrolment in secondary classes is projected on the basis of Grade IX enrolment as a proportion of Grade I enrolment. For this purpose, first the ratio of Grade IX to Grade I enrolment eight years back is calculated separately for boys and girls. This requires grade-wise enrolment over a period of time, which is available from the *Education in India (Volume I)*. But separate enrolment in this publication is not available for Grades XI and XII. However, the same is also available from one of the other publications of the MHRD, namely, the *Selected Educational Statistics*. The transition rates as well as the ratio of Grade IX to Grade I is presented in Tables 5, 6 and 15.

Table 15 reveals that only 37 per cent children who had taken admission in Grade I in 1990-91 managed to reach Grade IX in 1998-99. The corresponding percentages for boys and girls in the same year were 39 and 33; thus, showing a boy/girl differential of 6 percentage points. The trend in retention at the secondary level further reveals that it has improved from a low 27 per cent in 1989-90 to 33 per cent in 1992-93 and to 41 per cent in 1997-98 but declined to 37 per cent the following year. The boy/girl differential in retention during the same period also declined from 8 percentage points in 1989-90 to 6 percentage points in 1998-99. It may also be noted that only 27 children could reach Grade X in 1992-93 out of 100 in Grade I in year 1983-84. This indicates that over 18 million children dropped out from the system in the process out of 25.55 million enrolled in Grade I in 1983-84, thus contributing a lot of wastage in the system.

Arun C Mehta 523

In case, the goal of universal primary enrolment (as envisaged in SSA) is achieved by 2007, all children of age '6' would have to enrolled by 2002-03 and retained thereafter in the system. It is assumed that the existing ratio of Grade IX to Grade I (37 per cent) will remain constant. The projected population shows that there would be about 11.95 million boys and 11.57 million girls of age '6\* in year 2002-03. Accordingly, it is projected that there would be around 4.42 million (Boys) and 4.28 million (Girls) in Grade IX in year 2011.

Year		Ra	tio of Grade IX	to I Enrolment
	Boys	Girls	Total	Boy/Girl Differential (%)
1989-90	30	22	27	8
1990-91	35	26	31	8
1991 -92	36	28	32	8
1992-93*	37	28	33 (27.06)	10
1997-98**	45	36	41	9
1998-99	39	33	37	6

TABLE 15Ratio of Grade IX to Grade I Enrolment Eight Years Back

\* In the parentheses ratio of Grade X to I is presented.

\*\* Provisional thereafter.

The projected enrolment in Grade IX (8.70 million) is found much lower than the actual enrolment in Grade IX in the year 1998-99 (9.90 million). This may be because of the large number of over-age and under-age children in Grade I. In 1998-99, the percentage of over-age and under-age children in Grade I was around 30.80 (Boys 42.98 and Girls 16.67 per cent). Thus, the projected population of age \*6' in year 2002-03 is inflated by the corresponding percentage of over-age and under-age children and enrolment in Grade IX is estimated. However, the percentage of overage and underage children is expected to decline as we approach UPE. Needless to mention that a slight change in age '6\* population will dramatically change the projected enrolment at the secondary level. The revised enrolment in 2011 thus comes out to be 6.32 million (Boys), 4.99 million (Girls) and 11.37 million (Total). The projected Grade IX enrolment is then multiplied by two to obtain enrolment in Grades IX-X. There would be around 22.74 million enrolment in secondary classes in year 2012.

The projected enrolment under the present alternative is found lower than the earlier projections. This may be because of the ratio of Grade IX to I itself. Earlier projections were independent of this ratio. Second, it has been assumed that the existing ratio (37 per cent) will remain constant throughout the projection period, which may not remain true in years that follow. Third, the projections under the present alternative are independent of transition from upper primary to secondary level. No method is expected to produce

#### 524 Universalistwn of Secondary Education

reliable estimates of secondary enrolment unless elementary graduates and transition rates are considered in projections. The same under the present alternative is not possible to use. However, assuming that the percentage of Grade IX to Grade I enrolment will improve each year by five percentage points to 42, 47 and 52 per cent respectively in the years 2012, 2013 and 2014, enrolment is projected. The projected enrolment in secondary classes thus comes out to be 25.84, 28.92 and 32.00 million respectively in the years 2012, 2013 and 2014, which are close to the earlier projections. However, keeping in view the existing status of retention, it may not be an easy task to improve the share of Class IX to Class I by 5 percentage points each year.

## Scenario V: Universal Secondary Enrolment, if Achieved, by 2015

If the goal of universal secondary enrolment (Grades IX-X) is achieved by 2015, enrolment in Grade IX can also be projected accordingly. But one has to first define the meaning of universalizing secondary education. Universalizing secondary education means that (i) all children of age group 14-16 years are enrolled in secondary classes (NER, 100 per cent); (ii) they remain in the system (retention rate, 100 per cent); and (iii) transit to the first grade of the next education cycle. However, initially it may not be possible to achieve hundred per cent net enrolment and retention in the secondary classes. This is more so specific keeping in view the present status of elementary education in the country. Even, in developing countries that have achieved the goal of universal enrolment, it is not hundred per cent. Then, what should be the goal in the Indian context? Maybe, it is 85, 90 or 95 per cent. Achieving universalisation of secondary education in 2015, thus means that 85/90 per cent children who take admission in Grade I in 2007 will reach Grade IX in 2015. It is projected that there would be about 22.76 million children of age '6' in year 2007. All these children would require enrolling and 80 per cent of them would need to retain till Grade IX (18.21 million). Under these assumptions, enrolment in secondary classes is projected to be 36.42 million in year 2015. The under-age and over-age children in Grade I (30.80 per cent), if considered, will give an enrolment of 47.63 million. This can be repeated to obtain enrolment in any given year by which the goal of universal secondary education is achieved.

The available data suggests that the goal of UPE has not yet been achieved in 2001. If this is so, then the goal of universal secondary enrolment also cannot be achieved at least by the year 2009. Even if the goal of UEE is achieved by 2010, the goal of universal secondary enrolment can only be achieved in 2012. This implies that all upper primary graduates will transit to the first grade of secondary level. They will also remain in the system and complete Grade X. The existing pass percentages across the country, however, do not suggest that it can be achieved by 2012.

The summary of projections is presented in Table 16.

Arun C. Mehta 525

	TAE	3LE 16			
Summary of Projections	Under	Different	Alternatives	(in	Million)

Alternatives	Year	Projected Population 14-16 Yrs.	Grade IX	Grades IX-X	Projected Enrolment Ratio
Alternative 1: In Proportion of Grade VIII to Total Upper Primary Enrolment Constant share of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment (29.87 per cent) & improved transition from upper primary to secondary level (90%) and UPE by 2007. Upper Primary	2011	43.61	16.95	33.90	77.73
Enrolment = 63.04 million, 2007 Constant share and constant transition rate (84.89%) & UPE by 2007	2011	43.61	15.98	31.96	73.29
Both the share of Grade VIII and transition rate remain constant & UPE by 2001, Upper Primary Eurolment = 50.02 million 2001	2005	45.76	12.68	25.36	55.42
Alternative II: UEE by 2010 (Population, 11-					
14 Years = 63.62 million) With improved transition rate (90%) and constant share (29.87%)	2012	43.75	17.10	34.20	78.17
With constant transition rate (84.89 %) and constant share	2012	43.75	.16.13	32.26	73.74
Constant transition and improved share (35%) Improved transition and improved share	2012 2012	43.75 43.75	18.90 20.04	37.80 40.08	86.40 91.60
Alternative III: Bate of Growth Method					
MHRD Data: 1988-89 to 1998-99	2005	45.76	12.20	23.49	51.33
(G.R, 4.10% Grades IX-X & 3.54%, Grade IX)	2010	43.97	14.51	28.72	65.32
	20.15	42.24	17.27	35.11	82.12
NCERT: 1986-87 to 1993-94	2005	45.76	12.97	23.58	51.53
(G.R, 4.06% Grades IX-X & 3.99%, Grade IX)	2010	43.97	15.77	28.77	65.43
	2015	42.24	18.44	33.74	79.88
Alternative IV: Grade IX in Relation to Grade I Enrolment 8 years back (Projected Population Age '6', 2003 = 23.52 million), Over-age/ under-age = 30.80 per cent					
Constant ratio of Grade IX to Grade I 37 %	2011	43.61	11.38	22.76	52.19
Improved ratio of Grade IX to Grade I 42%	2012	43.75	12.92	25.84	59.06
47%	2013	42.93	14.46	28.92	67.37
52%	2014	42.24	16.00	32.00	75.76
Alternative V: Universalisation of Secondary					
Education, if Achieved, by 2015					
Enrolment Ratio, 80%	2015	42.24	18.21	36.42	86.22
Same as above but adjusted for under-age/over-	2015	42.24	23.81	47.63	112.46
age children (a)30.80 percent)	1000		0.00	10.45	
Present Enrolment	1999	-	9.90	18.45	-

#### 526 Universalis! ion of Secondary Education

# Concluding Remarks

SSA envisages that the goal of UPE will be achieved by 2007 and that of UEE in 2010. Keeping this in view, a number of alternatives have been tried and enrolment in secondary classes was projected. In addition, a few other alternatives were also tried. In the first alternative, secondary enrolment was projected on the basis of proportion of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment by assuming that UPE will be achieved in 2007. The enrolment in 2011 thus comes out to be 31.96 million (GER, 73 per cent). A slightly improved transition rate will give a GER of 78 per cent. Under Alternative II, it is assumed that UEE would be achieved by 2010 and the existing transition rate from upper primary to secondary level and share of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment will remain constant. Under this alternative, projected GER in 2012 comes out to be 74 per cent (32.26 million). If the transition rate improves to 90 per cent, the system will have even higher GER of about 78 percent (34.20 million). However, keeping in view the present status of educational development, out-of-school children and drop-out rates do not suggest that UPE and UEE will be achieved by 2007 and 2010 respectively. Therefore, by using the most recent growth rates, enrolment in secondary classes is projected under the Alternative III. However, the present growth rates may not continue in years that follow but they give reasonably good indication about the future size of secondary enrolment. Under this alternative, enrolment in 2010 is projected to be 29 million (GER, 65 per cent) and 35 million (GER, 82 per cent) in 2015. The other most appropriate method that was attempted is Grade IX enrolment in relation to Grade I enrolment eight years back. According to this, it is projected that secondary classes would have at least 22.76 million enrolment in 2007. The ratio (Grade IX to I, 37 per cent), if improved each year by five percentage points to 52 per cent in 2014 would give an enrolment of 32 million (GER, 76 per cent) provided that the existing level of Grade I enrolment is maintained in 2002. In case Universal Secondary Education (GER, 80 per cent) is achieved by 2015, enrolment is also projected accordingly (Alternative IV). A GER of 80 per cent (36.43 million) in 2015 from now may not be an easy task to achieve, especially keeping in view its present level i.e. 41 per cent.

The projections attempted should be viewed in the light of assumptions made and period of data used in making projections. The share of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment and also transition from upper primary to secondary level is based upon the provisional data, which may change as and when final set of data is available. Projections beyond 15 years from now is not likely to remain valid, especially keeping in view the year for which the latest enrolment data is available and also the quality of data which is often questioned by data users. Needless to mention that once the latest set of population and enrolment estimates are available, one has to re-look into the projections.

The projections clearly reveal beyond doubt that the goal of universal secondary enrolment is not likely to be realized at least by the year 2015. The projected enrolment indicates that enrolment in secondary classes in 2007 would be around 23 million. The system would have about 32 million enrolment in 2012 and 35 million in 2015. All this indicates a quantum jump in enrolment from its present level (18.45 million) in years that

## A run C. Mehta 527

follow. If realized, it would have serious implications on schooling facilities that would be required in future. Eventually, it will decide the future expansion and investment priorities in the education sector. At present, secondary schools have an average enrolment of 230. At this rate, the 35 million enrolment would require an additional 88 thousand schools/sections in 2015. An average of 5 teachers per school would require an additional 440 thousand secondary teachers in 2015. At the present per pupil cost of Rs. 2200, 35 million enrolment in secondary classes would require an investment of Rs. 7,700 crore in 2015. Though the above calculations are preliminary in nature, they do give enough indication about the size of investment that would be required in future.

It is also a misconception that universalisation of secondary education in India means a GER ranging between 65 and 75 per cent. However, the projections attempted here clearly show that GER of 80 per cent is feasible. It may not be difficult to achieve even if the existing transition rate and share of Grade VIII to total upper primary enrolment is maintained. The existing transition rates from primary to upper primary and upper primary to secondary levels are high. Drop-out rate between the upper primary grades is low and promotion rate from Grade IX to X is high. Universalisation of elementary education will further improve transition rate; in that case a GER of more than 80 per cent is not ruled out. The analysis presented further shows that upper primary education system is more efficient than primary education system. The goal of universal secondary education cannot be achieved unless the efficiency of primary education system is improved, without which even the goal of UEE cannot be achieved. Once the goal of USE is achieved, only then one can think of universalisation of senior secondary education (USSE), which is nowhere in sight. It is also observed that pass percentage from Grade X to XI is very low, which does not suggest that goal of USSE is possible in the next 20-25 years. Within the senior secondary grades, however, the transition rate between Grade XI to XII is quite high. The major areas of concern are: (i) inefficient status of primary education system; (ii) large number of unserved habitations and very low pass percentage from Grade X to XI; (iii) comparatively low participation of girls across educational levels; and (iv) very low attendance rates especially in secondary classes. Without significant improvement, the goal to achieve universal secondary education cannot be dreamt of.

## References

Mehta, Arun C. (1996): 'Reliability of Educational Data in the Context of NCERT Survey' *Journal of Educational Planning and Administration*, NIEPA, Volume X, No. 1, New Delhi.

- (1998): Education for All in India- Enrolment Projections. NIEPA and Vikas Publishing House, New Delhi.

— (2002): Education for All in India with Focus on Elementary Education: Current Status, Recent Initiatives and Future Prospects. *NIEPA Occasional Papers, No. 30*, New Delhi.

MHRD (2000): Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan: A People's Movement for Education for All, Draft Guidelines. New Delhi: Government of India.

- (2001): Selected Educational Statistics: 1999-2000. New Delhi: Government of India. NCERT (1992): Fifth All India Educational Survey (Volume I and II), New Delhi.

528 Universalistion of Secondary Education

- (1998): Sixth All India Educational Survey Statistics on Schooling Facilities, New Delhi.

NSSO (1998): Attending an Educational Institution in India: Its Level, Nature and Cost, 52<sup>-4</sup> Round: July 1995 - June 1996, Department of Statistics, Government of India, New Delhi.

Report of the Secondary Education Commission: 1952-53, Ministry of Education, Government of India, 1953, New Delhi.

Varghese, N. V. and Arun C. Mehta (1999): Universalisation of Upper Primary Education in India - An Analysis of Present Status and Future Prospects. National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration, New Delhi.

New Publication from NIEPA

Financing Education in India

# Edited by

# Jandhyala B G Tilak

Analysis of educational finances assumes crucial importance in educational policy, planning and administration, as finances form a necessary, though not a sufficient, condition for the success of education development plans and programmes. Of late, issues relating to financing of education are gaining attention, essentially because of dwindling resource base on the one hand and increasing financial needs of the education sector on the other. Various alternative mechanisms of funding and mobilisation of resources are being explored in India and in many developing countries. Presenting a rich flavour of current issues and emerging perspectives on financing education in India, the book provides a detailed review of the pattern of financing education at the centre and in different states and critically examines the pros and cons of the changing approaches to financing education. It makes a significant contribution to a wider discussion on several issues on financing education," and contributes to sound and effective policy making in education.

*Themes:* Patterns of financing, State versus markets, Financial reforms in higher education, Grants-in-aid, and household expenditure on education

Contributors: P. Armugam, J.L. Azad, Sailabala Debi, Malathy Duraisamy, P. Duraisamy, V.P. Garg, P.K. Ghosh, V.N. Kothari, T. Lakshmansamy, Manabi Mazumdar, M. Muzammil, P.R. Panchamukhi, K.R. Shah, A. Shariff, T.P. Subramanian, Tarujyoti, and Jandhyala Tilak

2003, pages: 315; Price: Rs. 500; Pub: Ravi Books, C-9/39, Yamuna Vihar, Delhi 110053

Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4. October 2003, pp. 529-539

# Reflections on the Multiplicity of Functional Goals for Chinese Universities and the Challenges for University Management

David Y. Chen\*

#### Abstract

Universities in China have been changing substantially in recent decades; the recent drastic expansions, in particular, makes Chinese universities swell. Instruction is changing as students grow in numbers and vary in composition, and as new instructional content and delivery modes are created. Research has developed especially rapidly, both in scale and breadth, and public services have been extended. As a result, the functional goals are becoming multiple, but the managerial goals may be lagging behind due to the inadequacy of the traditional teaching-oriented managerial pattern. This paper details the changes in Chinese higher education, and proposes some managerial principles for balancing the multiplicity of university goals, suggesting that 'more strategic ways must be found to cope with the new conflicts, including re-definition of missions and management patterns.

## Introduction

With the knowledge-based economy on the horizon, higher education is going from the periphery to the very centre of today's society. With the fiercer competition of a dynamic global economy, higher education has become more important than ever before in almost every country. Consequently, the tasks that universities and colleges shoulder are heavier, and almost every university or college looks like an empire of teaching, academics, culture and economic enterprise. How a university can adapt to the changing era through the improvement of management is a key issue.

In China, social and economic development is very energetic and speedy, requiring universities to play an important role. Moreover, the central government is reforming the administrative structures and governing mechanisms, and has decided that the specialized departments of State Council should concentrate on the macro-regulation and supervision. The originally affiliated universities and colleges are to be decentralized to the provincial governments, perhaps a few that will be transferred to the administration of the Ministry

<sup>'</sup> Center of Higher Education Studies, Logistical Engineering University, Yuzhong District, Chongqing. P. R. China. 400016, Email: <u>davidcyc@263.net</u>.

#### 530 Reflections on the Multiplicity of Functional Goals for Chinese Universities

of Education. Of course, in the coming several years, most of these universities are looking for the new 'brothers' who are capable of and volunteer for merger or affiliation, and look for chances or wealth from markets through increasing enrolment, commercializing research results, and the provision of various knowledge services. Chinese universities and the corresponding management are and will be part of a revolutionary transformation. It is anticipated that in a few years' time, there will be many 'multiversities' with many campuses. In all, the Chinese universities are becoming bigger and bigger after the radical merger and conspicuous enrolment expansion in 1990s, and will have unprecedented tasks and responsibilities. Above all, the traditional management of institutions of higher education has to keep pace with the upheavals, and consequently must be reformed.

In this paper, 'functional goal' means the goal emerging from the function: the mission that is the reason for existence of universities and colleges. 'Managerial goal' is the goal set and accomplished by management. Each organization has differently clear defined missions, or functional goals, and distinct goals of management. Here, goals, objectives and, sometimes, missions are used interchangeably. University, college and institution of higher education or higher educational institution are also used interchangeably.

# Inter-Multiplicity of Functional Goals and Inter-Obscurity of Managerial Goals

The purpose of the university and college has changed, evolved and expanded since the institution was first conceived in medieval Europe. Throughout the history of higher education, however, the notion of discovery, of advancing knowledge, of passing to students not only knowledge but a love of learning pursuit has been implicit. In early times, these activities were simply described as teaching and research. In 1862, the US government implemented the Land-Grant College Act, and then *the Wisconsin Idea*, marking the beginning of a new function of the university. Thereafter the modern university has had three functions: teaching, research and public services. A university is, up to now, a multipurpose institution. It exists to teach, to do research, to generate and disseminate knowledge. It is more diverse than other forms of organization. Now, in China all the three functions are growing so prominently that conflicts among them are obvious, and the traditional administration is no longer up to the new challenges.

Firstly, there is expansion in student numbers. Perhaps because of the importance of higher education for both social development and individual mobility, most countries are heading forward from elite to mass higher education. The participation rate in the United States in 1930 was only 3.2%, in 1954 it was 16.2% (US Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1989), and by 1993 upto 79.7% (Liu Hong, 1997). In China, students of regular universities and colleges in 1952 were 191,000, in 1985 their number rose to 1,703,000 (State Statistical Bureau, PRC, 1996), and in 1998 they were up to 3,408,700 (The Ministry of Education, PRC, 1999) (1,022 Institutions). After the great stride in 1999 when the central government required higher education to provide a new economical stimulus for national economy growth, enrolment has increased by 22 per cent in one year to

David Y.Chen 531

4,168,700 (China Education Daily, 1999). On average, each institution had only 950 students in 1952 (Liu, Yifan, 1991) (201 Higher Education Institutions), in 1998 their number rose to 3,335 (The Ministry of Education, PRC, 1999), and in 1999 to about 4,079 (**The** Ministry of Education, PRC, 1999), but in 2001 it became some 6,000 on an average. Meanwhile, large-scale institutions with students numbering over 5,000 have increased from 50 in 1985 to 191 in 1998 (Zhu, Guoren 1999). A great many of colleges hold over 10 thousands of students on campus presently. The statistics are not fully available. However, many of these 191 institutions with over 20,000 students. As a result, each institution is facing adaptation to this sudden growth in students and teaching tasks. The traditional teaching management must be updated.

Secondly, there is expansion in the research effort. From Table 1, it is clear that, from 1991 to 1995, the R&D funds had ascended from' 159 billion Yuan to 477 billion Yuan, recording a 67% increase. While research programmes increased from 78,638 to 90,842, or a 1.2 fold increase. The research scale enlargement brings about the manpower-input increase from 130,002 in 1991 to 152,564 persons in 1995, a 15% increase. In 1995, there were 400,742 full-time teachers in institutions of higher education (State Statistical Bureau, PRC, 1996). The percentage of manpower inputs for research to the full-time teachers is around 38. It is very clear that research has even growing quickly in these years.

	R&D Funds		Programs		Manpower inputs		Technical transfer	
	<u>(Thousa</u> T	na ruan) K	(in	item) K	<u>(in pe</u> T	rson) K	<u>contracts</u> T	<u>K (in item)</u> K
1991	1,592,911	1,122,379	78,638	38,028	130,002	69,166	4,999	2,884
1992	2,488,066	1,804,546	85,658	43,046	136,749	72,504	4,030	2,087
1993	3,212,009	2,340,838	89,449	44,652	146,680	76,968	5,097	2,566
1994	3,993,964	2,851,309	88,780	43,523	147,295	74,878	4,414	2,103
1995	4,774,059	3,304,089	90,842	43,387	152,564	78,311	4,447	2,333

 TABLE 1

 Statistics of Research and Development in Chinese Universities

 Source: Department of Science and Technology, State Education Commission, PRC. Science & Technology Statistics of Higher Educational Institutions 1996. China Statistical Publishing House (Beijing) 1996
 Note: T - for all higher educational institutions (Total)

K - for key higher educational institutions (Key)

Thirdly, there has been expansion in public services. Because of the needs of society and community, universities are required to extend their services. In 1980, when China was opening its door to the outside and implementing reform policy, there were 48,332 students of refresher courses, short-term courses (Department of Planning & Construction, State Education Commission, PRC, 1986). However, this figure had risen to 73,606 in 1990 (Department of Planning & Construction, State Education Commission, PRC, 1986). However, this figure had risen to 73,606 in 1990 (Department of Planning & Construction, State Education Commission, PRC, 1991), and by 1997 there were 112,848 students in these two kinds of courses. There were other

#### 532 Reflections on the Multiplicity of Functional Goals for Chinese Universities

1 17,942 students of classes for certificate-oriented trainees opened in 1991 (Department of Planning and Construction, State Education Commission, PRC, 1991), and then 230,790 irregular students or trainees in total. This is about 79%, or about **5** times increase. Many universities are organizing various off-campus classes for workers, officials etc. Technical training and consultation are vigorous. Professors are the "best selling persons" for a growing economy. They are busy with various public services. All these services are given considerations from institutions.

Can every university bear these three tasks for a given input? Can every university follow almost the same development model? The fact is that over the past 20 years, universities and colleges in China have developed in a very similar way, and imitate each other. Regardless of the disadvantages, resources and possibilities, each university from the national level key university to the provincial or even local level ordinary college has had to grasp every chance to emulate other universities in research and postgraduate development. Take 1994 as an example. In 781 institutions surveyed, among 595,813 persons for teaching and research, there were 139,115 full-time persons involved in research and development (R&D) (Department of Science & Technology, State Education Commission, PRC, 1995)' that is to say, the ratio of the full-time personnel for R&D to the total personnel was about 23 per cent on average. Amidst these 781 institutions, there were 86 key institutions and 417 general institutions. They had respectively 172,290 and 377,305 persons for teaching and research related work, meanwhile the full-time personnel for R&D numbered 61,478 and 73,517 (Department of Science &Technology, State Education Commission, PRC, 1995) The ratio of full-time personnel for R&D to the total personnel was about 35 per cent and 20 per cent respectively. Even for the thirty most celebrated, universities directly under the governance of State Education Commission in 1994, this ratio was just a little higher, at around 44 per cent. Over all, the differences in research function among universities and colleges in China are very minimal. It seems that every institution wishes to perform research properly. However, in 1994, the total R&D fund was 3,993,964 thousand Yuan, 85 key institutions and 417 general institutions had respectively 2,851,309 and 1,090,498 thousand Yuan (Department of Science & Technology, State Education Commission, PRC, 1995). The key institutions took a lion's share, about 71%, and only 27% went to the general ones. This is a very large gap in the funds these two classes of institutions actually received. Compared with the narrow gap of personnel input, the funding differences between key and general institutions are explicit.

The consequence of functional multiplicity, and the pursuit of research activity is to increase the interference among or between teaching, research and public service, and to worsen the competition for scarce resources. It is apparent that the inter-multiplicity of functional goals will result in the obscurity of managerial goals if no measures were taken. What is the managerial priority? How can one goal be accomplished without the expense of other(s)? Given limited resources, it is clear that a balance between teaching and research inputs must be struck by management. However, most institutions in China are

David Y. Chen 533

so far transitionally teaching-oriented managerial models; they are not accustomed to multipurpose development strategy.

Therefore, Chinese universities and colleges are now at the stage of transformation from, generally speaking, the single purpose model to the multipurpose ones, from teaching-oriented to teaching, research and public service intensive management. On the way of transformation, the management needs improving and enhancing so as to alleviate the obscurity of managerial goals.

#### Intra-Multiplicity of Functional Goals and Intra-Obscurity of Managerial Goals

In the past two decades, every function of higher education, teaching, research and public services has changed considerably. These variations have produced 'intra-obscurity' for the management of universities and colleges.

## Intra-Multiplicity and Intra-Obscurity of Teaching

From the start of higher education in medieval Europe, instruction was a dominant function. The management of higher institutions was always focusing on teaching. These days, however, have seen rapid expansions in the patterns of student enrolment and in the curriculum and teaching methods.

First, there are changes in enrolment patterns. With the idea of life-long learning popularized worldwide, adults have flocked to universities and colleges for further studies, career upgradation, vocational training and professional re-employment study. As a consequence, almost every institution of higher education begins to enroll ever-increasing number of adult students- (generally, over 25 year old). The US had 27.9% adult students in 1970, and in 1990s up to more than 40%. Great Britain had 38% in the academic year 1991-1992 (P. Davies, 1995). In China, too, adults are now frequenting campuses. While there is no available statistics specifically on adult students in Chinese institutions, it can be inferred from the data on enrolment in postgraduate schools or departments, correspondence divisions, evening schools and short-cycle courses for cadres attached to regular institutions of higher education (see Table 2). In 1980, the total adult students were 268,473, and traditional college-going cohort enrolment was 1,143,712. The ratio of adult students to the combined enrolment was about 19 per cent. However, in 1997 the percentage doubled to about 38 per cent. For postgraduate education alone, in 1980, its percentage was about 1.3, but in 1997 reached 3.2%, a little under 3 times growth. In 1999, China declared that new postgraduates would grow by about 30% in 2000. Recently the great increase in on-work postgraduates and other forms of adult education like short-cycle courses, reemployment training, long-distance education have moved the ratio of adult students to traditional cohorts much higher than that of 1997.

Adult students have some, or often a great deal of work and life experience; in addition, different learning aims. They have well-developed values, opinions and thought process for dealing with issues at work or university. To learn a different way of thinking,

#### 534 Reflections on the Multiplicity of Functional Goals for Chinese Universities

these students must be given the opportunity to examine their current ways of thinking; assess its value, costs and benefits; explore the new ways; and determine its relevance or potential in their lives or work. In professional education, the aim is to help them interpret their experiences and learn new and hopefully better ways to approach these situations in life and work. They must unlearn some past practices, or possibly relearn approaches discarded earlier in life (Ronald R. Sims and Serbrenia J. Sims, 1991). Of course, the traditional teaching for traditional students of college-going cohort will not be totally suitable for the adults, especially for postgraduates whose tasks are mainly performing research which may require costly experimental equipment and abundant books and journals, and above all erudite professors. Given the iixed resources, managerial executives have to make 'trade-offs' among different student groups because diverse segments demand an entirely different form of educational programmes and instructional methods.

 TABLE 2

 Changes of Enrolment Pattern of Chinese Universities (in person)

	Combined	Traditional	Adult Student Enrolment					
			Total	Percentage	Non-traditional""	Postgraduate		
1980	1,412,185	1,143,712	268,473	19.0	250,745	17,728		
1985	2,271,584	1,703,115	568,469	25.0	492,976	75,493		
1990	2,945,714	2,062,695	883,019	30.0	798,861	84,158		
1995	4,609,204	2.906,429	1,702,775	36.9	1,568,327	134,448		
1996	4,872,749	3,021,079	1,851,670	38.0	1,701,813	149,857		
1997	5,073,754	3,174,362	1,899,392	37.4	1,736,183	163,209		

Source:[I] Department of Planning & Construction. State Education Commission, PRC. Educational Statistics Yearbook of China (1997, 1996, 1995. 1990), People's Education Press (Beijing). 1997, 1996, 1995, 1991, 1st Ed.

[2] Department of Planning, State Education Commission, PRC. Achievements of Education in China (1980-1985), People's Education Press(Beijing), 1986, I" ed.

Note: a. Non-traditional enrolment includes students of correspondence divisions and evening schools attached to regular higher educational institutions, of refresher courses, short-term courses, classes for certificate-oriented trainees, post-collegiate continuing education, and of short-cycle courses for cadres.

b. Only enrolment of correspondence divisions and evening schools. Other data are not available.

Further, there has been an accelerated development of curriculum and instructional means. Because of the explosion of knowledge and ever-faster speed of technological development, curricular reform has become the theme of today's education changes. Facing the 21st century, the Ministry of Education of China is occupied with the establishment of new teaching content and curricular systems for various majors. The new scientific achievements and technical findings are continually added to the textbooks. At the same time, textbooks are quickly becoming obsolete, teaching materials have to be re-edited or renewed. New disciplines and new requirements are mushrooming.

David Y.Chen 535

Consequently, courses and majors on campuses must be integrated and re-integrated through combination, reconstruction and merger.

Since the great efficiency and convenience of computer-aided technology and networks, new instructional means are being introduced and applied. On-line education, BBS, TV networks, CAI, etc. are widely used. As Bruce Johnstone commented, "The technology has been largely an additional expense" (D.Bruce Johnstone, 1999). All above changes need more input of manpower and money. So, for management, it is imperative to make timely decisions about the allocation of sparse educational resources, and about the choice of reform priorities and directions.

## Intra-Multiplicity and Intra-Obscurity of Research

Research is one of the most important functions for modern universities. In China, although a few universities did a little research in the late 1950s and early 1960s, research genuinely began as the function just from 1978, when the National Science Conference declared that universities, key ones ad hoc, should be gradually developed into two centres, the science centres and the teaching centres. From then on, research in universities was growing very fast and briskly, especially in recent years, when the central government considered universities and colleges to be lively forces for the implementation of the strategy of revitalizing the nation through science and education. Research has developed so rapidly that the teaching and the research qualities are now a cause for concern.

To begin with, there have been expansions in the disciplinary span. After the reorganization of institutions and departments in the 1950s in China, all higher education institutions had become disciplinary narrow by 1980s. However, the 'opening and reform' policy resulted in almost every university establishing many new disciplines, new departments and institutes. For instance, Huazhong University of Science and Technology (HUST), one of the top ten in China, had only 4 departments and 8 majors when it was established in 1953 as a purely technical college. However, after the assiduous reformation in 1970s and 1980s led by former president, Professor Zhu Jiusi, there were 27 departments and 56 majors and 40 institutes in 1990s (HUST History Editorial, 1993). The growth of knowledge areas on campus widens the spans of research; while on the one hand, comprehensive disciplines for a better academic ecology, on the other, they increase the managerial difficulty. The multiplicity requires a clearly defined managerial orientation.

In addition, there have been changes in research structure. Basic research is an important aspect of university research. This is the case in most developed countries. In the early 1980s, the ratio of funds for basic research to the total research funds of universities was 60% in the US, 57% in Japan, and more than 90% in France and Britain (Dang, Wenchang, 1988). During the eighth five-year-plan period (1990-1995), Chinese universities had about 62.8% basic research programmes of the total national research plans (Department of Science & Technology, State Education Commission, PRC, 1995). With emphasis on the commercialization of technological results and combination of research

#### 536 Reflections on the Multiplicity of Functional Goals for Chinese Universities

with industry and market, more and more universities have been starting to enlarge the applied and development research programmes. Hence, most of research projects are application-oriented and mainly from enterprises — these are called horizontal research programmes. In 1994, the total research and development funds of all 781 institutions of higher education was around 4000 million Yuan, and that from enterprises was about 1,800 million Yuan, accounting for about 45%. In the same year, the percentage of funds for basic research was only 12% (Department of Science & Technology, State Education Commission, PRC, 1995). Comparatively, that of key universities was 11.5%, less than the average. This trend has strengthened in recent years, partly because of the pressure of financial scarcity. Universities and colleges have to quicken their technological transfer in order to exchange their urgently needed survival money at the expense of their advantages on basic research. This transformation urges that the management of universities and colleges reconsider the research orientation and the proper objectives.

Finally, in a knowledge-based society, universities and colleges are looked as incubators for new techniques. Chinese government is worried about the low percentage contributed by science and technology to the national economy, and so initiates new innovation programmes including the establishment of technical innovation centres by enterprises, and the encouragement of opening high-tech companies by universities. To shorten the span of marketization, many Chinese universities are eager to participate in the establishment of high-tech parks generally around campuses. And most universities are opening and operating many companies both on and off campus. In 1994, there were 1,797 enterprises on 781 campuses; averagely one university owned 2.3 enterprises. However, 86 key universities had 730 enterprises (Department of Science & Technology, State Education Commission, PRC, 1995), that is, each nad 8.5 enterprises, about 4 times the average. This shows that key institutions are more willing to earn money by managing companies than to conduct basic research to earn academic reputation. The management for those companies needs manpower and money inputs. Also in 1994, among 400,742 full-time teachers, there were 47,452 full-time and part-time enterprise-related personnel; that is, it accounted for 11.8 per cent. Meanwhile, the money input was about 620 million Yuan, but profits after tax from those affiliated companies only 937 million Yuan, and merely about 277 million Yuan handed in to universities (Department of Science &Technology, State Education Commission, PRC, 1995). It is very apparent that the direct involvement in the establishment and operation of corporations is not effective enough and needs new managerial mechanism. Not every university can adapt to the transfer from academic to economic management. This newly developed function confronts the traditional ones. To be or not to be: a business or industry, or a teaching university? University management has to answer this question.

#### Intra-Multiplicity and Intra-Obscurity of Public Services

Because of fast technical renovation and the need for knowledgeable staff, various profession-retraining classes for public servants, lay-offs, leaders and demobilized officers are emerging. Because of the rapid development of techniques, technical training

David Y. Chen 537

and expert consultations are more urgently required than ever. In the 1990s, more than 4,000 technical transfer contracts (see Table 1) were conducted every year. In 1994, universities in China gained about 720 million Yuan from the technical services (Department of Science &Technology, State Education Commission, PRC, 1995). Because of the increased leisure time, the public asks the university to open its educational facilities, such as the library, IT equipment, physical instruments. The modern university is like a social club for the community! More and more elderly people are would-be special students who need special care. More and more frequently, the public views the university as a culture centre, spiritual model and professional upgrade hub. The university is expected to offer many more services for the public and to widen its doors to public access. The expansion in these roles, both in scale and form, complicate the management of universities, and management must adapt to these new conditions.

# Implications: Integration of Functional Goals and Managerial Goals

All the above expansions make the university in China something like the multiversity in the US. As Clark Kerr said in his book, *The Uses of the University*, Chinese universities are surely swelling. It seems that they can do everything right. However, in fact, they must do the right thing(s), and then do the right thing(s) right. Running a university now means orchestrating various organs like conducting symphony troupe. This is the heart of the integration.

# Re-Definition of University Mission

The mission statement is a declaration of an organization's "reason for being" (Fred R. David, 1997), an enduring statement of purpose that distinguishes one organization from other similar ones. Mission is a powerful barrier to the sheer power of the undifferentiated market; belief in a distinctive mission can energize an institution to find its constituency (George Dennis O'Brien, 1998). A clear mission statement is essential for effectively establishing objectives and formulating strategies.

Universities in China should be diversified functionally and locally. As part of their transformation, Chinese universities and colleges should be first reoriented towards their unique purposes and reasons for being. We need to be realistic in our expectations and responsibilities for the overall mission of the institution. It is impossible and unrealistic that every institution should be moulded into the first class or research university. Differentiation is the feasible and reasonable choice for Chinese higher education development. Each university should find its own suitable seat in the hierarchy of higher education. Functionally, the dimensions of a certain institution are limited in quantity, quality, and structure (Zhu Guoren, 1999). Research, teaching, and the development of high-tech companies generally have different aims and require different approaches, talents and interests. Realistically, in order for academic units or institutions to accomplish their multiple missions with limited resources, there must be an effective

#### 538 Reflections on the Multiplicity of Functional Goals for Chinese Universities

balance achieved in teaching, research and service that culminates in better performance by the academic units across all components (Ronald R. Sims and Serbrenia J. Sims, 1991).

A university is basically not a universe, in which all disciplines are built and equally emphasized. History and reality tell us that many institutions that do not require research as a component of faculty performance. Specifically, every university has its own disciplinary, traditional advantages, in addition, special clients including social organizations and individuals. A university cannot reach first class in every field, but in relatively focused directions with priorities for resource allocation and criteria for academic and monetary rewards. So, universities should decide the directions of their main goal: teaching-intensive or research-intensive; who is served or centered, undergraduate or graduate, a certain field or all fields, a certain clients or all clients.

Size does not mean excellence. For management, the larger the university, the more difficult it is to manage. It is very important to note that the success of Caltech proves that the biggest is not always the best. Whether from the perspective of management span or from the effective and efficient use of certain resources, size may be closely related to cost-effectiveness. Again it is very important to decide a reasonable, profitable size for the future Chinese universities according to their priorities.

#### **Re-Definition** of Management

Management is needed to reach objectives, to maintain balance between conflicting goals, to achieve efficiency and effectiveness. In the years ahead, because of radical macro restructuring, many universities will surely have several campuses. The traditional management pattern of Chinese institutions, which is mainly for teaching and for a single campus, must be redefined to adapt for multiple campuses with diverse purposes: teaching, research, high-tech businesses running public services, and with an ever-increasing size. For this situation, the linear traditional management must be transformed to a new, non-linear one. The following are some suggestions for this transformation.

Firstly, at institutional level, managerial sections should be integrated on the basis of specialization and department. A section should be mainly responsible for strategic planning, leading and supervision. Then the top management can utilize enough time for the study and consideration of the basic objectives, plans and policies of the university conglomerate. For a sizable university, it is imperative to integrate many specialized departments into colleges or schools according to disciplinary classifications.

At the same time, decentralization and delegation of authority and responsibility to the grass-roots are urgent. Effective and imaginative management of resources is required, not only at the institutional level but also especially at the departmental level (Frank H.T. Rhodes, 1997). Colleges or schools and departments should be autonomous about the implementation, organization and staffing of the overall strategy.

Further, some cross-discipline centres, and project-oriented centres or groups, must be organized. Comprehensive research centres will enhance the integration of different knowledge fields, limit repetition and increase the effectiveness of different fields.

David Y. Chen 539

Furthermore, institutes may fulfil the research function while departments perform the teaching, and more important, explore new policies for rewarding teaching and research equitably.

Finally, engineering and technique developing centres might be constructed, partly or fully supported, by enterprises with the objective of commercializing research achievement. It may be time to reconsider the direct operation of companies by universities, or to find newly effective operation mechanism for companies. It is strongly recommended that universities should not be operated with the direct involvement of companies—the proper mechanism should be technical involvement, not operational involvement.

#### **Re-Defmition** of A dministrators

As the function broadens and the scale enlarges, the university becomes harder and harder to be administered. The management of higher education demands more and more special skills, insight, imagination and farsightedness. The past amateur-type administrators/teachers are no longer suitable for the new multi-mission universities. Institutional management is gradually becoming one kind of career; a new class of administration is forming (Philip G. Altbatch, 1999). Facing the new millennium, the governance of university needs a relatively stable, professional administration, staffed by people who have regular training.

Communication among the faculty and administrative staff, through campus circulars, computer and TV networks, meetings and briefings will be very important. It will also be important to establish various professorate committees and to ensure that they play efficient roles. Finally, it will be most important to build a university council or senate in which professors can propose suggestions and execute their proper rights of administration.

Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4, October 2003

# IASSI QUARTERLY

# INDIAN ASSOCIATION OF SOCIAL SCIENCE INSTITUTIONS (IASSI)

VOL. 21

JULY - SEPTEMBER 2002

contents

NO. I

Dissecting Development: An Inquiry into Anchorage and Aspersions

Planning and Implementation of Swarnajavanthi Gram Swarojgar Yojana (SGSY): Need for Improvement

PIL: Not a Pill for Every ill

Occupational Status and Demographic Characteristics of Scheduled Caste People of Assam (An Empirical Study In a Compact Area of Nalbari District)

Achieving Women's Empowerment Through Women's Entrepreneurship

A Note on Sustainable Agriculture in India Challenges under WTO's Regime

Occupation of Parents and Child Socialization Technique: A Study on Middle class Families Of Bangladesh

Book Review

**IASSI's Member Institutions** 

SUBSCRIPTION RATES

For India and SAARC Countries, including postage: Rs.250/- for one year. Single copy Rs. 70/-.

For other countries: US \$ 40 per year or equivalent, including postage by surface mail and US \$ 50 by airmal. Single copy US \$ 15 by Airmail and US \$ 12 by Surface mail.

<u>Enquiries and Correspondence</u> should be addressed to Member-Secretary, Indian Association of Social Science Institutions (IASSI) care Institute of Applied Manpower Research, Indraprastha Estate, New Delhi-110 002.

(Tel: 2331-5284, 2335 6834, 2332 4581, Fax: 011-2331-5284; E.mail: stiassi@bol.net.in

Tapan R. Mohanty

Y. Gangi Reddy

Aditi Mathur and Siddharth Srivastava

D.K. Bezbaruahand M.A. Proveen

Dhulasi Birundha Varadarajan and Arockia Raj. K

Dhulasi Birundha Varadarajan and Arockia Raj. K

Farida Akhtar Khanam

Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4, October 2003, pp. 541-565

# BOOK REVIEWS

The World Bank (2001) *Adult Literacy Programs in Uganda*, Africa Region Human Development Series, The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, Washington, pp.122, ISBN: 0-8213-4882-5.

Commissioned by the government of Uganda in order to compare the resource requirements and the effectiveness of Functional Literacy Programmes (FAL) and Regenerated Freirean Literary through Empowering Community Techniques (REFLECT) while assessing their implementation in order to make policy recommendations on Adult Literacy Education in Uganda, the study was conducted in 19 sub-counties of eight districts of Uganda, i.e., Apac, Arua, Bushenyi, Hoima, Iganga, Mubende, Rukungiri, and Soroti in six of the country's regions, on a random sample of 793 graduates selected for the study.

A variety of quantitative methods were utilized in order to evaluate the performance of the sample learners. The social benefits and the cost on such programmes as well as the future strategies were all presented in the report quite aptly.

The learner's circumstances - their socio-economic background and the literacy environment available to the learners in terms of literacy materials, instructors and their instruction and supervision etc were covered in the evaluation study. The question of retention of numeracy skills, however, could not be assessed. Whereas the attaining of functional knowledge, attitudes and practices in the overall performance of the sample learners appeared to be better compared to the attainments of non-literates, the scores on various items of knowledge, attitude etc provided some variations, but generalization of such attainments was not possible. The results showed that there were three variables which were influential such as location of the schools; grade reached in primary schools; and a third variable of socio-economic background which was reported to be weaker. Length of exposure to literacy classes made no difference to the knowledge score and the attitude score but there was a difference in the practice score. The performance of two NGO's, namely REFLECT and FAL which are located in different geographical areas were also analysed and the performance of learners from REFLECT was found to be better. One of the interesting findings, which emerged was that the performance and participation of the learners was associated with cultural attitudes as well as the local acceptance of the programme, especially in case of women.

Participation in income-generating activities and the extent they utilized the learning skills in such activities was also analysed. It was found that they did the basic calculations, reading etc. Another interesting revelation was that the advantage accrued by the beneficiaries from the literacy programme was in terms of improvement in the family health, food, security, income, and awareness in educating the children as well as participating in the civic meetings etc. The increase in the self-esteem and self-confidence as well as capacity to communicate in community related activities was

significant. The aspiration for furthering their knowledge through learning was also evident from their responses. There was a considerable decrease in discrimination between the sexes, by the parents in sending the children to the schools. The literate showed interest in the school matters compared to the illiterates. There was an inclination for learning English, while some also showed interest in a variety of vocational and business skills.

An attempt was also made to estimate the programme costs, but generating reliable estimates proved difficult due to several possible dimensions of benefit for the graduates. In the absence of consistent method of collecting information at the sub-county level actual expenditures, assessing unit cost was not possible. About US \$ 4.50 per year participation was estimated and it can go up to US \$ 13 a year if the commitment of the instructor is increased.

The study highlighted the basic issues concerning the attainment of the learners from various programmes and aptly focused on the basic issues of adult literacy programmes, particularly with reference to Uganda. The findings showed the aspirations generating out of education and interest in taking up better jobs and also a better life style. This also reduced the gender differences and promoted interest in learning and proved that the ability of adults to learn new skills persists well into middle age. One of the major highlights of the study which is very positive is the indication that government can do better in organizing such programmes than the NGOs, and with a possibility of both the agencies (Government and NGOs) together can also do much better. Another basic but important finding was that the adult literacy progammes should be more complementary to other programmes of the schooling so that it can be instrumental in reducing poverty as it can attract poor people. The findings of the study emphasized on the issues of careful implementation, selection of agencies in conducting such programmes, assess and catering to a variety of learners and attending to a variety of capacities of learning of the adults, and methods of providing the literacy programmes on a continuous basis. Introduction of an official language, in addition to their local language, was found useful so that the learner can deal with a wider society.

The study signifies the importance of the adult literacy programmes particularly in the developing countries in order to reduce poverty, remove gender imbalances and provide opportunities to enter into better occupations and enhance the aspiration levels of the people. The criteria selected for the study and the precision in which each and every detail of the two programmes presented needs no specific mention. The findings will be of great use to the planners and administrators particularly those who are dealing with adult literacy programmes.

NIEPA New Delhi - 110016 B.K.Panda E-mail: <u>Panda bk@Hotmail.com</u> Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4, October 2003

Sue E BERRYMAN, (2000) *Hidden Challenges to Education Systems in Transition Economies,* The World Bank, Europe and Central Asian Region, Human Development Sector, pp. 133, Price: \$22.00, ISBN: 08213-4813-2 (paperback)

The book has a peacock green cover with a foreword by Johannes F. Linn (Vice President, ECA). A section of it has faint impressions of world language scripts to vindicate the title. The audience for this book are policy makers in the Europe and Central Asia (ECA) region, especially ministers of finance and education. A list of acronyms and abbreviations has been provided at the outset for easy reference. The content is supported by suitable Tables pertaining to the years 1989-1997, annexed at the end of the book.

The *'introduction'* marks out the needs of market economies and the reasons why the ECA education systems are unable to fulfil them. The region's education systems have five shared problems each of which has been discussed in a separate chapter. The final chapter brings out the implications of these issues for the Bank's business strategy.

The World Bank has been active- in helping countries design their reforms and implement them. The book is a part of a series of publications, covering 14 different issues. The series was prepared to facilitate discussions at the seminars at the 2000 Annual meetings of the World Bank.

The book addresses problems in the education systems of 27 countries in Eastern Europe and Central Asia stemming out of the changes in their social and economic rules. ECA education systems are not producing graduates able to adapt to the skill demands of interconnected market economies or ignoramus civic societies. It proposes ways to reframe ECA's education systems to fit these new realities according to the severity of the problems in each country and also allows identification of approaches that seem effective in a range of countries. It would thus be worth considering.

The chapter 'Realign Education Systems with Market Economies and Open Societies' explains at length the economic and civic imperatives of emerging markets and open societies because these changes will dramatically affect the knowledge, skills and values that students need. Hence, changes in the education system have to be in methods, content and training of teaching. The economic shifts put a premium on information processing and problem solving skills. The chapter gives a point-wise summary of what the individuals must acquire (pi4). Educators have to change what they teach and how they teach i.e. the content and the pedagogy are important. The curriculum must be aligned with new objectives. It should develop the cognitive and meta-cognitive thinking skills of the students to acquire foundation and higher order skills. The foundation skills of the students should be developed to enable continuous learning. Motivational exercises should be undertaken.

The chapter on 'Combat Poverty by Increasing Educational Fairness' focuses on differences in educational opportunities and outcome on 'wages, employment probabilities and poverty' (p.22). Emphasis is laid upon providing fair learning opportunities as it affects human capital, which is vital in affecting economic growth. An

indicator of increase in inequity in learning opportunities is also given. An effort has been made to discuss the reasons for distorted enrolment rates, as related to the level of family income. Lower enrolment rates for rural population and for marginal minority groups seem related to poverty. The chapter also suggests strategic paths for the governments, which are, firstly, measuring, monitoring and analysing the data about the relevant policies and secondly, designing and implementing preventive and equilibrating strategies.

The chapter 'Finance for Sustainability, Quality and Fairness' highlights the two glaring realities of the education sectors of many ECA countries, which are: (a) education system is afflicted with serious fiscal constraints; and (b) measures taken further threaten the educational quality and fairness.

The need is to optimize the educational input especially personnel versus didactic materials, energy and maintenance. Last section outlines several promising possibilities for sustainable fair adjustment that maintain educational quality. This discussion is organized into revenue generation, resource distribution and allocation of resources among the elements of education.

Revenue generation in most ECA countries is done centrally. In such a system, the whole country pays for education of all the country's children, with citizens contributing according to their ability to pay. Centrally generated revenues are supplemented with local taxes. The question is how far down the centrally generated revenue should go? In general, the money should go to a jurisdiction that is small enough to be accountable to the students. According to the availability of funds, four kinds of choices must be made: who should be beneficiaries? what should be the product mix? what should be the input mix? and how can efficiency of input use be ensured?

The chapter 'Spend Resources More Efficiently' points out towards the existing inefficiencies in ECA education system and the need to overcome it. Much of this inefficiency is a legacy of pre-transition economies where planners, not market forces, determine wages, subsidies and prices (p. 58).

Present situation in ECA has been compared with Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries. Education section in ECA has been consuming double the resources employed per basic and secondary student in the West. Strategic paths to be taken by government have been explained at length. The implications are to get better student outcomes for the same resources. The focus is on relationship between the resources consumed and outcomes secured (p 64). Emphasis is also on reviewing the four government policies namely: curriculum, minority language instruction, specialization of programmes, special needs of children

A complete Table, summarizing the main strategies, costs, savings for increasing system efficiency, has been well explained.

The chapter 'Reinvent Governance, Management and Accountability' evaluates the patterns of governance, management and accountability in the field of education. The

Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4, October 2003

lacunae existing at these levels have been highlighted and discussed at length. Also a summary of suggestions presented in tabular form provides clear and precise information. The word 'Governance' refers to setting goals and monitoring the sector's progress in achieving it; 'Management' refers to the effective implementation of goals; and 'Accountability' refers to the mechanisms that stakeholders can use to assess the sector's performance.

The chapter *The Role of World Bank'* provides a clear outline of the various measures decided on by the World Bank to help ECA governments mitigate the problems in the region. The Bank's business strategy in ECA education is about changing concepts, rules of the game, incentives and capacities. These measures have been discussed in the light of three questions:

- a. How will the Bank's education sector set priorities for lending and non-lending services?
- b. What should the Bank lend for and not lend for?
- c. How will the sector handle lending risk?

In addition to the measures to overcome the problems, this chapter also discusses the need to look forward and ensure quality by the World Bank. A few studies have been recommended at the end to fill the knowledge gaps in the regional sector work. The Annexed Tables give the most useful information regarding ECA.

To conclude, the contribution of education need not be confined to economic growth and income distribution. There are other economic, social and political impacts on education and on the whole fabric of development. India requires both rapid educational and economic development for which it can follow the East Asian model of human resource led development. This book has identified the problems affecting education and has evolved strategies which may be used in various countries. However, one cannot rule out the variables in the social, political and economic context of the country concerned.

Salwan Public School Sector 15 II, Gurgaon: 122002 Indu Khetrapal Email: <u>salwangurgaon@sify.com</u>

Padma M. SARANGAPANI (2003) *Constructing School Knowledge: An Ethnography of Learning in an Indian Village*, Sage, New Delhi (India) ISBN 07619-9672-9, Pages: 308, Price: Rs. 350.

The book under review is an ethnographic account of a government primary boys' school in Kasimpur, a village located at the northern fringes of Delhi. The major concern here is to explore children's school going experience by undertaking a micro level analysis of the modes in which knowledge is constructed through pedagogic practice and discourse. By re-entering the familiar ground of government schools, the author attempts to

reconstruct our common knowledge about the process of schooling, engaging with the techniques of ethnographic inquiry. The book presents a detailed script of everyday life in the school, and attempts to provide a voice to the insiders, to express their involvement in the process of teaching and learning. The views of teachers and children, the insiders of the whole business of schooling, constitute the crux of this study. The opinions, the ideas and the worldviews of the everyday participants of schooling are elaborately presented to help organize the norms, attitudes, scripts and guide the course of activities.

The need of an anthropological approach to unravel the process of schooling is more or less absent in the popular understanding of schools, especially in the case of government primary schools which are perceived as familiar, monotonous and selfexplanatory. The apparent ordinariness of the primary schools provides the notion that special efforts are not necessary to understand the discourse of school activities. Thus, a micro-level approach in this regard becomes irrelevant even from researchers' point of view.

Sarangapani's book - *Constructing School Knowledge* - questions this conventional notion. By incorporating anthropological tools of research, she methodologically negates the simplicity of a government primary school and the process of schooling that any lay person can derive upon generalized statements with an immediate overview.

There is no separate chapter in this book for theory and review of literature; instead those dimensions are interwoven with empirical understanding. Appendix has been added for further theoretical and methodological descriptions. Empirical analysis is supported with themes and concepts such as ethos, cultural capital, pedagogic authority and control and framing of curriculum. The author states that issues such as the social and hierarchical structure of the village, caste and gender dynamics in school, questions concerning drop-out and whose knowledge the curriculum represents have not been incorporated in the study.

As far as the school reform approaches are concerned, the orientation is basically for managing, implementing and the dominant discourse is in the form of programmes such as re-orientation, evaluation, motivation, community participation etc. Viewing the curriculum from the child's perspective remains unworthy and attempts to address this issue often get partial relevance.

In order to bring home the point of view of the child, the common school knowledge is constructed or rather reconstructed from two perspectives. First, from the children, the teachers and the parents perspectives - how do their relationships constitute their school experience, what meaning do they give to the various rituals that they actively participate in their everyday practice of schooling, how do they establish and negotiate their activities of learning and teaching and their identities as teachers and learners, what meaning does the curriculum and the encoded knowledge in it have for them and how does it relate to the outside world? For answering these questions a thick description from the field data is presented. On the other hand, the second perspective is from the researcher's point of view to make the institution and the participants' voices intelligible. Drawing up on interpretative framework, the author employs theory and methods

provided by philosophy, cognitive psychology, epistemology and the sociology of education and knowledge.

The second chapter introduces the Kasimpur village, with a focus on constructing the ethos by deploying the anthropological methods. A multi-caste village on the northern fringes of the metropolitan city of Delhi, Kasimpur has a census population of about 10,000 with a literacy rate of 66 per cent. The ethnographic details have been drawn from conversations, interviews and observations. The author has also considered the data made available by Census report and earlier anthropological studies undertaken on similar villages on the fringe of Delhi. The objective is not to provide an elaborate anthropological account of the village, it is to reconstruct the ethos in which children grow up. While tracing the trajectory of the social history of the village, it is posited that women attained no formal position of authority and children were expected to be submissive and "deferential" to the elderly people, especially the male. This factor is further elaborated in the subsequent chapters by analysing the dynamics of pedagogic authority and how children submit themselves to the authoritarian structure.

The third chapter discusses the interrelationship between teachers and pupils. Children's voices are foregrounded and interpreted and much space has been allotted for this purpose, a rare enterprise that researchers are reluctant to venture into. The concern which the author has shown for illustrating the whole episodes of conversations, in order to preserve the linkages, acquire significance. But at the same time, the reproduction of the entire conversation makes the whole account a monotonous reiteration. The episodes of conversation reveal that childhood is the phase of preparation for adulthood and adulthood means obtaining a job. The author argues that once children had crossed the hurdle of becoming literate and were assured of passing, the next important motif was learning English. English provides the impression that it is essential for any respectable job, the way to become *bada admi*. This *'bada admi'* image implies a person working in an office, sitting at a desk, looking at files and speaking in English. The popular ideology of the childhood is thus explored through a microscopic vision of classroom interaction expressions of children, in particular.

The ideology of childhood is further expanded in the 4<sup>s</sup> chapter. The conventional notion that childhood is equated with playfulness (which is not creative and against work) is deconstructed in this context. Borrowing from Piaget and Garvay, the author argues that play is often a phase where we 'assimilate' the world into our own framework of understanding. In the following chapter, the author discusses about the interrelationship between the teachers and the pupils to argue that schooling seems to be organized by the intellectual support of cultural stereotypes and everyday beliefs and practices. The way in which pedagogic authority is able to perform the function of maintaining moral order through regulation and control of behaviour is analysed. Specifically, the way in which epistemic function constitutes the epistemic identities of the teachers and the pupils by regulating and controlling knowledge is also discussed.

In order to theorise the authoritarian structure in the pedagogic discourse, the image of the guru as supreme authority is illustrated through examples from folk and ancient

stories. Characters like Ekaiavya, Upamanyu who were perfect examples for their unhesitant devotion and sacrifice and their total submission for the guru made them "ideal students". The guru's actions are located outside the boundaries of rational inquiry and critical questioning by students. Childhood is thus represented by simple obedience and the idea of total submission to the guru, which governs the Indian mind-set, ultimately forms the corner stone of student behaviour.

The nature of authority and discipline in the school complex, especially in the Indian context, attains a different dimension when the author tries to locate the interconnectedness of the phenomena with the dominant Hindu tradition. To discuss this dimension, the author identifies the notion of personal hygiene, cleanliness and purity and related rituals and customs which are compared with the general Hindu way of interpretation. These interlinkages between the dominant ideology and the authoritarian structure in pedagogic practice seem to be contemporary to the Indian scenario and the analytical potential which bring significance to the present study. However, the limitation of understanding the social and hierarchical structure of the village, caste and gender dynamics within the school community restricts the possibilities of exploring the issue from a wider perspective.

Chapter 7 contains the conceptualization of memorization and its relationship to learning, understanding and intelligence. Among the epistemic communities, the process of memorization attains a superior position compared to other factors in the discourse of acquiring knowledge. The author notes that the child's projected self-image was, that a good student could memorize any text of any length. The method either to increase knowledge or to prepare for examination is memorization "memorization helped one become independent of the teacher and the text (P. 169)" Yet memorization should not reach a place where knowledge itself becomes "a physical object and a burden to be borne".

Chapters 8 and 9 deal with children's epistemology and its various dimensions. The author observes that children rarely volunteer knowledge from their personal experience; on the other hand, the dominant given knowledge through books and elderly sayings constitutes their epistemic basis. The book rediscovers the problems of representation in the construction of the school knowledge, that the curriculum detaches itself from the everyday local knowledge of the children. The locally owned ideas and skills are excluded from the so-called scientific inquiry which can be applied only in the curriculum contents. This false notion is inherent in children's thought pattern and it implicitly governs their approach in understanding different ideas and themes, both curricular and non-curricular.

The school and its activities have been integrated and functionalised by teachers and children and other school community members. These activities are not simply the outcome of coercive practices, rather they are acquired through popular folk and indigenous culture. The school cannot be considered as a totalitarian institution and cannot be directly recognized as harmful or evil. This framework of thought directs the Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4. October 2003

pedagogic practice including the authoritarian structure, strict discipline and memorization of the contents at the cost of understanding them.

The concluding section makes a remark on the activities in a government primary school which seem to be routine, mindless ritual practice and their complexity and interconnectedness towards the local ethos and socio-cultural realm of the actors - the teachers, the pupils and the community. This situation further complicates the attempts of theorising in education, formulation and implementation of programmes and policy making. The absence of elaborated textual analysis while understanding the construction of school knowledge restricts the possibilities of broadening this work to a multidimensional perspective. The major emphasis falls on everyday interaction among teachers and pupils which constitutes the core of the study, empirically established and demonstrated with a worm's eye view. But, at the same time, issues in textual representation such as social and political dimensions of the text and their analytical scope are identified with a soft focus. It could be argued that despite the methodological elegance and comprehensive presentation of the field data, the purpose of drawing larger conclusions is partially served. However, the itinerary gathers a sharp and concave vision into the commonly existing and deliberate myopic observations towards the process of learning and constructing knowledge in local village primary schools.

Dept. of Humanities and Social Sciences, IIT Bombay. Mumbai - 400076 Ratheesh Kumar E-Mail: <u>rpk@hss.iitb.ac.in</u>

Robert A. LEVINE, (2003) *Childhood Socialization: Comparative Studies of Parenting, Learning and Education Change,* CERC, Faculty of Education, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, China, pp.299, Price: Not mentioned

The book presents 12 chapters, by Robert A LeVine, packaged in five parts with meaningful sub-titles, already printed in various professional journals over a period of about forty years. The publication stands introduced by two forewords - one written by the Series Editor, Mark Bray, and the other by Thomas Weisner. The importance of the publication lies in the reader being introduced to the way 'socialization as a concept' has undergone transformation. Time was when sociology, anthropology and psychology found tremendous convergence of interest in the subject referring to social learning in childhood, also called socialization of the child. After 1970's or so, diverse trends in academic disciplines diminished interest in the area and researchers rejected some key assumptions of earlier socialization research and went on distancing themselves from it. Nevertheless socialization research continues to 'demonstrate how children acquire communicative competence, social dispositions and intellectual skills through guided participation in the activities of diverse early environments throughout the world.'

Educational processes seen from the anthropological perspectives reveal several aspects of education, which, though known generally, refuse to reveal the secret of the

process they really adopt. In his researches, the author has examined five processes: (a) parental investment; (b) enculturation; (c) educational mobilization; (d) school experience; and (e) classroom interaction. On the first type, the comment of the author is revealing. Parenting, he says, is a "goal-oriente'd activity, with cultural conceptions of desirable development setting the goals and prescribing the means." We all know parents invest resources, including their time and money, in their children's health, development and learning according to conventional formulae derived from cultural models prevalent in their communities. Contrasting cultures reveal more about how children learn than all the theories explaining the phenomenon. For instance, the author discovered in a population with high fertility rates but low survival that "parental practices were organized around protection, feeding and conserving infants' energy rather than language and social development". In sharp contrast to it, the middle-class mothers in the USA were engaged in activities and interactions explicitly designed to stimulate the development of language, cognition and social development. These activities easily qualified to be called pedagogical.

The most interesting finding of the author concerns the meaning and explanation of. the term precociousness. In certain cultures, parents expect their children to turn out to be prodigies, showing signs of valued behaviour at a very young age. During the course of a study, the researcher found that while Gusii children were precociously compliant toddlers, the American middle-class children were precociously talkative and the German children showed precocious self-reliance. Therefore, precocity is definable as "a culturally sponsored development" in which the developmental priorities of the parents get translated into a well-designed action plan.

Similarly, the researcher found the Western school with a set of particular features such as age-graded classrooms, professionally trained teachers, standard curriculum and formal examination aimed at national development. With a highly select goal in view, they have organized their schools like all other social systems such as hospitals, post offices and other bureaucratic structures on the models of military organization. It was logical, therefore, to have pressed into service armies of school teachers and school administrators and allocated a large part of their budget too for education. Mass schooling is a relatively new concept and practice as opposed to the earlier concept where education was both hierarchical and elite. It is the masses that have come to represent the present day nation state and not a few select families. This major transformation in the goal of education reflects the current thinking and management of education.

Le Vine's analysis of education in Japan is a highly revealing study. Without realizing that cultures determine successes and failures of the systems of education, we Indians continue to talk out of context about the achievements of Japan and China implying thereby that it is within their means and competence to achieve the targets these nations have set themselves and realized. Anyone reading the chapter on the education in Japan would soon realize that success was written into the Japanese system by their history and culture. One has to relate one's culture with education and discover the slow unfolding of the former process capturing and overpowering the later.

Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4, October 2003

It is a real treat going through the papers contained in the book. It could be taken to offer a model for some more studies and this time on India.

Pocket A-4/ 206, Kalkaji Extension New Delhi - 110019 R.P.Singh

Prema CLARKE (2001) *Teaching Learning: The Culture of Pedagogy*, Sage Publications New-Delhi ISBN 81-782999-000-6 (India-HB) pp. 224, Price: Rs. 250 (Paperback)

The books to be reviewed can be classified in many ways. Some books may be confirming while some others challenging your views. Some may change your direction of thought or add to your knowledge. Books are significant even if they perform one of these functions. However, when you come across a book which serves you on more than one count, naturally you will classify that book as an important one.

Prema Clarke's book under review is such a book that can serve the reader on more than one counts and it is an important addition to the Educators' understanding of why higher level thinking, on par friendly relation among teacher and students and the relevance of the subjects taught are difficult propositions and one feels that they are only to be said rather than practised. The discussion in the book, based on the interdisciplinary research in the Indian classrooms, provides the clue as to why the age old characteristics of openness in learning, appreciated in ancient India, were lost to the educational system in India and why we are a prey to the disease of REPEAT TILL IT IS LEARNT BY HEART. This static nature of knowledge, authoritarian relationship in the classrooms and lack of freedom to the learner to create his or her interpretation and have tentative hypotheses for testing, or, in other words, the lack of freedom of creating knowledge, implying thereby the freedom of making mistakes in learning, and opportunities for rectifying the same and then internalizing it, is the sum and substance of the basic inadequacies in the educational system at large in India. The result is the potential of creative enterprising leadership ready for systematic search and solutions that the huge population of India has is almost untapped by the system of Education.

The book provides research based reflection and also the implications for policy makers, training and educational system in general.

The book is a systematically presented documentation based on the writer's doctoral dissertation. In all, there are seven chapters preceded by Acknowledgements and Introduction, and succeeded by references and select bibliography, Author index, Subject Index. A note about the author too is provided. These are all essential for a research piece. The photograph of a classroom on the front page depicts in a subtle way all the characteristics of the authoritarian mode of communication and the subservient role the students play, and the textbook commentator's role that the teacher plays. This sums up

the characteristics of teaching learning in the Indian classrooms which is the central theme of the book.

The introduction makes it clear that the book is going to present the perceptions of teachers and the mechanics of teaching along with the exploration of and understanding of the IDEA of teaching within the Indian cultural context. The book wants to throw light on how various aspects of the Indian Educational system are rooted in a native pedagogical philosophy and which have survived the British education. The actual classroom teaching and learning on lower order thinking as referred to above in a subtle way of teacher's using textbook and making students master it through the processes of repetition and memorization.

Chapter One helps the reader in understanding the author's perceptions regarding the following concepts and thoughts and prepares the cognitive background for the discussion to follow in subsequent chapters. They are:

- The Role of Culture in Teacher Thinking Research;
- Teacher Thinking as a Cultural Model (Its three properties are described); and
- Explicit and Implicit Models.

Chapter Two gives the overview of Teaching and Learning in India. The intention is to have the background of the models that emerged in the study. The discussion is divided into three main sections: i) Prior to 18<sup>th</sup> century; ii) The Colonial period; and iii) After 1947. It is pointed out that the practices of critical thinking valued as pedagogical method of instruction during the Vedic period were replaced by repetition and memory.

Chapter Three presents explicit models in mathematics. Chapter Four presents the explicit models in social studies. They give the teachers' instructional goals, communication of knowledge and teacher student interaction. Chapter Five - Cultural Models - begins with a discussion of implicit models of mathematics and social studies based on the author's interpretation of the data of explicit models. The teachers' openness to and acceptance of regulation by authorities, their perception of textbooks as the exclusive representation of valid knowledge, teachers' relation to knowledge as static and divorced from reality, their taking teaching as duty, their hierarchical relation with students and assumed understanding of quality of students affecting their response to students' response are the different models of implicit nature.

The Sixth Chapter gives the implications of research to different groups of people. The implications for policy makers for teacher training institutes are given in detail. For teacher training institutes, the following areas of reforms are suggested. It has pointed out the need to stress the consistency of thought and practice, the presence of sharedness and individual variation in teacher thinking and the fostering of reflective practice. A very important comparison of INDIGENIZATIONANDCONTEXTUALIZATION given on page 172 is an excellent reminder to the policy makers as to what needs to be stressed in various aspects of reform in teacher education and education at large. Curriculum and
examination reforms are critical for improvements in teaching and learning as teachers teach as per the expectations in the board examination. For this, change towards the importance to be given to Meaning, Interpretation and Creativity, the Teacher Education has to change. It has to focus on reflection, consistency between thought and action, their cultural models, the cultural meaning system in which they live.

Chapter Seven describes the research design followed by the author. This Postscript is very important as it provides the way the Intellectual Journey was carried out and helps the reader to connect the theory and the processes involved in data collection, data analysis and the issues in qualitative research .As such we know that in the Indian setting qualitative research is not handled as much as the quantitative one. The qualitative research demands the clarity of assumptions and frameworks the researcher is using in interpreting the qualitative data. In other words, the prejudices of the researcher need to be restricted. Their explicit presentation adds to the validity of the analysis. The qualitative research is facilitated if the researcher shares the cultural background of the respondents as that helps one to know as an insider why and how a particular thing is experienced by the respondents and how they deal with the issues in hand.

This book also is an illustration to the researcher of how one can take up the qualitative research. From the research methodology point of view, this concrete illustration is going to help the students of educational research in a big way. In brief, this book is of a different kind. It makes one think about why we fail in our educational reforms and what needs to be done for institutionalizing the processes of reform.

999 B Niyojan Dr. P.S. Gogate's Bungalow Navi Peth , PUNE 411030 Maharashtra Suman Karandikar E-mail: <u>subha@pn3.vsnl.net.in</u>

R.P. JOSHI and G.S. NARWANI (2002) 'Panchayat Raj in India: Emerging Trends Across the States', New Delhi, Rawat Publications, pp. 290, Price: Rs. 525.

The local self government has been a slogan in the country right from independence. Eminent leaders, who actively participated in the freedom movement and shouldered the responsibility of managing the country after independence, have all emphasized on decentralized planning and management in various sectors of economy including education. Various Committees have been set up from time to time by the Government of India as well as by some state governments to deliberate upon and recommend the process and procedure of decentralization under the Panchayati Raj system in India. In this regard, perhaps the latest is the 73<sup>rd</sup> and 74<sup>rd</sup> Constitution Amendment Act passed in Parliament in 1993, by which the Panchayat Raj System has not only been constitutionalized but also given a status which clears hurdles for creating a three-tier system of governance at the district, block and village levels in the country.

The book under review discusses in detail the experience of these Panchayati Raj Institutions (PRIs) in various states of the country during the post-independence period. Explaining the philosophy of Panchayati Raj, the authors quote Mahatma Gandhi whose vision was that democracy through people's participation could be ensured only by way of -Gram Swarajya'. The father of the nation wanted Gram Swarajya in villages where there will be village republics and all the village affairs would be managed by the people themselves. They would elect their president and common decisions would be taken unanimously by Gram Sabha of the village. According to Gandhiji's Gram Swarajya, '•every village should be a democracy in which they will not depend even on neighbours for major needs:"

Panchayati Raj, according to the authors, is a system which ensures peoples' participation at the lowest levels. It is democracy at the base level. PRIs become a training ground for developing leadership at the primary stage because they become well versed with local problems and ways to deal with such problems. Thus, PRIs can ensure grossroot level democracy in true spirit, provided that all the powers and functions regarding rural development, along with proper resources and staff, are vested in them. This would undoubtedly pave way for Gram Swarajya in India.

As a result of recommendations of various Committees and the tempo generated, the Central Government decided to give a Constitutional status to the PRIs and passed the 73<sup>14</sup> Constitution Amendment Act in 1993 to provide uniformity to the Panchayati Raj system throughout India. Though most of the states have amended their Panchayati Raj Acts during 1993 and 1994, yet things have mostly remained on paper. Political Will is still lacking. Powers, staff and resources to the PRIs have hardly been transferred. The PRIs still remain more an agency of development rather than institutions of self-government.

Though Constitutional laws are enacted, which were perhaps a must for creating vibrant PRIs in the country, yet, somehow or the other, there are still doubts in the mind of people about the applicability and implementation of these laws on the ground. As of now, there seems to be debates that focus on questions like: (a) Can the Constitutional provision by itself be an adequate substitute for political will? (b) Would these statutes be implemented in letter and spirit or would they remain laws on paper only? (c) Is implementing decentralization below the state level desirable through the constitutional amendment? (d) Whether thrusting a uniform prescription on the states with disparities in administrative culture, historical background and democratic size would be advisable? Authors discuss various flaws and deficiencies in the present laws regarding PRIs and also give valuable suggestions to remove these deficiencies and make PRIs the real institutions of local self government.

One of the common anomalies found in the devolution of powers and functions, according to authors, is that there is always a gap between the powers given and the powers exercised and between the functions as enlisted in the schedules and as they are carried out. This is more noticeable at the Gram Panchayat level. In most of the State Panchayat Acts, the Gram panchayats have been entrusted with about 30-35 functions,

but in practice they are hardly carried out. However, one positive feature with regard to devolution has been that the state governments have initiated efforts to demarcate functions between the panchayats by adding or deleting certain activities, programmes and schemes to schedules so as to streamline the allocation of functions. But the state governments have retained many regulatory, supervisory and controlling powers, which make for a centralized process under a professed system of decentralized governance.

While studying the functioning of the panchayats in various states of the country, the authors found both the positive and negative trends. Panchayats, by and large, have been found able to maintain the periodicity while calling their general body standing committee meetings. However, this is somewhat better at the Zila Panchayat and Taluka Panchayat levels, rather than at Gram panchayat level. Lack of awareness, knowledge and experience have become obstacles to their effective functioning. The elected representatives faced various kinds of opposition, obstruction and functional difficulty such as gender, caste and family basis. Further, despite the fact that the provision for decisions by majority exists in the Acts, it is observed that the influential group in the village dominates the decision making process.

While presenting on decentralized planning, it is noted that a cursory look at the grassroot planning process in various states can help identify the approach and issues in the much discussed and debated issue of decentralized planning. Although progress in this realm has been far from satisfactory, yet some states like Kerala have really been the models of new approach and their illustrations can be a great help in ensuring further success in this arena. Suggestions have been put forward in the book for making District Planning Committees more effective so as to make the democratic decentralization process really successful.

A look at the district governance through PRIs reveal that when in 1959 Panchayat Raj was started, it was only in Maharashtra and Gujarat where the district-level Zila Parishad was given powers so as to enable it to shape itself as some kind of 'District Government' with the District Collector as the chairman of the District Development Council. The Government of India also created DRDA in every district in 1978 and transferred all the funds for poverty alleviation and rural development to it. The PRIs remained only as agencies of development to execute programmes and the DRDA continued as a superior body to monitor the PRIs. Authors suggest that there is an imperative need to meet the people's aspirations at the district level by. sharing the increased load of multifarious welfare functions of the State government. It will not only deliver the goods at the local level and remove grievances of the people, but, at the same time, ensure efficiency, speed and general welfare of the people at large.

In order to achieve social justice through Panchayati Raj, the authors note that we have to face many challenges. This is particularly important for elected representatives of the marginalized sections. Some such challenges faced by these sections are - the ambiguity in the powers and functions given to the panchayats, as they have not been clearly defined in the State Panchayat Acts. The second is related to the caste and gender prejudices which keep the women/SCs/STs away from functioning effectively as

members or chairpersons of these bodies. The third challenge relates to inadequate information about and exposure to their rights, roles and responsibilities and the attitude of the apartheid in local bureaucracy towards these representatives. Economic disability constitutes the fourth challenge before the marginalized sections

The Panchayati Raj Institutions are involved in rural development through involvement in planning and execution at the village level. Efforts are being made by various states to empower the Gram Sabha to involve all the people in decentralized planning. Even though funds and sanctioning power may still be at different levels, but when the question for execution of programmes comes, there is no alternative but to involve PRIs at the village level. True democracy really means that the power to plan and execute the village development plans has ultimately to be exercised by the people at the grassroot level.

The study reveals that in spite of the best efforts, neither the object of decentralized planning has been achieved nor the weaker sections of the society have been involved, nor democracy has developed at the base level nor socio-economic upliftment of masses could come to the expected levels. There has been no visible change even in the mental attitude of the bureaucrats. Coordination in governance has almost been far from field reality. The PRIs have been, at the most, an agency for implementation of the rural development programmes.

The Panchayat Raj continues to be officially oriented rather than people's programme. It is hardly "development of people, by the people and for the people". There is a lack of political education to the elected representatives. People's participation has decreased day by day, treating all the development programmes as government programmes. Shramdan or people's contribution, which came in the initial years, is also missing except in a few glaring instances. Except voting, common people have not shown interest and enthusiasm in Panchayati Raj.

Observing the role of political parties in the affairs of PRIs, in general, and in their elections, in particular, the authors feel that since 1993 amendment, the activities of different political parties have increased in rural areas along with giving constitutional status to the PRIs. In spite of old rural traditions and insistence of Gandhiji to keep the villages and panchayats away from politics, the interest of all political parties has increased in the PRIs, specially due to reservation of one-third seats for women. In most of the states, even reservation of seats has been done for the OBCs. Politics is working behind reserved seats. Such seats will be allotted by lottery, by rotation in every election so that in three elections, all women and OBCs get training in the PRIs and gain experience. It will be their capacity building programme also through on-the-job training. It will also enable political parties to multiply their workers in rural areas which were without their representation till now.

Dealing with the aspect of personnel administration under PRIs, it is highlighted that one of the handicaps of Panchayati Raj working at the village level has been the lack of permanent staff at the panchayat level and whatever staff has been there is not under the administrative control of the Sarpanch/panchayat. There should be at least one Secretary

for each panchayat, of course, along with a few other village level functionaries, to make it a viable unit. The Panchayat Secretary must remain an employee of the Panchayat to really deliver goods at the village level. The Administrative Reforms Commission as well as some other committees have suggested the establishment of Village Secretariat' also. The Secretary should be competent and knowledgeable enough to discharge the required functions effectively.

Initiatives taken at various levels towards decentralization and development have resulted in considerable devolution of authority and powers at the lower levels of governance and launching of development programmes for ameliorating the living conditions of millions of people. The success of the moves, however, has been constrained on account of lack of a clear-cut vision about the shape and powers of the PRIs, which alone are capable of mobilizing people and ensuring good governance from the administrative machinery. Undoubtedly, this calls for genuine decentralization, which should be accompanied by sincere and vigorous efforts of awareness creation through education and enlightenment as well as greater participation of the people devoid of conflicts of caste, religion and factions and aimed at consensual approach.

NIEPA New Delhi - **110016**  S.M.I.A. Zaidi E-mail: <u>smiazaidi@niepa.org</u>

Rohit DHANKAR and Brigid SMITH (2002) Seeking Quality Education for ALL -Experiences from District Primary Education Programmes, New Delhi, The European Commission Education Programme Office, Pages: 50 (Paperbak)

This is a collection of two Occasional Papers by the authors written separately. The first by Rohit Dhankar entitled: Seeking Quality Education in the Arena of Fun and Rhetroric runs over 29 pages including a two page appendix on a practical experience of a training session of school teachers in which a teacher stating that the child is a wet clay is rebuked by the trainer, and another calling the child a plant to be nurtured is appreciated. The answers were picked up from a training mannual. The underlying message is that such training programmes cannot produce the desired results.

The paper points out how a child in school remains a passive listener. The present system of education does not enable him to think independently. Improvement in the the quality of primary education is the core of DPEP but the notion of quality remains debatable. The concept of Minimum Levels of Learning (MLLs) is seen as important enough to be mentioned in defining the quality mandate. The child centred MLL oriented (CMO) notion of quality education is discussed in detail. The DPEP's approach has been critically examined and alternatives suggested.

The author has offered a few ideas which may contribute to sustained attempts at quality improvement: (i) The Block and Cluster Resource Centres (BRCs and CRCs) need to gain depth and rigour and the DIETs (District Institutes of Education and

Training) be developed to keep abreast with the educational thought and research the world over; (ii) Only the availability of authentic reading material in accessible form can break the spell of workshop mode of producing knowledge and help generate and deepen, more informed discourse on education coupled with a whole culture of educational magazines and journals that need to be developed; (iii) Well qualified teachers and better pre-service professional courses will be needed for sustained quality improvement and the practice of ill-paid, part-time para teachers need to be contained; (iv) Teacher-child ratio must be brought down to 1:30 for pedagogical improvement; and (v) Unless the primary schools are provided with buildings and materials, the talk of quality improvement does not make much sense to them. The implementation of the DPEP programme also needs to be improved (pp. 26-27).

The second paper by Dr. Brigid Smith is captioned: Reflections on the Progress of DPEP with particular reference to Uttar Pradesh. On the basis of this practical experience of the working of schools under DPEP, the author feels that the development of quality in primary education can really take place only when basic conditions for learning and teaching are in place. An indication of the need for quality improvement in a district like Meerut in UP is that over 51 per cent of children are enrolled in private schools, many of them unrecognised.

Smith's paper focuses on issues related to capacity building for teachers, education of girls, community involvement in education and Alternative Schooling (AS) that is being developed for minority communities.

The worldwide reforms of primary education have been provoked by a growing realisation that learning the *content* of a curriculum cannot meet the demands of the modern world where *learning how to learn* is more important than just learning facts to regurgitate. The author finds that a reform programme at the state level in UP has produced good result. The delegation of management of schools to Panchayati Raj Institutions in 1999 has served to devolve accountability at the local level, making the community responsible for over-seeing the education of all children in the community.

The recent hike in teachers' salaries in UP is viewed as a good reform measure by the author. He says, "This gives all teachers a good basic wage and in return demands from them improved attendance, improved efforts in teaching and accountability to both the government and the local community. It would seem that this is a basic condition for improving educational standards. It has wide implications and experiences in other countries have shown that reform in teaching standards is difficult where teachers still require additional income to support their families" (p. 33).

The author calls the efforts of the Government of UP to link DPEP educational inputs and reforms to the work of State and district administration as most encouraging.

The role of schemes like Early Childhood Care and Education (ECCE) has been appreciated. The role of the primary school teacher is also said to be of great significance. Alternative Schooling (AS) for minorities and marginalised groups has been well received and is found to be very encouraging. The strength of the AS is in its local relevance - with the teacher a local person usually able to speak the language or dialect

Mohd. Muzammil

of the children and the community involved in providing the teacher and in supporting the school by providing land or space for it to operate in. "In many ways AS schooling seems to present an ideal solution to an intractable demographic problem" (p. 45).

In brief, the author finds that DPEP has strengthened the involvement of the community in education in India as is not the case in many other countries where community involvement is not so strong.

On the whole, this small publication of the European Commission contains lively interaction on big issues of primary education. In general, while the first paper laments on several weaknesses in primary education and DPEP implementation, and, therefore, offers remedial measures, the second one commends the major reforms and strengths and lays stress on capitalising on them further.

Department of Economics Lucknow University Lucknow - 226007

Steve BARTLETT and Diana BURTON (eds.) (2003). *Education Studies: Essential Issues,* London/Thousand Oiks/New Delhi: Sage Publications, ISBN 0-7619-4050-2, Pages: ix + 275, Price: £ 18.99 (Paperback)

•Education' has now emerged as an area of specialist study whose significance, both theoretical (academic) and practical (policy), can hardly be exaggerated. Students pursuing this area of study need not only explore the various facets of education but also comprehend the bearing of education on the individual, society and polity at different levels - macro, meso and micro. In the instant textbook, the editors seek to develop an approach to the study of education "that is broad and explores theoretical links whilst still looking at particular areas in depth" (p. 6).

Besides the editorial introduction, there are ten essays by scholars/practitioners of education having specialist interest/experience in specific aspects of education. These essays focus on some of the most popular topics - the 'hot spots' - in 'education studies' programmes. While each of these essays is self-contained as for the key theme and arguments, overall the book appears to have a thematic unity. To what extent the contributing authors share the editors' perspective, Bartlett and Burton concede, is debatable. After all, 'Constructing education studies ... is a controversial process' (p. 7).

The editorial introduction ('The Study of Education') traces the development of 'education' as a specialist area of study. From what happens in a classroom in a small rural school, to the formation of national policies, to the internationalisation of education, political decisions are made at different levels. Those concerned with or involved in education - politicians, teachers, parents, employers and students - have varying degrees of influence over the process. Obviously, the scope of 'education studies' is vast and varied. Thus, apparently simple as the rubric 'education studies' is, it eludes any precise

definition. The editors discuss the key theoretical issues arising in this area and specify the important topics for investigation under it.

Helen Moylett ('Early Years of Education and Care') considers early childhood (from birth to 5 years old) education. After outlining its recent history in England and explaining what is happening there now, she explores the cultural attitudes to children which brief current provisions there. She highlights the tensions between competing ideas of curriculum and differing concepts of childhood and learning. Such tensions inform or deform everyday practice of care and education of children. She finds 'reluctance on the part of adults to rethink their ideas about children and childhood' (p. 35) to be a major difficulty.

The next three essays - 'Differentiation of Schooling and Pedagogy' by Burton; 'Special Educational Needs and Inclusive Education: Origins and Current Issues' by Peter Clough and Philip Garner; and 'Education for Citizenship' by Dean Garratt - deal with issues relevant to all sectors of education. Focusing on the developments in the United Kingdom (UK), Burton examines the structural and pedagogical manifestations of differentiation. She shows how, while division of students within education systems is as old as education itself, differentiation developed as a new educational construct in pedagogical terms during the 1990s. She highlights the conflict between viewing differentiation as a strategy for fostering equality through addressing the individual needs of each student and as a means of preparing the students for their place in a stratified society.

In their essay, Clough and Garner clarify the concept of special educational needs and delineate its contemporary features with reference to the UK. Specifically, they deal with learning, physical, emotional and behavioural difficulties. Highlighting the sharp differences between practice and experience and the ideologies and interests which impact upon them, they argue that the discourse 'needs to shift more honestly to an empowerment model, based on individual needs and expectations' (p. 91).

Garratt's essay explores the nature of education for citizenship. This is timely considering the **UK** government's resolve to making it a compulsory part of the National Curriculum. 'Education for Citizenship' is a complex social construct, and Garratt delineates its four different conceptions - the liberal, the libertarian, the republican, and the communitarian. Since the concept of citizenship can be interpreted differently and put to different uses, he cautions against any simplistic prescription of education for citizenship. The real problem lies 'in the extent to which young people are encouraged to wrestle with the tensions that characterise citizenship's contested terrain' (p.1 16).

In the backdrop of increasing centralisation of the curriculum, the development of markets in education and the corresponding development of managerial forms of control, Bartlett and Burton, in their essay ('The Management of Teachers as Professionals'), analyse the changing nature of teacher professionalism in the UK. James Avis ('Post-Compulsory Education: Issues for 16-18-Year-Olds') examines the key issues surrounding post-compulsory education and training in that country. Ann-Marie Bathmaker ('The Expansion of Higher Education: A Consideration of Control, Funding

and Quality') discusses the changing socio-economic context in which higher education in the UK has expanded and undergone a transformation from an elite to a mass system. She examines how this expansion, since the Robbins Report of 1963 has raised issues of control, quality and funding.

Bartlett ('Education for Lifelong Learning') examines the ideology of 'lifelong learning'. He questions 'whether the process of lifelong learning is really about the self-fulfilment of the individual or if it is a part of the continuing adaptation and development of education as a form of social control' (p. 190). He notes that the policies of lifelong learning influenced by global pressures have implications not only for industrial and post-industrial societies but also for the 'developing' countries.

Moving away from the general focus on educational developments in England, the last two essays discuss issues which have wider ramifications. In his illuminative essay ('Education for Development), Tim Wright exposes the ideology of development, debunking its claim to be a movement for the good of humankind. He convincingly argues that the 'exporting' of education from the 'developed' countries to the 'developing' ones leads to domination of particular forms of knowledge and ideology. Thus, education and knowledge become the instruments by which colonial powers maintain their hold over their former colonies or newly independent states.

Advancing Wright's arguments further, John Robinson ('Contemporary Globalization and Education') examines the impact of globalization upon education by focusing on such issues as knowledge production and curriculum change, the internationalisation of education, the role of the Internet in creating online communities, and feminism. He juxtaposes 'the negative impacts of contemporary globalization' with 'the rhetorical nature of the Utopian claims for contemporary globalization' (p. 239).

The volume is conceived as a textbook for students pursuing programmes in 'educational studies' in the UK. The essays are thematically well organised and lucidly presented. Each essay is followed by a listing of 'Student Tasks' and 'Suggested Further Readings', besides the regular notes and references. In terms of its design, contents, and presentation, this is undoubtedly an excellent textbook. However, since it is primarily addressed to students in the UK, apparently it is of little substantive use to students elsewhere. Nevertheless, considering that its recurrent themes - such as 'the significance of market forces, equal opportunities and individual choice, the role of the state in controlling and monitoring education, a preoccupation with cost effectiveness and standards, and increasing global movements which operate beyond the scope of individual state boundaries' (p.8) - have universal relevance and import, the book can be read with benefit by students outside the UK, too.

Tata Institute of Social Sciences Deonar, Mumbari - 400 088 N. Jayaram E-mail: <<u>njavaram2@rediffmail.com</u>>

Bill ROGRES (2000)/! *Whole-school Approach - Behaviour Management*, New Delhi: Sage Publications, pp. 247, ISBN 0-7619-6929-2, Price: £ 17.99 (Paperback)

The title of the book "Behaviour Management" is not only very attractive but also purposeful. Its contribution on developing a-whole-school approach to behaviour management is a good venture. Common issues pertaining to staff discussion, staff meeting, parent-teacher between management have been well addressed in this book. When addressing behaviour management across any educational institution, much of the hassle and pain can be minimized by the kinds of questions, teachers and administrators ask, and the focus they develop from theses question. Throughout this book, key questions have been referred to frequently, be it addressing classroom discipline, corridor supervision or playground management. The writings focus on fundamental facts of behaviour management that need to be balanced to ensure a comprehensive approach to solve human problems in educational institutions. It further emphasizes that management and discipline procedures seek to develop in students an acceptance of responsibility for their own behaviour, especially as it creates an impact on others' rights.

In every school or educational institution, developing a needs analysis regarding behaviour management can give staff an opportunity to clarify their values and benefits. Enough review has been made on these aspects in this book, including also an analysis on positive behaviour management. Fundamental rights need to be balanced by responsibilities. Teachers need to teach both, and manage, within a context that emphasizes both. Teachers have to clarify the common rights, rules and responsibilities at the classroom level so as to enable them to minimize unnecessary contribution and use positive corrective practices whenever possible. Apart from dealing with this conceptual framework, exclusive attention has also been given, among others, to issues like encouragement, primary behaviour, mutual respect, certainty, positive behaviour, time management, professional development, emotional balance, global access, personality development, humour, communication skills, values, manners, group behaviour, discipline, problem solving behaviour etc., in various context at school environment.

No doubt that teachers should make every effort to plan for smooth day-to-day running of the class, but still corrective management is necessary and this book has provided strategies for such corrective management. Strategies are given on difficult areas such as giving directions, reminders, making statements, using appropriate questions and dealing with argumentative students. The book deserves appreciation for its influential writings on global set such as tone of voice, bearing and general body posture, gestural cues, proximity, eye contact, phrasing, facilitation, safety, relationship building, scanning, modeling, reprimanding etc., In all these matters, behavioural consequences can emerge at any moment. Behaviournal consequences are the link between rights and rules, on the one hand, and the corrective discipline when students have affected others' rights, on the other. Traditionally, schools used punishments and rewards to deal with rule breaking and disruptive behaviour. When a teacher has to apply a consequence to a student, the behaviour issue often emotionally affects both the parties. Sometimes

emotions become very strained. This book addresses all these minute human behaviour consequences with appropriate examples.

Author's modeling on various issues has many applications. To mention a few: his idea of addressing behaviour rather than attacking the person is an applied message, yet another claim is that of disruptive behaviour by its effect on mutual rights, safety, fair treatment of others and on learning. Most teachers can tolerate a student having a bad day. It is the frequency and intensity of disruptive behaviour that is emotionally wearing and gives rise to the reactive anger redolent in the profession. To minimize, the author suggests that teachers need to set out a basic framework of consequences so that students realize the consequences of affecting others' rights.

Under the title "Language of Discipline", the author has evolved a comprehensive model of corrective discipline in a school environment. The model addresses all tactics, of least to most infusive related to discipline. The logical steps include indirect/direct questions, conditional directions, simple choices, distractions, diversions, directing students aside, non-verbal message, redirecting, repeating, refocusing, avoiding arguments, clarifying consequences and establishing consequence. Developing a positive language of discipline does not come naturally to some teachers. Practice can help build a more positive language of discipline and management.

There are many tips in the book for the behaviour management of students. A behaviour management plan is contractual arrangement designed to support a student's positive behaviour. It should be simple, clear, achievable, be planned to increase the likelihood of success, and written in a style appropriate to the student's age and development. A chapter, out of nine, deals with managing playground behaviour. Playing in assigned areas, playing in a way that does not harm others, playing ball games at the right time and in the right place, finishing food before going to play on equipments and using play equipments only in fine weather are given as playing safety means.

Much is presented in this book on solutions to various problems related to workable plans in school administration. Solutions fall into several categories including managerial, structural, educational, social and procedural solutions. In a playground environment, in order to achieve better management practice, one can think on language of management, degree of intrusiveness, strategies to address low-level issues such as silly and inappropriate play, littering students' pushing others over, sand throwing and aggressive play.

Quite interesting aspects of the book are its several case studies covering a wide variety of issues related to whole school approach, change in staff attitudes, student behaviour management, positive discipline, behavioural consequences, language of discipline, traditional problems in managing student behaviour, managing playground behaviour, supporting colleagues and developing a behaviour management policy, in that it is a wonderful work on behaviour management. It has attempted to give figurative representations, with enough additional scope available for more such representations. This book is for an in-depth study to be made by teachers, school administration and students. It is not at all for a cursory reading. An in-depth study of this book would have a

strong impact in the field of educational management. The author has done an excellent job of identifying, interpreting, substantiating and modeling various principles, concepts and practices of behaviour management.

Department of Business Administration Annamalai University Annamalai Nagar - 608 002 Tamil Nadu N. Panchanatham E-mail: <u>npanchanatham@yahoo.com</u>

David Alexander CLARK (2002) Visions of Development: A Study of Human Values Edward Elgar Publishing Inc., Cheltenham, UK, and Northampton, MA, USA, pp. 282 Price: £ 59.95 (Hardbound)

Of late, quite a few researchers have been using the concepts of human capital, human resources, human development, human capabilities, human resource development, and even human resource management without making much distinction between them, and in the process attaching no sanctity to any of these terms. In this context, one finds the serious philosophical discussion of the various abstract and non-abstract concepts of development, attempted by David Alexander Clark in *Visions of Development*, particularly valuable. Drawing heavily from the human development approach (*a la* Amartya Sen and Mahbub ul Haq) and more from the human capability approach, (pioneered by Amartya Sen and Martha Nussbaum), David Clark provides in the volume under review a very useful discussion on the concepts and perceptions of human development.

The book is borne out of the doctoral research project of the author at the University of Cambridge. Starting with a brief discussion on some of the familiar concepts of development, used in Economics, such as economic growth, technological change, capital accumulation, domestic demand, international demand, international trade, demographic transition, urbanisation, agricultural transformation, poverty, social development, etc., the author makes an attempt at outlining in a page and half in chapter 1, the 50 years of conceptualising the concept of development, from Arthur Lewis' *Theory of Economic Growth* to the current perception of development by the World Bank. The concepts covered here include economic, and social, political and human development, which the author regards as 'abstract concepts', but many of which are not necessarily abstract.

Discussion on Sen's concept of 'capability' is the core substance of Chapter 2. Drawing from a few examples in South Africa, the author highlights the distinction between commodities and their characteristics, on the one hand, and their functioning and utility, on the other. Chapter 3, entitled 'Towards a Theory of Good Life', is a further empirical elaboration of Sen's analytical framework. In the process he elaborates the Nussbaum's 'theory of good' and makes a long list of 'goods' or the ones that contribute to and/or constitute good life.

The author presents in great detail empirical perceptions of development of the people in a rural village, drawing from the filed work conducted in South Africa, which included personal interviews of 157 persons (Chapter 4). One cannot expect any startling results. According to the survey results, the top five activities of good life, as perceived by the respondents, include jobs, housing, education, income and family in the same order. Voluminous details are provided on the results of the survey in more than 75 pages of tables in the Annex. While the attempt to squeeze as much as possible from the survey can be commended, that no attempt has been made to present an aggregate or a summary view of the people's perception of good life or weJl-being, if not a composite index, remains starkingly clear.

For no explicit reason, the scope of discussion of many concepts in the book is quite restricted. In the context of discussion on concepts of development, claimed to have been attempted from an inter-disciplinary perspective, one might also expect a discussion on concepts such as basic needs and human rights. Further, there is, in fact, no serious discussion on 'human values,' as understood by many social scientists that include universal human values like truthfulness, peace, non-violence, righteousness, love, democracy, freedom, civil rights, ethics, etc. So one may wonder the appropriateness of the sub-title of the book. Moreover, the discussion on many concepts (e.g., 'abstract concepts of development' in Chapter 1) is too brief to give any idea of the concept to the beginner or any critique to an expert in the field. Even though nearly two-thirds of the book is full of the survey details and the results, the main contribution of the book lies in the descriptive-cum-analytical discussion on the concepts of capability and human development in Chapters 2 and of good life in Chapter 3, which should be of interest to graduate students in development studies.

On the whole, a refreshing attempt has been made by David Clark to provide a conceptual discussion on development along with empirical testing and it highlights the fact that much more needs to be done in this direction.

NIEPA New Delhi-110016 Jandhyala B G Tilak Email: <u>jtilak@vsnl.org</u> [or] <u>jtilak@niepa.org</u>

# JOURNAL OF RURAL DEVELOPMENT

A Quarterly Journal of NIRD

Vol. 22

Perspective

Notes

Administration in Nigeria

Institutional Credit in India

Jan - March, 03

No. 1

#### CONTENTS

Member Funds and Cooperative Performance

Role of Grassroots NGOs: A Social Activists'

of Sericulture Quality Clubs in Tamil Nadu

Poverty : Problem and the Desired Outcome

Regional Disparities in the Flow of

Basic Needs and Poverty Amelioration

Institutional Framework for Rural Development

Sericulture and Micro Finance: A Successful Case

Rajesh Agarwal, K.V. Raju K Prathap Reddy, R.Srinivasan and M.S. Sriram Biswambhar Panda and Binay Kumar Patnaik I.A. Madu

T. M Radha

Suchitra Mohanty & THaque

S. KRau Dasari Sreenivasulu

## Subscription Rates

India : Individuals : Annual: Rs 200 + 80 (Regd. Post Charges) Institutions : Annual: Rs 500 + 80 (Regd. Post Charges) Life Membership : Rs 3000/-Annual Institutional Membership : Rs 1000/-

Foreign : Annual for JRD : US \$ 50 / UKf40

Institutional : US \$ 250 (50% discount to developing countries ) Orders may be sent through Demand Draft drawn in favour of National Institute of Rural Development to the address given below

> Prof & Head (CTEC) National Institute of Rural Development Rajendranagar, Hyderabad - 500 030 Telefax: 040-24008469 Website: <u>http://www.nird.org</u>

# BOOKS RECEIVED

Abadzi, Helen: Improving Adult Literacy Outcomes: Lessons from Cognitive Research for Developing Countries, The World Bank, Washington, D.C., 2003, Pp. 111, Price: \$22.00 (paperback), ISBN: 0-82135493-0

Alan J. Marsh: *Funding Inclusive Education: The Economic Realities,* Ashgate Publishing Ltd, England, 2003, pp. 166, Price: £ 39.95 (hardbound), ISBN: 0-7546-089674.

Altbach, Philip G (ed.): *The Decline of the Guru: The Academic Profession in Developing and Middle-Income Countries*, Boston College Centre for International Higher Education, USA, 2002, pp. 435, Price: Not Mentioned

Arora, G.L.: Teachers and Their Teaching: Need for New Perspectives, Ravi Books, Delhi, 2002, pp. 161, Price: Rs. 325/-, ISBN 81-88276-01-4

Atchoarena, David & Paul Esquieu: Private Technical and Vocational Education in Sub-Saharan Africa, HEP, Paris, 2002, pp. 240, Price: Not Mentioned (paperback), ISBN: 927 803-1217-0

Atchoarena,, David & Andre Delluc: *Revisiting Technical And Vocational Education in Sub-Saharan Africa*, HEP, UNESCO, Paris, 2002, pp. 354, price: Not Mentioned (paperback), ISBN: 92-803-1224-3

Bartlett, Steve & Diana Burton (ed.): *Education Studies: Essential Issues,* Sage, Thousand Oaks, 2003, pp. 275, Price: £18.99 (paperback), ISBN: 0-7619-4050-2

Berryman, Sue E.: *Hidden Challenges to Education systems in Transition Economics*, The World Bank, Washington D.C., 2000, pp. 133, Price: \$ 22.00, ISBN 08213-6813-2 (paperback)

Bray, Mark (ed.): Comparative Education: Continuing Traditions, New Challenges, and New Paradigms, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2003, pp. iv+264, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 1-4020-1143-1 (paperback)

Brij Kothari, P.G. Vijaya Sherry and Chan, Michael Norton: *Reading Beyond the Alphabet-Innovations in Lifelong Literacy*, Sage, New Delhi, 2003, pp. 282, Price: Rs. 350 (paperback), ISBN: 0-76199708-3

Catherine A. Odora Hoppers: Structural Violence as a Constraint to African Policy Formation in the 1990s-Repositioning Education in International Relations, Institute of International Education, Stockholm University, 1998, pp. 208, Price: Not Mentioned (paperback), ISBN: 91-7153-806-2

Chapman, David and D. Adams: *The Quality of Education: Dimensions and Strategies, Education in Developing Asia,* Volume 5, Hong Kong, Asian Development Bank and Comparative Education Research Centre of the University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, 2002, pp. 72, ISBN 971-561-408-8 (paperback)

Clark, David Alexandar: *Visions of Development: A Case Study of Human Values*, Edward Elgar, Chettenham, UK and Northampton, MA USA, 2002, pp. 282, Price: £ 5995 (hardbound)

Cummings, W.K., T.M. Teresa and J. Hawkins (eds.): Values in Education for Dynamic Societies: Individualism or Collectivism, Comparative'Education Research Centre, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, 2001, pp. 312

David C. Schak & Wayne Hudson (eds): *Civil Society in Asia*, Ashgate Publishing Ltd. England, 2003, pp. 229, Price: £ 45.00, ISBN: 0-7546-2275-4

Dhankar, Rohit & Brigid Smith: Seeking Quality Education for All: Experiences from the District Primary Education Programme, The European Commission, Paris, 2002, (Occassional Paper), pp. 50, Price: Not Mentioned

Ferranti, David De (et.al): Closing the Gap in Education and Technology, The World Bank, Washington, D.C., 2003, pp. 216, price: \$25.00 (paperback), ISBN: 0-8213-5172-9

Fournier, Lou: *What's So Funny About Education*, Corwin, California, 2003, pp. x+151, Price: \$ 27.95. ISBN 0-7619-3934-2, (paperback)

Freebody, Peter: *Qualitative Research in Education: Interaction and Practice,* Sage, Thousand Oaks, 2003, pp. 234, Price: \$18.99, ISBN: 0-7619-6141-0

Gentile, J.R. & J.P. Lalley: Standards and Mastery Learning Aligning Teaching and Assessment so all Children can Learn, Carwin Press, California, 2003, pp. 192, Price: \$29.95 (paperback).

Gilles, Breton and Michel Lambart (eds.): Universities and Globalisation: Private Linkages, Public Trust, UNESCO Publishing, Paris, 2003, pp. 244, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 92-3-103 890-7 (paperback)

Govinda, R. (ed.): India Education Report, Oxford for NIEPA, New Delhi, pp. 362, Price: Rs. 300/-, ISBN 0-19-565 795-0 (Paperback)

Govinda, R. and Rashim Diwan: Community Participation and Empowerment in Primary Education, Sage, New Delhi, 2003, pp. 255, Price: Rs. 295, ISBN 0-7619-9674-5 (paperback)

Hammersley, Martyn: *Educational Research: Policy Making and Practice,* Paul Chapman, London 2002, pp. 180, Price: £ 15.99, ISBN 0777 6619 7420 2 (paperback)

Hepburn, Chaudia R.: Can the Market Save Our Schools? The Fraser Institute, Vancouver, 2001, pp. xv+193, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 0-88975-185-4 (paperback)

Hincheliffe, Archie: *Children with Cerebral Palsy*, Vistaar, New Delhi, 2003, pp. xii+2002, Price: Rs. 450, ISBN 81-7829-229-7 (paperback)

Hite, Steren J.: Reviewing Qualitative Research to Inform Educational Policy Processes, International Institute for Educational Planning, Paris, ISBN 92803-1210-3

Holsinger, D.B. and R.N. Cowell: *Positioning Secondary School Education in Developing Countries: Expansion and Curriculum*, UNESCO and International Institute for Educational Planning, Paris 2000, pp. 92, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 92-803-1202-2 (paperback)

Irwanto, P., A. Hendriati and Y.R. Hestyani: *Alternative Education for Disadvantaged Youth in Indonesia*, International Institute for Educational Planning, Paris, 2001, pp. 125, Price: Not Mentioned

Jha, Jyotsna and Dhir Jhingran: *Elementary Education for the Poorest and other Deprived Groups: The Real Challenge of Universalisation,* Centre for Policy Research, New Delhi 2002, pp. 255, Price: Not Mentioned (paperback)

Jose, A.V. (ed.): Organised Labour in the 21' Century, International Institute for Labour Studies, Geneva, 2002, pp. 406, Price: 30 Swiss Franks (paperback)

Joshi, R.P. and G.S. Narwani: *Panchayat Raj in India: Emerging Trends Across the States,* Rawat, New Delhi, 2002, pp. 290, Price: Rs. 525/-

Kagami, Mitsuhiro & Masatsugu Tsuji (ed): Industrial Agglomeration: Facts and Lessons for Developing Countries, Institute for Developing Economics, Japan, 2003, pp.415, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN: 4-258-56007-3 C 3333

Kamibeppu, Takao: *History of Japanese Policies in Education Aid to Developing Countries, 1950s-J990s,* Routledge, New York and London, 2002, pp. 138, Price: £ 50.00, ISBN 0-415-93404-4 (hardbound)

Karanth, Prathibha and Joe Rozasio (eds.): Learning Disabilities in India: Willing the Mind to Learn, Sage, New Delhi, 2003, pp. 183, Price: Rs. 250, ISBN 0-7619-9678-8 (paperback)

Lee, W.O.: *Equity and Access to Education: Themes, Tensions and Policies, Education in Developing Asia,* Volume 4, Asian Development Bank and Comparative Education Research Centre of the University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, 2002, pp. 100, ISBN 971-561-406-x (paperback)

Lesley, Anderson & Nigel Bennett: Developing Educational Leadership - Using Evidence for Policy and Practice, Sage, New Delhi, 2003, pp. 188, Price: £18.99 (paperback), ISBN: 0-7619-4938-0

Levine, Robert A: Childhood Socialization: Comparative Studies of Parenting, Learning and Educational Change, CERC, University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong 2003, pp. 299, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN: 962-8093-61-4

Little, Angela W.: Labouring to Learn: Towards a Political Economy of Plantations, People and Education in Sri Lanka, Macmillan, London, 1999, pp. 350, Price: £ 55, ISBN 0-333-67429-4 (hardbound)

Louise Porter: *Educating Young Children with Special Needs*, Sage, 2002, New Delhi, pp. 306, Price: 16.00 Pound (paperback), ISBN: 0 7619 4126 6

Maebeath, John and Archie McGlyn (ed.): Self-evaluation: What is in for Schools, Routledge, Falmar, London 2002, pp. x+150, Price: Rs. 1032.70

Majumdar, S. et al. (eds.); *Educational Adinistration in Maharashtra: Structure, Processes and Future Prospects,* Vikas for NIEPA, New Delhi, 2002, Price: Rs. 290, pp. xxiii+291, ISBN 81-259-1189-8 (hardbound)

Mario, Mouzinho; Peter Fry; Lisbeth Levey and Arlindo Chilundo: *Higher Education in Mozambique: A Case Study,* Partnership in Higher Education in Africa, New York, James Curray, Oxford and Imprensa @ Livaria Universitaria, Universidade Eduardo Mondlane, Maputo, 2003, pp. xiv+114, Price: £ 9.95, ISBN 0-85255-430-3 (paperback)

Mathew, A.: The Literacy Movement in West Godavari district (A.P.): A Report, Paschima Godavari Akshara samithi, Elura, 2002, pp. 110, Price: Not Mentioned (paperback)

Medel Anonuevo, Corolyn (ed.): Lifelong Learning Discourses in Europe, UNESCO Institute of Education, Hamburg, 2003, pp. xvi+216, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 92-820 1130-5 (paperback)

Medel-Anonuevo, Carolyn (ed): Integrating Lifelong Learning Perspectives, UNESCO, Hamburg, 2002, pp. 306, Price: Not Mentioned (paperback), ISBN: 92-820-1115-1

Melin, Mia: *Education-A Way out of Poverty*, SIDA, Sweden, 2002, pp. 125. Price: Not Mentioned, ISSN: 0283-0566

Mittar, et al.: Changing Standards of Education in Punjab: Some Issues and Policy Recommendations, Punjab University, Patiala, 2002, pp. x+74, Price: Rs. 150, ISBN 8177380-830-9, (paperback)

Mkude, Danial; Brian Cooksey and Lisbeth Levey: *Higher Education in Tanzania: A Case Study,* Partnership in Higher Education in Africa, New York, James Curray, Oxford and Mkuki na Nyota, Dar Es Salam, 2003, pp. xiv+114, price: £ 9.95, ISBN 0-8255-425 $\neg$  7(paperback)

Mukherjee, Aditi & Duggirala Vasanta, (ed.): *Practice and Research in Literacy*, Sage, New Delhi, 2002, pp. 263, Price: Rs. 280, (paperback), ISBN: 0-7619-9693-1

Musisi, N.B. and N.K. Muwanga: *Makerare University in Transition, 1993-2000: Opportunities and Challenges,* Partnership in Higher Education in Africa, New York, James Curray (Oxford), Fountain Publishers, Kampala, 2003, pp. xix+103, Price: £ 9.95, ISBN 0-85255-426-5 (paperback)

National Assessment and Accreditation Council:- *Total Quality Management for Tertiary Education*, NAAC, Bangalore, 2003, pp. 136, Price: Rs. 100 (paperback)

NCAER: North India: Human Development Report, 2003, Oxford University Press, New Delhi, 2003, pp. 347, Price: Rs. 495/-, ISBN: 019566194-x

NIEPA: Globalisation and Challenges of Education: Focus on Equity and Equality, Shipra for NIEPA, New Delhi, 2003, pp. xii+784, Price: Rs. 1250/-, ISBN 81-7541-147-3

Ouane, Adama (ed.): *Towards a Multi-Lingual Culture of Education*, Unesco Institute of Education, Hamburg, 2003, pp. iv+464+xxi, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 92 820 1131-3, (paperback)

Oxenham, John et al.: Skills and Literacy Training for Better Livelihoods, A Review of Approaches and Experiences, The Work Bank, Washington, D.C. 2002, pp. ix+119, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN Not mentioned (paperback)

Parsons, Beverly A.: Evaluative Inquiry: Using Evaluation to Promote Student Success, Corwin, California, 2002, pp. xvii+156, Price: \$ 29.95, ISBN 0-7619-7814-3, (paperback)

Piromruen, S. and S. Keoyote: *Education and Training Strategies for Disadvantaged Groups in Thailand: Strategies of Education and Training for Disadvantaged Groups,* International Institute for Educational Planning, Paris, 2001, pp. 105, Price: Not Mentioned.

Powar, K.B.: Indian Higher Education: A Conglomerate of Concepts, Facts and Practices, Concept, New Delhi, 2002, pp. xi+296, Price: Rs. 500/- (hardbound)

Ramchandran, Vimla (ed.): Getting Children back to School: Case Studies in Primary Education, Sage, New Delhi, 2003, pp. xvii+423, Price: Rs. 395, ISBN 0-7619-97-7-5 (paperback)

Ratnam, C.S.V.: Negotiated Change Collective Bargaining, Liberalization and Restructuring in India, Response Books, New Delhi, 2Q03, pp. xix+367, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 81-7829-270-x (India-PB) (paperback)

Roland S. Barth: Lessons Learned-Shaping Relationships and the Culture of the Workplace, Corwin Press, California, 2003, pp. 118, Price: \$24.95 (paperback), ISBN: 077619-3843-5

Sarangapani, Padma M: Constructing School Knowledge: An Ethnography of Learning in an Indian Village, Sage, New Delhi, 2003, pp. 308, Price: Rs. 350 (paperback), ISBN: 07619-9672-9

Schofield, Janet Ward and Ann Locke Devidson: Brining the Internet to School: Lessons from an Urban District, Jersey Boss, A willing Company, San Francisco, USA 2002, pp. xviii+393, Price: US \$ 27

Seamus, Hegarty and A. Mithu (eds.) *Education and Children with Special Needs: From Segregation to Inclusion*, Sage, New Delhi, 2002, pp. 220, Price; Rs. 230/-, ISBN 0761979585-4 (paperback)

Shigetomi, Shinchi (ed.): *The State and NGO's Perspective from Asia*, Singapore, Institute of South East Asian Studies, Singapore, 2002, pp. 337, Price: Not Mentioned, ISNB 981-230-151-8 (paperback)

Singh, Baldev: *Management of Entrance Tests*, Punjab University, Patiala, 2003, pp. iv+74, Price: Rs. 60, ISBN 81-7380-890-2, (paperback)

Singh, Madhu (ed.): Adult Education in Selected Countries in the Asian Region, UNESCO Institute for Education, Hamburg, 2002, pp. vi+121, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 92-820 1127-5 (paperback)

Smutny, Joan Franklin (ed.): *Designing and Developing Programs for Gifted Students,* Corwin, California, 2003, pp. xi+188, Price: £ 27.95, ISBN 0-7619-4613-6, (paperback)

Sood, Neelam: *Management of School Education in India*, APH Publishing for NIEPA, New Delhi, 2003, pp.217. Price: Rs. 495 (hardbound), ISBN: 81-7648-500-4

Stella, A. & A. Gnanam: Foundations of External Quality Assurance in Indian Higher Education, Concept, New Delhi, 2001, pp. 230 (hardbound), Price: Rs. 400, ISBN: 81–8069-048-2

Sujatha, K.: *Education of Indian Scheduled Tribes*, HEP, Paris, 2000, pp.196, Price: Not Mentioned (paperback)

The World Bank: Constructing Knowledge Societies: New Challenges for Tertiary Education, The World Bank, Washington DC, 2002, pp. 204, Price: \$25.00, ISBN: 07 8213-5143-5

Thomas, K. and V. Greaney: Using Assessment to Improve the Quality of Education, International Institute for Educational Planning, Paris, pp. 98, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 92-803-1215-4 (hardbound)

Varghese, N.V.: Impact of the Economic Crisis on Higher Education in East Asia: Country Experiences, International Institute for Educational Planning, Paris, 2001, PP. 215, ISBN 92-803-1213-8, (paperback)

World Bank: Adult Literacy Programme in Uganda, The World Bank, Washington D.C., 2001, pp. 122, ISBN 0-8213-4882-5

World Bank: Tertiary Education in Colombia: Paving the Way for Reforms, The World Bank, Washington D.C., 2003, pp. xii+205, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 0-8213-54663, (paperback)

Wu, Kin Bing: Peruvian Education at a Cross Roads: Challenges and Opportunities for the 21' Century, A World Bank Country Study, The Word Bank, Washington D.C. 2001, Pages: 281, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN 0-8213-4961-9, ISSN 0253-2123 (paperback)

Yamato, Yoko: *Education in the Market Place: Hong Kong's International Schools and their Mode of Operation*, CERC, University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, 2003, pp.116, Price: Not Mentioned, ISBN: 962809357-6

Ziderman, Adrian: *Financing Vocational Training in Sub-Saharan Africa*, The World Bank, Washington DC, 2003, pp, 187, Price: \$25.00, ISBN: 0-8213-5461-2, (paperback)

INDIAN JOURNAL OF AGRICU (Organ of (he Indian Society of Ag	LTURAL ECONOMICS ricultural Economics)
Vol. 58 JANUARY-MAR	CH 2003 <u>No. I</u>
CONTENTS	S
SUPPLEMENT TO THE CONFERENCE NUMBEI JULY-SEPTEMBER 2002	Page R:
Presidential Address:	
Indian Agriculture in the New Millennium: Hu Response to Technology Challenges	iman G.K. Chadha
Summaries of Group Discussion:	
Slow Growth Crops: Coarse Cereals, Oilseeds Pulses	and Prem S. Vashishtha
Contemporary Trends in the Seed Industry	V.R. Kiresur
Institutional Reforms for Agricultural Growth	Sucha Singh Gill
ARTICLES Agricultural Trade Liberalisation - Likely Implica for Rice Sector in India	tions CSC. Sekhar
Changing Cropping System in Theory and Practice Economic Insight into the AgTarian West Bengal	: An Utpal Kumar De
Are the Poor Willing to Pay for Livestock Serv Evidence from Rural India	ices? VinodAhuja, Kenneth E. Mc. Connell Dina Umali-Deininger and Cornells de Haan
Technical Efficiency of Rice, Groundnut and Co Farms in Tamil Nadu	otton K.R. Shanmugam
RESEARCH NOTES	
Groundwater Markets and the Issues of Equity Reliability to Water Access: A Case of Western Pradesh	and <i>DR. Singh</i> and Uttar <i>R.P. Singh</i>
Production Efficiency of Agro-Forestry Farms	s in T.R. Shanmugam and
Silviculture System	N. Venkatesa Palanichamy
Agricultural Credit Flow in Bihar: An Econ	nomic R.K.P. Singh and
Analysis Decision-Making in Rick widdon Tankfed Farm	5. Ivasır 1. Sekar and
Tamil Nadu - An Application of Advanced Breal	keven C. Ramasamy
BOOK REVIEWS • REVIEWS IN BRIEF • INDICATIVE OUTLINES OF SUBJECTS SELECTED	PUBLICATIONS RECEIVED * FOR DISCUSSION AT THE 63RD ANNUAL

INDICATIVE OUTLINES OF SUBJECTS SELECTED FOR DISCUSSION AT THE 63RD ANNUAL CONFERENCE OF THE INDIAN SOCIETY OF AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS\*

Annual Subscription Rales

Individual Membership Fee	:Rs. 300.00: USS 75.00.
Life Membership Fee	:Rs. 3.000.00: USS 750.00.
Institutional Subscription	:Rs 600.00; USS 125.00
Please address correspondence to the Hon. Secretary Fconomics. 46-18. Hsplaiudc Mansions. M G Road. Mumbai-40	& Treasurer. The Indian Society of Agricultural 0 001 (India).

Telephone : 022-22842542 Fax : 091-022-22838790 email : isacfrbom?Asnl.nct...

# Journal of Educational Planning and Administration

Editor JandhyalaB.G. Tilak

Contents of Volume XVII (2003)



National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration 17-B, Sri Aurobindo Marg New Delhi 110016 576 Contents of Volume XV//

# Contents of Volume XVII (2003)

# Vol. XVII No.l (January 2003)

	Page No
ARTICLES	
Measuring Education Inequality: Gini Co-efficients of Education for 140 Countries (1960-2000) Vinod Thomas, Yan Wang and Xibo Fan	5
Trends and Determinants of Rural Literacy Among Scheduled Caste Population: A State Level Analysis A Narayanamoorthy and B.N. Kamble	35
Vocational Education and Training in Asia Jandhyala B.G. Tilak	53
Out-of-School Children: Contexts and Experiences of Education Deprivation	69
A.R. Vasavi and Archana Mehendale	
PERSPECTIVE Policy: A Holistic Perspective H.S. Bhola	85
BOOK REVIEWS	
Equity and Access to Education: Themes, Tensions and Policies (W.O. Lee) Jacob Aikara	105
Labouring to Learn: Towards a Political Economy of Plantations, People and Education in Sri Lanka (Angela W. Little) <i>P. Radhakrishnan</i>	107
Organized Labour in the 21st Century (A.V. Jose) ErrolD'Souza	110

Values in Education for Dynamic Societies: Individualism of 113 Collectivism (William K. Cummings et al (ed.)) R.P. Singh The Literacy Movement in West Godavari District (A.P.) 115 (A. Mathew) M.C. Reddeppa Reddy Positioning Secondary School Education in Developing Countries 119 (Donald B. Holsinger and Richard N. Cowell) Sudhanshu Bhushan India Education Report (R. Govinda, ed.) 122 Vandana Sipahimalani-Rao Education and Training Strategies for Disadvantaged Groups in 126 Thailand (Piromruen Smarnjit and Keoyote Sen) [and] Alternative Education for Disadvantaged Youth in Indonesia (Pak Irwanto et al) Tapan R. Mohanty Impact of the Economic Crisis on Higher Education in East Asia: 130 Country Experiences (N.V. Varghese) V. V. Bhanoji Rao Agencies in Foreign Aid: Comparing China, Sweden and the United 131 States in Tanzania (Goran Hyden and Rwekaza Mukandala) Jandhyala B. G. Tilak Vol. XVII No. 2 (April 2003) ARTICLES Higher Education and Development in Asia 151 Jandhaya B.G. Tilak Socio-Economic Determinants of School Attendance in India 175 Usha Jayachandran

Contents of Volume XVII 577

Grants-in-Aid Policies and Practices Towards Secondary Education in 199 Kerala K.K. George, George Zachariah and N. Ajith Kumar 578 Contents of Volume XVII

Globalisation and the University: Myths and Realities in an Unequal World Philip G. Altbach	227
RESEARCH NOTES/COMMUNICATIONS	
Inter-Household and Gender Equity, Efficiency and the Measurement of Literacy S. Subramanian	249
Post-secondary Education Persistence: A Comparison between Urban and Rural Students <i>Wenfan Yan</i>	257
BOOK REVIEWS	
The Quality of Education: Dimensions and Strategies, Education in Developing Asia (David Chapman and Don Adams) Jacob Aikara	269
Indian Higher Education: A Conglomerate of Concepts, Facts and Practices (K.B. Powar) PC. Bansal	271
The State and NGOs: Perspective from Asia, Singapore (Shinichi Shigetomi) Ratna M. Sudarshan	275
Education and Children with Special Needs: From Segregation to Inclusion (Hegarty Seamus and Mithu Alur, eds.) <i>M. Rama Devi</i>	277
Using Assessment to Improve the Quality of -r/lucation (Thomas Kellaghan and Nincent Greaney) Ch. Vijayalakshmi	280
Reviewing Quantitative Research to Inform Educational Policy Processes (Steven J. Hite) Avinash Kumar Singh	282
Can the Market Save Our Schools? (Chaudia R. Hepburn) D. Narsimha Reddy	285

Contents of Volume XVII 579

Understanding Learning - Learning and Outcomes (Janet Collins and 288 Deirdre Cook, ed.) R.P. Singh Peruvian Education at a Crossroads: Challenges and Opportunities for 290 the 21st Century (Kin Bing Wu) Jayendu Krishna History of Japanese Policies in Education Aid to Developing Countries, 292 1950s-1990s (Takao Kamibeppu) Jandhyala B.G. Tilak Vol. XVII No. 3 (July 2003) ARTICLES Financing of Secondary Education in Gujarat 299 K.R. Shah and Sarita Agrawal An Empirical Analysis of Grants-in-Aid Rules, Financing Pattern and 331 Cost Structure in Secondary Schools in Delhi Furqan Qamar Private Education in West Africa: The Technological Imperative 369 Ayesha Yaqub Vawda and Harry Anthony Patrions **RESEARCH NOTES/COMMUNICATIONS** 391 Administration of Education - Need for a New Paradigm S. Kumar Vocational Education in the Context of the Present Labour Market 397 Demands - Issues and Challenges: A Perspective B.S. Prakash **BOOK REVIEWS** 

Elementary Education for the Poorest and other Deprived Groups: The 413 Real Challenge of Universalisation (Jyotsna Jha and Jhingran Dhir) Archana Mehendale 580 Contents of Volume XV11

Bringing the Internet to School: Lessons from an Urban District (Janet Ward Schofield and Ann Locke Davidson) PC. Bonsai	415
Collaborative Leadership: Developing Effective Partnerships in Communities and Schools (Hank Rubin) Rashmi Diwan	418
Kerala's GulfConnection (K.C. Zachariah) Ranjana Agarwal	421
Secondary Education - The Challenges Ahead (Marmar Mukhopadhyay) Kala Seetharam Sridhar	423
Self-Evaluation - What is in for Schools (John Macbeath and Mcglyn Archie) <i>R.S. Tyagi</i>	428
Educational Research - Policymaking and Practice (Martyn Hammersley) Suman Karandikar	431
Teachers and Their Teaching - Need for New Perspectives (G.L. Arora) B.K. Panda	433
Universities and Globalisation: Private Linkages, Public Trust (G. Breton and M. Lambert, eds.) Jandhyala B.G. Tilak	436

# Vol. XVII No.4 (October 2003)

## ARTICLES

Public Expenditure and Grants-in-Aid for Secondary Education in	449
Tamil Nadu	
P. Duraisamy and Malathy Duraisamy	
Decentralisation Reforms and Public Schools: A Human Development	481

Perspective Manabi Majumdar

Contents of Volume XV// 581

Universalisation of Secondary Education: Can it be achieved in the Near Future? Arun C. Mehta	507
Reflections on the Multiplicity of Functional Goals for Chinese Universities and the Challenges for University Management	529
David Y. Chen	
BOOK REVIEWS	
Adult Literacy Programmes in Uganda (The World Bank) B.K. Panda	541
Hidden Challenges to Education Systems in Transition Economies (Sue E. Berryman) Indu Khetrapal	543
Constructing School Knowledge: An Ethnography of Learning in an Indian Village (Padma M. Sarangapani) Ratheesh Kumar	546
Childhood Socialisation: Comparative Studies of Parenting, Learning and Education Change (Robert A. LeVine) <i>R.P Singh</i>	549
Teaching Learning: The Culture of Pedagogy (Prema Clarke) Suman Karandikar	551
Panchayat Raj in India: Emerging Trends Across the States (R.P. Joshi and G.S. Narwani) S.M.I.A. Zaidi	553
Seeking Quality Education for All - Experiences from District Primary Education Programmes (Rohit Dhankar and Brigid Smith) Mohd. Muzammil	557
Education Studies: Essential Issues (Steve Bartlert and Diana Burton, eds.) N. Jayaram	559
A Whole-school Approach - Behaviour Management (Bill Rogres) N. Panchanatham	562

582 Contents of Volume.XVI1

Visions of Development: A Study of Human Values (David Alexander 564 Clark) Jandhyala B.G. Tilak



## Acknowledgement

The Editor acknowledges with gratitude the help and assistance received from the following who served as referees and reviewed papers submitted for our Journal during 2001 and 2003.

Imtiaz Ahmed Jacob Aikara M. Anandakrishnan J.L. Azad G. Balatchandirane Shashanka Bhide K.S. Chalam Karuna Chanana Ashoka Chandra P.K. Chaubey A.K. Dasgupta Ruddar Datt T.N. Dhar Jean Dreze P. Duraisamy Sucha Singh Gill S.Giriappa M.P. Gupta. Jaya Indiresan S.P. Jain N.K. Jangira N. Jayaram Mahesh P. Kapoor Malavika Karlekar Binod Khadria P.M. Kulkarni Amitabh Kundu E.T. Mathew

Kuldeep Mathur Walter W. McMahon R.K. Mishra S.P. Mukherjee A.M.NallaGounden Geetha B. Nambissan D.Narsimha Reddy S. Neelamegham Ila Patel K.B. Powar V.S. Prasad M.K. Premi A.R. Rajeshwari Saraswati Raju A. S. Seetharamu Maya Shah K.R. Shah J.V.M. Sharma A.K. Shiva Kumar R.P.Singh Sushila Singhal A.B.L. Srivastava Ravi Srivastava Ratna M. Sudarshan Hemlata Talesara A. Vaidyanathan Padma Velaskar

New Journal from Serials

ISSN : 0972-7302

## International Journal of Applied Business and Economic Research

No.l

EDITOR

Volume 1

Mokhtar M Metwally University of Wollongong

:

June 2003

# Editorial Board Sadrudin Ahmad University of Ottawa B.Mak Arvin Trent University H. Y.Aly Ohio State University Thomas Bradtke University of Hamburg R.C. Clutc University of Colorado A.F. Darrat Louisiana Tech University M.A.Ezzamel Cardiff University A.M.S. Fatemi American University of Paris K.W. Claister University of Leeds R.Crabowski Southern Illinois University Tom Gutteridge University of Connecticut Robert Hamilton University of Canterbury, N/. K.Hassan University of New Orleans Robert Jones Dubai University College W.Mikhail American University in Cairo I.A. Moosa La Trobe University M.O.Odedokun, UNU/WIDER, Finland M.Bahmani-Oskooee University of Wisconsin Attiat F Ott University of Clark S. Paul University of Western Sydney

Productivity Growth and the Service Sector in New Zealand: A Multi-Sector Growth Model Approach *C. Gan, R.Tay and J. Stockham* 

CONTENTS

The Causes of Unemployment in Iran: An Empirical Investigation

Abbas Valadkhani

Earning Frontiers and Labor Market Efficiency: Evidence From India S. Madheswaran and K.R.Shanmugam

Money and Credit in the Monetary Transmission Mechanism Oman: Evidence from Cointegration and Vector and Autoregressive Models

MM. Islam and A. Al-Raisi

Exchange Rates and Stock Prices: Further Evidence from Asset Pricing and an Error Correction Model N. Apergis and 5. Eleftheriou

The Determinants of Tax Efforts in Arab Countries M. Nagy Eltony

The International Journal of Applied Business and Economic Research (JABER) is a refereed scientific periodical published twice a year by Serials Publications, Delhi, India, featuring the latest research findings in business and economics. It provides a forum to both academics and decision makers to advance theory and application in the fields of business and economics, JABER publishes original research in accounting, economics, finance, management and quantitative methods, which has an international orientation.

University of Clark S. Paul University of Western Sydney J.R. Prosley Lyghoorough University mail: mokhmetwally@hotmail.com

#### ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION RATES

Institutional Rs. 1000 (India) US\$ 150 (Overseas)

SERIALS PUBLICATIONS



Head Office : 4, B.S.S. Hall, Khyber Pass Market, Civil Lines, Delhi-110 054 (India) Phone No. 91-11-23245225 Fax No.: 91-11-23272135 E-mail: <u>serials@satyam.net.in</u> Branch Office : 4830/24 Ansari Road, Darya Ganj, New Delhi-HQ 002 (India),

# Political Economy Journal of India

January-June 2003

<u>Vol. 12</u>			
Subscription	Inland-Annual	: Rs. 80.00 (individual subscriber)	
		: Rs. 120.00 (institutional subscriber)	
	Abroad-Annual	: US\$ 20(surface mail) US\$ 25 (by air mail)	
CONTENTS			
The Editor's Column			
Articles	Reflections on Social and Antisocial Capital		1
	Paul Streeten		
	Indian Fiscal Federalism : Issues Thrown Up by Liberalisation. Pravakar Sahoo		15
	Violation of Human Rights of Displaced Tribals in Irrigation Projects in Tribal Sub-plan Region of Raiasthan.		19
	Farida Shah and Pankaj	Sharma	
	Prohibition in the Contemp	orary Society - A Case Study of Prohibition	26
	in Haryana		
	Ramesh Chander		
	Marketing System of Himachal Apples - An Empirical Approach 3 Jai Singh Parmar		35
	Rural Development Progra Promote Social Equity and	mmes in India : A Conceptual Frame to Social Justice for Rural Poor	42
	P.C. Sikligar		
	Farmer Education, Knowle S.S.P. Sharma	edge and Agricultural Productivity	53
	Implementation of the Swa in Chandigarh (U.T.): Som RamaniitKaurJohal	rana Jayanti Shahari Rozgar Yojna (SJSRY) e Issues	59
	Self Help Group - A Friend	of Poor	66
	Anju Gupta, Pramel Gupt	a R.P.S. Yadav and P.S. Marwaha	
	Prof. P.R. Brahmananda -	A Tribute	71
	Raj Kumar Sen		
Notes	China's Future Reform Ag	enda Must Address Social Concerns	74
	UN and Water		77

Centre for Indian Development Studies House No. 206, Sector 9-C Chandigarh - 160017 (India) Phones: 91-172 - 741362, 741835, 741289 email: <u>vsmahajancids@hotmail.com</u>

## MARGIN

Margin is NCAER \s quarterly journal that focuses on broad areas of applied economics with an emphasis on policy analysis and application of modern quantitative techniques to developmental issues Editor: Anil Kumar Sharma

CONTENTS

Vol. 34 No. 2&3

Jan.-June 2002

## Review of the Economy

Highlights Overview Agriculture Industry External Sector Money and Capital Market Prices Public Finance Macroeconomic Outlook

## Papers

Towards Holistic Management of Water Resources—The Case of India Ishan Kaul Effect of Education on Occupational Choices, Earnings, Saving Behaviour and Investment Preferences Dr Furqan Oamar and Dr Ilyas Husain Structural Change and Productivity Trends in the Organised Manufacturing Sector: A Rural-Urban Comparison for the Period 1981-98 B.S. Prakash

## **Book Review**

Coming to Grips with Rural Child Work: A Food Security Approach	
Samir K. Mondal	
Annual Subscription	
Rs. 500.00/USS 100 (including postage)	
$\mathcal{M}$	
NCAER	
National Council Of Applied Economic Research	
Parisila Bhawan, 11-Indraprastha Estate, New Delhi - 110 002	
Telephone: (91 - 11) 2337 9861 - 63 Fax: (91 - 11) 2337 0164	
E-mail: publ@ncaer.org Website: www.ncaer.org	

ISSN : 0972-3692

June 2003

# INDIAN JOURNAL OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT An International Journal

Chief Editor

: Vijaya Kumar S. Council for Social Development Hyderabad (India) e-mail: drskuman@yahoo.com

## Volume 3

## Nol CONTENTS

Editorial

ARTICLES

Altitudes of Unemployed GCC Citizens towards Employment in the Private Sector: A Case Study

— MM. Metwally

Escaping the Low Income-Low Social Protection Trap in Developing Countries: What are the Options'.'

— Scott Fritien

Is India's Poverty Falling? The Debate Surrounding The 55th NSS Round — ShalentIra D. Sharma

Natural Resources Depletion in Protected Areas: Socioeconomic Linkages

V. Anitha, P.K. Muraleetlharan & AS. Binilkumar

Increasing Productivity Erom Irrigated Agriculture: Needful Measures (Some Eindings Irom hvuanria Command in Orissa) — Mamata Swain

Gender, Development and Women's Health in India

Koumari Mitra

Eemale Infanticide in Rajasthan: History in 1'ractice Adesh Chaturvedi

Evaluation of Voluntary Retirement Scheme (VRS).in a Public Sector Undertaking: The Case of DUEL in Bhopa

Anoop Kanna & S.K. Khatik

Convergence Approach for the Promotion of Reproductive and Child Health: Learning from Lodha Block Experiences . — Noor Mohammad, Md. Kalimullah Mnhd. Tahir & Mohd Shahid

ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION RATES

Institutional : Rs. 675.00 or US\$125.00 Individual : Rs. 395.00 or US \$ 75.00

## SERIALS PUBLICATIONS



Head Office : 4, B.S.S. Hall, Khyber Pass Market, Civil Lines, Delhi-110 054 (India) Phone No. 91-11-23811659 Fax No.: 91-11-23812678 E-mail: serials@satyam.net.in Branch Office : 4830/24 Ansari Road, Darya Ganj, New Delhi-110 002 (India), Phone: 91-11-23245225

Asian-African	Journal o	ISSN : 0972-3986
and	Economet	rics
Chief Editor :	Prof. K. Sham Bha Head, Department o Pondicherry Univers Pondicherry-14 (Indi e-mail: <u>shambhati</u>	at f Economics sity a) <u>15@rediffmail.com</u>
Volume 3	No. 1	June 2003
	CONTENTS	
ARTICLES		
Convergence and Common Fea Economic Cornmunity of V * N	tures in International Ou Vest African States, 197 Nandu Mamingi & Sund	utput: A Case Study of the 5-1997 lay Osaretin Iyare
Banks Rents and Uncertainty: . ft Yas	A Legacy of the Subject sushi Suzuki	tivists
Market Response to Corporate ft And P	Loan Announcements i Irea Lee, Christopher Patricia A. McGraw & C	n New Zealand Gail hris Frampton
The Impact of Agrarian Transit Pondicherry Region ft V.	ion on Female Employm Nirmala & K. Sham E	ent and Income Distribution in Bhat
Economic Theories of the Fami ft Cler	ily and the Status of Fen m Tisdell, Kartik Roy	nales in India & Ananda Ghosc
ANNUA	AL SUBSCRIPTION	RATES
Institutional USS 155		Individual USS <b>75</b>

Rs. 925

Rs. 625

# SERIALS PUBLICATIONS



Head Office : 4, B.S.S. Hall, Khyber Pass Market, Civil Lines, Delhi-110 054 (India) Phone No. 91-11-23811659 Fax No.: 91-11-23812678 E-mail: <u>serials@satyam.net.in</u> Branch Office : 4830/24 Ansari Road, Darya Ganj, New Delhi-110 002 (India), Phone: 91-11-23245225
Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4, October 2003

******	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	* * * * *
INDIA	N DEVELOPMENT REVIE	$\mathbf{W}$
A <b>n</b> I <b>nt</b>	ernational journal of development economics	
	Chief Editor: V.B. Jugale Professor & Head. Department of Economics	
	Shivaji University, Kolhapur 416004 Maharastra (India)	
Volume 1	No. 1 June	2003
	CONTENTS	
rticles		
Effect of Financ	ial Constraints on Inventory Investment	
	T.V.S. Ramamohan Rao, Anit	a Singh
71 - L - P		~
Globalisation ar	d Balance of Payments Experience of India G. Rama	krishna
The Microecono	ometrics of Selective Samples and Discrete Choice	
	T. Lakshma	nasamy
Energy Consum	untion and Economic Growth in India: A Note	
Shergy Consum	Shyamal Paul. Rabindra Nath Bhatt	acharva
Globalisation ar	nd its Relevance for North-East India: A Policy Perspectiv	ve A serveral
	A.K	Agarwai
Analysis of Env	vironmental Kuzenets Curve Using Regional Time Series	Data
	Epaminondas Panas, Vassili	ia Ninni
Impact of Econ	omic Reforms on Agricultural Terms of Trade in India	
An Econor	metric Analysis Using Modified Kinked Exponential Mod	lel
	K. Dhana	sekaran
	Annual Subscription Rates	_
	nishtational 1(3,1000.00 01 03 \$ 123.00	
	SERIALS PUBLICATIONS	
Publisher	Head Office : 4. B.S.S. Hall, Khyber Pass Market, Civil I Delhi-110 054 (India)	Lines,
	Phone No. 91-11-23811659 Fax No.: 91-11-23812678	
	Branch Office : 4830/24 Ansari Road. Darva Gani.	
	New Delhi-110 002 (India). Phone: 91-11-23245225	

Journal of Educational Planning and Administration Volume XVII No. 4, October 2003

G R A S S R (Bi-annual Journ	OOTS GO	VERNANCE			
Volume I	Number 1	June 2003			
Chairman	Chief Editor	Editor			
Dr. Subhash C. Kashyap	Dr.G. Palanithurai	Dr. D. Sundar Ram			
CONTENTS					
Articles		Page			
Subhash C. Kashyap, Institutionalisation of Grassroots Governance					
MAslam, Democracy & Civic Education-A South Asian Perspective					
G. Palanithurai, Role of Caste Groups in New Panchayati Raj System: A Case Analysis of Tamil Nadu					
Jayaprakash Narayan, Rejuvenating Republic Through Local Governments					
S.P. Jain, Participation, Decentralised Planning and Panchayati Raj in India - A Review					
M Gopinath Reddy & Madhuusudana Bandhii, The Status of PRI's in Andhra Pradesh and Karnataka : A Comparison					
Notes and Comments					
George Mathew, Panchayats - One Step Forward Rajesh Tandon, Governance of Democracy					
Document					
The National Declaration for Local Self-Governance					
Book Reviews V.R. Krishna Iyer, The Ivory Tower 51 Years of the Supreme Court of India (V.K.S. Chowdhary)					
Bidyut Chakrabarty, India at the Polls : Parliamentary 118 Elections in the Federal Phase (M.P. Singh and Rekha Saxena).					
N.S. Gehlot, Public Interest	Litigation (Sampat Jai	in) 121			
Annual Subscription Rates					
Individual	ls In	stitutions			
Annual : Rs.280/U	S S 50 R	s. 380/US \$90			
Life Rs.2500 / 1	US \$ 750 Rs	s. 5000 / US S 950			
Advertisement Tariff					
<i>Full Page:</i> <b>Rs. 5000/US S 200</b> <i>Half Page :</i> <b>Rs. 2500 / US \$ 100</b>					
Published by					
Academy of Grassroots Studies and Research, India 5-63-7, Sri Krishna Nagar, M.R. Palli, Tirupati-517 502, A.P. Phone : +91-877-2244777, 2252015, Fax : +91-877-2244777					

Email:indiagrassroot<sup>^</sup>rediffrnailxom><rajivruralindia@hotmail.com

## Subscription Form for the Journal of Educational Planning and Administration

Please enroll me for the subscription of the JOURNAL OF EDUCATIONAL PLANNING AND ADMINISTRATION

Name and Address

PIN

Subscription for the year\_\_\_\_\_. Annual Subscription commences with January and ends with October every year.

[Please tick mark K) the appropriate one]

- Rs. 150/- Subscription for individuals in India
- Rs. 350/- Subscription for Institutions in India
- US\$60 Subscription for individuals (By Air Mail) outside India
- US\$85 Subscription for Institutions (By Air Mail) outside India

NIEPA offers 20% discount on'subscription for three years and above. Please make the payment by Bank Draft in favour of **National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration** payable at **New Delhi**.

Details of the Enclosed Bank Draft:

Bank Draft No......Dated.....Drawn on.....

Date

Please mail this subscription order form along with the Bank Draft to:

The Deputy Publication Officer National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration 17-B, Sri Aurobindo Marg, New Delhi-110016 (INDIA) Tel: 91-1 1-26861635, 26962120 Fax: 91-11-26853041 E-mail: <u>publications@niepa.org</u>



## Journal of Educational Planning and Administration

Regarding subscriptions, advertisement, circulation, missing issues, etc., please contact Deputy Publication Officer National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration

National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration 17 B Sri Aurobindo Marg, New Delhi 110016 Tel: 26861635(D) or 26962120 Extn. 316 and 330 E-mail: <u>publications@niepa.org</u>

Regarding exchange of the journal and missing issues, please contact Librarian National Institute of Educational Planning and Administration 17 B Sri Aurobindo Marg, New Delhi 110016 Tel: 2686 2507 or 26962120 Extn.111 E-mail: <u>deepakmakol@niepa.org</u> [or] <u>niepalib@vsnl.com</u>

Only editorial matters be addressed to the Editor, JEPA Tel: 26861320 or 26962120 E-mail: jepa@niepa.org

For more details please log on to our website <u>WWW.niepa.org</u> Also see <u>http://niepalib.freeyellow.com</u>

i

t t i